
COMMISSION MEETING 
MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

111 LIBERTY STREET, SUITE 100 
COLUMBUS, OH 43215 

TOWN HALL 

Thursday, October 14, 2021 
1:30 p.m. 

Remote Option 
To join by video and see any screen sharing, click on “Join Microsoft Teams Meeting” below. You do 
not need to have Microsoft Teams for the link to work.  

Join Microsoft Teams Meeting 

To participate by phone, use the conference call information below. 

+1 614-362-3056 United States, Columbus
(888) 596-2819 United States (Toll-free)
Phone Conference ID: 499 720 160#

AGENDA 

1:30 p.m. 1. Pledge of Allegiance

2. Welcome and Introductions – Karen Angelou (City of Gahanna),
MORPC Chair

• Recognition of Guests and New Members – Eileen Leuby, MORPC
Membership Services Officer

3. One MORPC One Voice: Video Message from Ohio Hispanic Coalition –
Josué Vicente, Ohio Hispanic Coalition Executive Director

4. Executive Director’s Report – William Murdock, MORPC Executive
Director

5. Passenger Rail Update – Thea Ewing, MORPC Transportation &
Infrastructure Development Director

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MDg4MDg1NDctY2MyMy00OWFkLWJiNzgtNmZjMWUyM2EwYzQ1%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22d225c0aa-f4a0-4925-bc81-eaff87943970%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%2290194b29-9096-438a-9d8e-b061540a6761%22%7d
tel:+16143623056,,499720160# 
tel:8885962819,,499720160# 


Commission Meeting Agenda 
October 14, 2021 
Page 2 

2:00 p.m. Committees 

2:20 p.m. 

6. Transportation Policy Committee (MPO) – Karen Angelou (City of 
Gahanna), MORPC Chair

a. Call to Order – Karen Angelou (City of Gahanna), MORPC Chair

b. Metropolitan Planning Organization Report

• Transportation & Infrastructure Development – Thea Ewing, 
Director

c. Transportation Policy Committee Consent Agenda

1) Approval of September 9, 2021 Transportation Policy 
Committee Meeting Minutes

d. Adjourn Transportation Policy Committee (MPO) – Karen Angelou 
(City of Gahanna), MORPC Chair

7. Regional Policy Roundtable – Ben Collins (Plain Township), Regional 
Policy Roundtable Chair

a. Legislative Update – Steve Tugend, Kegler Brown Hill + Ritter and 
Joe Garrity, MORPC Director of Government Affairs & Community 
Engagement

8. Sustainability Advisory Committee – Jim Schimmer (Franklin County), 
Sustainability Advisory Committee Chair

9. Commission Consent Agenda

a. Approval of September 9, 2021 Commission Meeting Minutes
b. Proposed Resolution 10-21: “Adoption of MORPC’s 2021 Title VI 

Program”
c. Proposed Resolution 11-21: “Adoption of the 2021 Columbus 

Region Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy and 
authorizing the executive director to file applications with, 
execute agreements with, and receive funds from the U.S. 
Economic Development Administration”

d. Proposed Resolution 12-21: “Authorizing the executive director 
to enter into an agreement for consulting services to develop a 
regional trail town framework”

e. Proposed Resolution 13-21: “To authorize the executive director 
to enter into agreements with Franklin County Public Health for 
up to $2,000,000 to perform lead test and remediation measures 
to be leveraged with MORPC’s Franklin County Home Repair 
program”

f. Approval of Actions of the Transportation Policy Committee 



Commission Meeting Agenda 
October 14, 2021 
Page 3 

10. Other Business

3:00 p.m. 11. Adjourn – Karen Angelou (City of Gahanna), MORPC Chair

PLEASE NOTIFY SHARI SAUNDERS AT 614-233-4169 OR ssaunders@morpc.org  
IF YOU REQUIRE SPECIAL ASSISTANCE. 

The next Commission Meeting is 
Wednesday, November 10, 2021, 1:30 p.m. 

111 Liberty Street, Suite 100 
Columbus, Ohio 43215 

PARKING AND TRANSIT: When parking in MORPC's parking lot, please be sure to park in a 
MORPC visitor space or in a space marked with a yellow “M”. Handicapped parking is available at 
the side of MORPC’s building. On Commission meeting days only, additional parking is available in 
numbered spaces toward the west end of the parking lot. Electric vehicle charging stations are 
available for MORPC guests.  

Indoor bike parking is available for MORPC guests. 

MORPC is accessible by COTA BUS. The closest bus stop to MORPC is S. Front Street & W. 
Blenkner St. Buses that accommodate this stop are the Number 61 - Grove City, the Number 5 - 
West 5th Ave. /Refugee, and the Number 8 - Karl/S. High/Parsons.  

mailto:ssaunders@morpc.org


1 

 

 

 
MORPC Monthly Agency Report 

September 2021 

 

Department Directors 

Kerstin Carr kcarr@morpc.org 
Thea Ewing twalsh@morpc.org 
Joe Garrity jgarrity@morpc.org 

Shawn Hufstedler shufstedler@morpc.org 
Níel Jurist njurist@morpc.org 
Robert Williams rwilliams@morpc.org 

 
Summit on Sustainability 
Save the Date for MORPC’s annual Summit on Sustainability on October 15, 2021. The Summit on 
Sustainability will be held in person at the Hilton Columbus Downtown. Learn more and register today by 
visiting www.morpc.org/summit.  
 
Complete Streets 
The public comment period for the Complete Streets Policy update opened September 1 and will remain 
open through October 22. Revisions will be made to the policy based on feedback received. The policy will 
be presented to CAC, TAC, and the Transportation Policy Committee at November meetings for adoption. 
 
Regional Advocacy: Amtrak Opportunity 
MORPC and the Columbus Partnership hosted an executive meeting focused on connecting Columbus via 
new passenger rail to Chicago, Pittsburgh, and major Ohio regions. Stakeholders heard insightful advice on 
the emerging opportunity for new passenger rail connections from former Secretary of Transportation Ray 
LaHood, former Federal Rail Administrator Joe Szabo, former Chicago & Washington D.C. Transportation 
Director Gabe Klein and former White House Intergovernmental Affairs Director Marcia Hale. MORPC will 
continue to monitor the opportunity for Amtrak funding through the Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill and maintain 
assertive state advocacy among legislators and leaders in the Columbus region. 
 
LinkUS 
MORPC hosted a LinkUS Multijurisdictional Workshop on September 15, introducing the region to the draft 
priority network elements that include bikeways, greenways, sidewalks, roadways, and transit initiatives. 
Meetings will occur quarterly to assist in the development of the network strategy and funding initiative. 
 
MORPC and ODOT started to meet with the corridor consultants and COTA to discuss the traffic analysis 
that will need to occur as part of the FTA CIG program.   
 
MORPC Annual Salary & Fringe Benefit Survey 
The final survey was issued October 1 and is available on MORPC’s website. A record number of 41 
members participated in the survey this year. 
 
Federal Competitive Programs 
The federal Economic Development Administration (EDA) announced $3 billion of mostly competitive grant 
funding opportunities to enable continued economic recovery. There are multiple regional applications being 
considered. MORPC is providing capacity, technical assistance, and planning services to foster highly 
competitive applications. 
 
Competitive Advantage Projects (CAP) 
CAP continues to be a critical resource for state and federal elected officials as they craft infrastructure 
funding legislation. Multiple projects on the CAP list have been included on federal member directed 
spending requests and state capital spending requests. 
 
Population Estimates 
Team Members are finalizing a data release schedule for 2020 Census-based MORPC member population 
estimates and is evaluating 2020 Census redistricting data to understand regional growth trends as well as 

mailto:kcarr@morpc.org
mailto:twalsh@morpc.org
mailto:jgarrity@morpc.org
mailto:shufstedler@morpc.org
mailto:njurist@morpc.org
mailto:rwilliams@morpc.org
http://www.morpc.org/summit
https://www.morpc.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/2021-MORPC-Members-Salary-Survey-for-Distribution-10-5-2021.pdf


2 

 

impacts on MORPC population work more broadly. Building permits from 50+ local permitting agencies have 
been collected and are being analyzed. The building permit data used to calculate population estimates will 
also be used to create a population dashboard. 
 
U.S. Census 
Team Members provided Census updates or presentations at all recent User Group and committee/board 
meetings. On August 27, Data Manager Liz Whelan-Jackson moderated a panel discussion on data privacy 
in Central Ohio and interviewed with Columbus Underground regarding the 2020 Census and growth in 
Central Ohio. 
 
Transportation Safety 
The second annual Central Ohio Transportation Safety Forum was held September 21. More than 80 people 
from agencies around the region (and the state) joined us to hear about regional safety trends and learn from 
experts in the field. The entire event was recorded and will be shared with members once it is available. 
 
Team Members attended the September 16 Traffic Records Coordinating Committee (TRCC) meeting. 
There have been 946 traffic fatalities in Ohio so far this year, which is significantly higher than where we 
typically are YTD. A new smartphone app was released to assist law enforcement with filling in crash reports 
in an effort to improve the accuracy and completion of those reports. 
 
Team Members participated in the September 2 Franklin County Traffic Fatality Review meeting. Aggressive 
driving, speeding, and impaired driving continue to be issues. 
 
Metropolitan Transportation Plan (MTP)  
An MTP amendment was adopted during the September committee meetings.  The amendment identified 
Bus Rapid Transit as the mode for three transit projects, added one new Bus Rapid Transit project, refined 
cost estimates for said Bus Rapid Transit projects, and adjusted the time frame of one project. All changes 
are reflective of and consistent with recently completed LinkUS Mobility Initiative corridor studies.  Amending 
the MTP to be consistent with the results of the LinkUS studies shows regional support for these projects and 
enables COTA to move forward in engaging with FTA in a federal grants process.  
 
Team Members continue their review of existing land use at the parcel level for the 2024 MTP. Work on this 
project includes updating the list of local Comprehensive Plans to use in the updated MTP land use model. 
Team Members are working on building permit collection, input, and analysis for the 2024 MTP. 
 
MORPC-Attributable Funding 
The Attributable Funds Committee (AFC) met the beginning of September to brainstorm potential revisions to 
the Policies for Managing MORPC-attributable Funds. The AFC decided to form a working group to further 
analyze the policies. MORPC Staff prepared potential revisions and discussion points that the working group 
discussed on September 22. Staff continues to work on potential revisions to the policies and coordinate with 
the AFC throughout this process. 
 
Diversity & Inclusion 
Completed filming for the Social Justice Grant Series video in partnership with the AEP Foundation and 
YWCA Columbus. The purpose is to highlight grantees’ work. The YWCA interviewed staff and 
“beneficiaries” of their DE&I training series. AEP’s transformational gift to YWCA will support an expansion of 
racial justice work and initiatives over the next four years.  

 
In accordance with federal requirements, MORPC’s 2021 Title VI Program is in the process of being 
updated. An outline was presented to CAC and TAC for consideration. The Title VI Program will be 
presented to the Executive Committee and Commission in October. 
  
Team Members presented an update on MORPC’s diversity, inclusion, and equity efforts to peer 
organizations across the nation at the National Association of Regional Councils (NARC) Director’s 
Conference. 
 
State Advocacy 
Team Members are promoting the Public Policy Agenda and advocating on behalf of MORPC's local 
government members. Team members met with Representatives Russo and Brown and Senator Reineke.   

  



3 

 

Regional Housing Strategy (RHS) 
The RHS website is updated (www.morpc.org/housingstrategy) and now includes a link to the complete final 
report, access to past Speaker Series webinars, and an online resource hub. Team Members created a 
Metrics Dashboard designed to track progress across key high-level housing metrics in the region. 
(/www.morpc.org/rhs/metrics-dashboard). 
 
Columbus Region Coalition 
MORPC Team Members led the Columbus Region Coalition’s monthly meeting on September 21. The Team 
is taking an assertive approach on behalf of our members to support the passage of the bipartisan 
Infrastructure Investment & Jobs Act.  
 
Federal Advocacy 
MORPC Executive Director William Murdock provided a letter to the editor to the Columbus Dispatch 
encouraging the Ohio Congressional Delegation to pass the Bipartisan infrastructure bill.  
 
Regional Mobility Plan 
Team Members continue the work for the ODOT HSTC Region 6 Coordinated plan, the Regional Mobility 
Plan. Goals and strategies were drafted for Franklin, Delaware, Logan, and Union Counties. This process is 
underway for the remaining five counties. Next steps will call for county partner review and county 
commissioner engagement.  
 
Team Members identified additional public events for survey outreach to fill in the gaps. The survey was 
translated into Spanish and Somali to reach a more diverse audience. Radio advertisements were placed at 
two radio stations, Radio/Urban One and The Blitz, to target additional residents in our region; the Urban 
One ad ran the month of September.  
 
Mobility Management 
Team Members attended the Ohio Public Transit Association conference and the mobility management 
roundtable, meeting, and training. This provided a learning opportunity related to Medicaid, the regional 
coordinated plan process, and best practice sharing with other mobility managers.  
 
MORPC is partnering with individuals in Union County to support their mobility management program and for 
stakeholder support in public transit. This work has involved planning a mobility workshop that is intended to 
highlight the benefit of mobility access for county residents and employees. 
 
MORPC staff continues to work with the ODOT Office of Transit on development work for Gohio Mobility, the 
statewide transportation search tool intended to support mobility management in Ohio. MORPC is assisting 
ODOT in understanding what steps need to be taken with data for the launch.  
 
FTA Section 5310 Designated Recipient 
The Call for Projects submission period ended September 20. MORPC received 17 applications totaling a 
request of $2.4 million. Team Members will develop a program of projects for the approximately $1.4 million 
available through the federal allocation.  
 
Team Members met with ODOT to discuss the impact of the global pandemic on vehicle production. The 
state vehicle contract vendors announced that delivery of vehicles is not likely to occur until 2023. MORPC 
will offer current 5310 awardees the opportunity to cancel their deliveries and utilize the funding for other 
5310 eligible uses or receive a refund of their 20% local match. 
 
Gohio 
MORPC and the City of Grove City the “Transportation – The Great Equalizer” webinar to educate 
companies in Grove City about the importance of commuter benefit programs and the modes of 
transportation available to them. Webinar participants included representatives from MORPC, COTA, 
Commute with Enterprise and Share Mobility. 
 
Team Members met with the Central Ohio Mode Shift Coalition, a group of Central Ohio mobility champions 
for transportation demand management initiatives, for a bike ride and meeting to share program updates and 
understand mobility initiatives that may be replicated in other communities. 
 
MORPC Staff attended the Ohio Public Transit Association conference to share and learn best practices for 
supporting public transit use and partnerships. 

http://www.morpc.org/housingstrategy
https://www.morpc.org/rhs/metrics-dashboard/


4 

 

US23 Connect Study 
Team Members supported ODOT in refining the Purpose and Need statement for the study and developed 
other materials in preparation for Phase 2 of stakeholder and public engagement activities.  
 
Central Ohio Rural Planning Organization (CORPO) 
County-level subcommittees met the week of September 13. CORPO Team Members presented the draft 
Public Participation Plan and opened a public comment period on September 27. Team Members presented 
the draft CORPO-dedicated Funds Policy and opened a public comment period on September 27. 
 
Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC) 
Applicants in Franklin County (District 3) submitted 23 applications requesting $35 million in SCIP/LTIP 
funding for the year beginning July 1, 2022. Approximately $27 million is available. The team is reviewing 
and scoring applications. The Public Works Integrating Committee’s (PWIC) next meeting is November 19. 
 
Applications for District 17 (includes Delaware, Licking and Fairfield Counties) are due November 5. 
 
Transportation Review Advisory Council (TRAC) 
Team Members shared the draft project list with stakeholders and committee members and provided 
notification of the public comment period, which ended on September 17. The TRAC met September 22 to 
vote on the final list of projects to be awarded funding. Staff continues to communicate key points around 
these funding decisions. 
 
Regional Data Advisory Committee (RDAC) 
RDAC met September 7 to discuss the creation, staffing, and membership of new working groups (Local 
Government Resources, Partnerships & Capacity Building, Broadband & Digital Equity), current working 
group reports, and updates regarding the Central Ohio GIS User Group (COGUG) and Regional Information 
& Data Group (RIDG).   
• The Data Policy Needs Survey & Toolkit Working Group met July 20 and agreed to present preliminary 

results of the Data Policy Survey to RDAC. The group meets again in October. 
• The Regional Municipal Fiber Strategy Working Group met September 8 to discuss strategy for 

working with local prospective partners. At their October 1 meeting the group will discuss strategy 
implementation with a November 5 target date set to meet with prospective partners. 

• The Central Ohio GIS User Group met September 2 to hear presentations regarding ArcGIS Velocity, 
ArcGIS Image for ArcGIS Online, and the Ohio Food Systems Map. The next meeting is November 17, 
International GIS Day. 

• The Regional Information & Data Group (RIDG) next meets November 3.  
• The next RIDG Steering Committee meeting is October 13 to discuss the structure and topics for the 

November 3 RIDG meeting.   
 
Data & Mapping Outreach & Collaboration 
MORPC and OSU CURA are preparing the application for MORPC’s membership in the National 
Neighborhood Indicators Partnership (NNIP). The NNIP is a network of 30+ independent partner 
organizations whose mission is to ensure all communities have access to data and the skills to use 
information to advance equity and well-being across neighborhoods. MORPC and OSU CURA will partner in 
this membership. 
 
Team Members assisted Logan County Economic Development staff to consume and use data to support 
their housing development goals.  
 
Team Members continue working with partners, other agencies, and ESRI to gather data for use with the 
new ESRI ArcGIS Urban program. 
 
Team Members continue regular monitoring and maintenance of the LBRS Data. Staff continues to update 
the COVID-19 Resource Hub (https://central-ohio-covid19-morpc.hub.arcgis.com/) and the Mid-Ohio Open 
Data/M.O.O.D. (https://www.morpc.org/tool-resource/mid-ohio-open-data/) with information pertinent to 
members.  
 
Active Transportation Plan (ATP)   
MORPC Team Members continue to develop a story map and other materials as part of the Active 
Transportation Plan update. Drafts of these materials will be available for public review and comment in 
November. 

https://central-ohio-covid19-morpc.hub.arcgis.com/
https://www.morpc.org/tool-resource/mid-ohio-open-data/


5 

 

Active Transportation Committee (ATC) 
The final Active Transportation Committee meeting for 2021 is October 19. Agenda items include an update 
on the MORPC Technical Assistance Program, the Complete Streets Policy, the Active Transportation Plan, 
and Central Ohio Greenways initiatives.  
 
insight2050 Technical Assistance Program (TAP)   
Most of the Cycle 1 projects are complete, with a few wrapping up final deliverables. All projects will be 
complete by the end of October. Staff is working to update the program guidelines to launch the next round 
of projects in early 2022. If your community is interested in applying for technical assistance, please contact 
lcardoni@morpc.org for more information. 
 
Sustainable2050  
The September 17 Sustainable2050 member meeting included MORPC Energy Program Highlights 
(SolSmart technical assistance and the September 30 Energy Aggregation Workshop) and updates on the 
draft tier status certification process with the newly adopted Regional Sustainability Agenda. The spotlight 
topic was sustainable mobility with a presentation on the Active Transportation Plan and regional trails.  
 
MORPC’s technical assistance pilot program, in partnership with The Ohio State University’s City and 
Regional Planning Sustainability Studio, kicked off work in August toward the creation of a sustainability plan 
for the City of Reynoldsburg. Another planning studio is working with City of Grandview Heights and Clinton 
Township on a project. We will continue to build and expand this coordination with OSU in the future to serve 
project and technical assistance needs of OSU and Sustainable2050 members.  
 
Central Ohio Greenways Board (COG)  
The COG board met July 21. September 25 and hear updates on partner projects including LinkUS and 
RAPID 5. 
• The Marketing & Communications Working Group is working with Experience Columbus to publicly 

release a passport to encourage people to check out trails and win prizes. The group will be advising 
the Trail Town Framework, a project aimed to support rural communities in developing trail 
connections and marketing efforts to encourage trail tourism and active transportation.  

• The Operations & Access Working Group developed a winter maintenance session to be presented at 
the September 29 COG Forum.  

• The Partnership Working Group-led Impact of Trails Report was recently received by the consultants. 
MORPC will publicly release the results of the project in October.  

• The Trail Development Working Group is taking inventory on local trail plans and projects to develop a 
database to support potential multi-jurisdictional trail projects and grants. 
 

The next Central Ohio Greenways Forum is September 29 with a focus on the RAPID 5, Trail Towns, and 
winter trail maintenance.  
 
Sustaining Scioto Board 
The Sustaining Scioto Board met August 25 with a presentation from the NOAA Climate Program Office on 
the U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit. The board also learned about the Central Ohio Blueways effort to 
designate recreational waterways and the opportunity of the Clean Ohio Fund. 
 
• The Agriculture and Rural Communities Outreach Team met September 16. Members were given an 

update on the Social Science Survey focused on improving outreach to both upstream and 
downstream partners around the topics of climate change, water, and land use. 

 
208 Water Resource Planning 
The Draft 208 Plan for Logan County is complete. Informational and stakeholder meetings for Champaign 
County stakeholders is scheduled for mid-October. 
 
Energy & Air Quality 
The Energy and Air Quality Working Group met September with a featured presentation Third Sun Solar on 
the state of the solar industry in Ohio. 
 
• Air Quality Network Sensor Subcommittee: Air quality monitors are being sited across Franklin County 

with emphasis on placement in ZIP codes with populations vulnerable to the effects of air pollution. Six 
out of twenty monitors have been placed. The monitors will remain for a year to collect data on 
neighborhood-to-neighborhood variations in air pollution. 

mailto:lcardoni@morpc.org
https://www.morpc.org/sustainabilityagenda/


6 

 

Local Government Energy Partnership (LGEP) 
MORPC hosted the Energy Aggregation Workshop on September 30. Speakers included Jon-Paul d’Aversa 
with UNPREDICTABLEcity, Erin Beck with the City of Columbus, and Council Member David Robinson with 
the City of Worthington. MORPC also continues to coordinate with UNPREDICTABLEcity to encourage 
SolSmart designation. Free technical assistance is available to MORPC members. The SolSmart designation 
results in a consistent and streamlined process for solar projects, and signals to the broader community that 
solar is welcomed. For more information contact Brandi Whetstone, Sustainability Officer, at 
bwhetstone@morpc.org.  
 
Sustainability Advisory Committee (SAC) 
The Sustainability Advisory Committee (SAC) met September 15 and heard updates from MORPC staff on 
the Summit on Sustainability and relevant policy work. The Regional Sustainability Agenda target-setting 
process is nearly complete and staff will be revisiting two of the metrics to incorporate the Committee’s input 
before finalizing.  
 
Clean Ohio Conservation Fund 
District 3 (Franklin County) has approximately $3.1 million available for Round 16. An Applicant Workshop 
was held October 4 on topics related to the structure of District 3 Natural Resource Assistance Council, 
OPWC (Ohio Public Works Commission) new online WorksWise portal for submission. 
 
MORPC in the News 
Links to press releases and news article for the month are available at www.morpc.org/MORPCInTheNews. 
 
Franklin County Urgent Needs (FCUN) Program 
The 2019 funding round’s goal is 26 projects. All 26 projects are identified with three complete, three in final 
payment with completed work, four in construction, and seven waiting for contract signature to begin 
construction. All others, except one, have been inspected and are in the work write-up or bidding process.  
 
Work has begun on the 2020 funding round. Twenty-four projects are in some stage from client application, 
to inspection, work write-up and out to bid.  
 
Team Members continue to monitor COVID-related shortages and increased costs. Contractors are slow in 
responding to bid proposals. Team Members are reviewing the issue and actively working to procure more 
contractors. 
 
Healthy Homes 
MORPC received news that we will be awarded a $1.3 million grant through Franklin County Public Health to 
administer lead testing and remediation. 
 
WarmChoice 
We are still encountering a problem with clients not scheduling. Teams Members will meet with Columbia 
Gas regarding these jobs to discuss how and when we can submit them for credit under the program. We 
are also working on several possible solutions to assist the contractors in gaining entry to perform the work. 
 
Team Members met with contractors and obtained a commitment from Weatherization Rx to keep crew 
personnel on MORPC WarmChoice jobs every workday from the time of this report until the end of the year. 
Heating and Cooling Experts are coordinating an effort to assist with problematic clients who are not 
responding to attempts to schedule.  
 
Columbia Gas kicked off a Savings Week promotion. There was a huge response with 267 applicants in the 
IMS within 24 hours and more coming in. MORPC recently did an electronic billboard in the Linden Area 
(corner of Cleveland and 11th) promoting WarmChoice. This billboard will run for 30 days.  We are also 
reaching out to 100 clients as part of our re-weatherization opportunity.  We are waiting to receive the 
promotional video that was translated to Spanish and Somali.  
 
HWAP 
Team Members are working on the enhancement fund grant which increased $1,035,915 last year. 
 
IT Updates 
The Information Technology Services Team continues to make progress on the following projects and tasks: 

• Replacing SonicWall with FortiClient for VPN network access 

mailto:bwhetstone@morpc.org
https://www.morpc.org/MORPCInTheNews


7 

 

• Supporting the office renovation 
o Audio and video technology design  
o Work with vendor to configure phone system 

• Outsourcing technical support 

• Conducting phish email test. The prone to phish rate is 4.6% in September.  Failed users receive 
required video-based training. 

 
October is Cybersecurity Awareness Month. MORPC plans to conduct an annual web-based training to 
educate users in protecting MORPC assets and personal information. 
 
Finance 
The Finance Team is working with other departments on the FY22 budget development as well as grant 
applications for new programs. 
 
Personnel Updates 
MORPC is currently recruiting for one (1) open position:  

• Director of Data & Mapping 
 
Team Members partnered with the Professional Diversity Network (PDN), a national platform, to increase 
diverse recruitment efforts and expand MORPC’s marketing and advertising outreach strategy.  
 
Team Members partnered with ThriveIN to attract diverse candidates for MORPC positions. ThriveIN’s 
campaign reached a total of 3,093 people with a social engagement (“likes”, shares) of 378 interactions. 304 
people viewed the job board and 182 people clicked the hyperlink, directly from ThriveIN’s web page.  
 
The following are in the interviewing or offering stage, or onboarding soon: 

• Energy and Sustainability Program Coordinator 

• Communications & Engagement Public Information Officer 

• Residential Services Energy Auditor 
 
The requirements for the posted positions are available for review on the website at 
http://www.morpc.org/careers/.  
 
RFP/RFQ Postings 
The following RFP’s/RFQ’s were posted: 
• Trail Town Framework 
• Gohio Commute Platform 
• Integrated Software Proposal – closed September 7 
• RFQ for HVAC Contractor for Residential Energy Program 
• RFQ for Insulation Contractor for Residential Energy Program 

 
The full RFP/RFQs are available at http://www.morpc.org/rfps-rfqs/.  
 

http://www.morpc.org/careers/
http://www.morpc.org/rfps-rfqs/


Transportation Policy Committee Members Present in Person 
Chris Amorose Groomes 
Karen Angelou 
Herb Asher 
Lee Bodnar 
Susan Brobst 
Kristen Easterday 

Brad Ebersole 
Jennifer Gallagher 
Dave Gulden 
Matt Huffman 
Erik Janas 
Greg Lestini 

Rory McGuiness 
Rob Peters 
Jim Schimmer 
Christie Ward 
Nancy White 
Melissa Wilde

Transportation Policy Committee Members Attending Remotely 
Mike Anderson 
Beth Beatty 
Ben Collins 
Michelle Crandall 
Karl Craven 
Tracie Davies 
Cindi Fitzpatrick 
Chris Harkness 
Tom Homan 
Melanie Houston 
Pamela Hykes O’Grady 

Laurie Jadwin 
Ben Kessler 
Benjamin King 
Bill LaFayette 
Jill Love 
Dana McDaniel 
Bonnie Michael 
Megan O’Callaghan 
Bryan Rhoads 
Eric Richter 
Isaac Robinson 

Lauren Rummel 
Mike Schadek 
Michael Schuiling 
Kim Sharp for Joanna 
  Pinkerton 
Alana Shockey 
Thom Slack 
Brent Welch for Cornell 
  Robertson 

Commission Members Present in Person 
Joe Antram 
Franklin Christman 

Mitch Noland 
R. Michael Pettit

David Scheffler 
Jim Stanley 

Commission Members Attending Remotely 
Ben Carpenter 
Terry Emery 
Luke Feeney 
Tim Hansley 

Bill Pursel 
Chris Schmenk 
John Trujillo 
Tony Vogel 

Andy Ware 
R.C. Wise

Associate Members Attending Remotely 
Nikki Scarpitti 

MORPC Staff Present in Person 
Kerstin Carr 
Thea Ewing 
Joe Garrity 
Ted Geer 
Ralonda Hampton 

Shawn Hufstedler 
Hosana Josephat 
Níel Jurist 
Eileen Leuby 
Amanda McEldowney 

William Murdock 
Shari Saunders 
Bevan Schneck 
Liz Whelan 
Brandi Whetstone 

MORPC Staff Attending Remotely 
Lauren Cardoni 
Mary Ann Frantz 
John Gardocki 

Nick Gill 
Dina Lopez 
Anthony Perry 

Raj Roy 
Maria Schaper 
Robert Williams

Guests Attending Remotely 
Ben Lee, Union County 
Andy Shifflett, Kegler Brown Hill + Ritter 
Susie Simpson, Knox County 

Nick Soulas, FCEO 
Jeff Stauch, Union County 

Meeting Called to Order 
Chair Karen Angelou called the Transportation Policy Committee Meeting to order at 2:38 p.m. 

Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
Transportation Policy Committee Meeting Minutes 

Date: September 9, 2021 
Time: 2:38 p.m. 

Location: MORPC Town Hall 



Transportation Policy Committee Meeting 
September 9, 2021 
Page 2 

Metropolitan Planning Organization Report 

• Transportation & Infrastructure Development – Thea Ewing, MORPC
Transportation & Infrastructure Development Director
Thea Ewing reported Federal Transit Administration 5310 funding applications are due
September 20. Section 5310 funds are for seniors and person with disabilities and the
organizations who are assisting them. The money can go towards vans, transit vehicles,
and other transportation services. The deadline for Ohio Public Works Commission
District 3 infrastructure funding applications is September 13.

The ODOT TRAC Council approved the staff recommendations for $66 million in the
MPO and $9 million in the RTPO area. The comment period is open until September 17.

Ms. Ewing highlighted the resolutions on the consent agenda.

Transportation Policy Committee Consent Agenda 
Greg Lestini made a motion to approve the Transportation Policy Committee Consent Agenda, 
second by Brad Ebersole; motion passed.  

Proposed Resolution T-9-21: “Amending the 2020-2050 Metropolitan Transportation 
Plan” – Thea Ewing, MORPC Transportation & Infrastructure Development Director 
Thea Ewing presented the 2020-2050 Metropolitan Transportation Plan Amendment. 
Metropolitan Transportation Plan amendments are rare. This amendment is solely for transit 
infrastructure to implement high-capacity transit service. It refines what was already included in 
the plan.  

Herb Asher made a motion to approve Resolution T-9-21, second by Brad Ebersole; motion 
passed. 

The Transportation Policy Committee Meeting adjourned at 2:56 p.m. 

Chris Amorose Groomes, Secretary 
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2F09-09-2021MTP.pdf&clen=2289247&chunk=true


DEFINING ELECTRIC AGGREGATION
There are two key actors involved in delivering electricity to our homes and businesses. The first is the supplier, 
which is the company providing the actual electricity. The second is the distributor, or the local utility that manages 
the wires that deliver electricity to you. When you initially sign up for electricity service with your local utility, you are 
typically enrolled with the default supplier option (also known as the standard service offer). However, everyone in a 
regulated utility territory, like AEP Ohio or First Energy, has the option to choose a different supplier at any point. 

Municipalities in Ohio have the option to aggregate, which essentially means they are creating an alternative supplier 
option for their community. They may wish to do this to secure a lower price for residents and businesses, increase 
the renewable content of the electricity, or to incorporate additional services such as community grants or efficiency 
programs. During aggregation, a municipality bundles the electricity needs of their community and leverages that 
buying power to reach their particular goals. 

There are two kinds of aggregation programs, opt-in and opt-out. Regardless of which kind of aggregation program 
is pursued, the electricity will continue to be delivered by the local utility as will be the customer’s electric bill. From 
the customer’s perspective, the process for receiving and paying for electricity does not change. 

OPT-IN AGGREGATION 
Opt-in aggregation is when a municipality creates a new supplier option for residents and businesses in their community. 
In this version of aggregation, customers may choose to enroll in the municipality’s supply program (opt-in) in order to 
receive those particular benefits.

OPT-OUT AGGREGATION
Opt-out aggregation is a process by which a municipality creates a new supplier option that becomes the default 
supplier option for certain customers in their community. In this manner, customers are enrolled automatically. If a 
member of the community wishes to change their supplier, they may do so at any time (opt-out). Opt-out aggregation 
requires the public to vote with a majority in favor of the ballot issue. Municipalities tend to find greater participation 
with opt-out aggregation programs, thus making the program more successful and valuable to their community. 



Is your community served by a regulated electric 
utility?
The following utilities are regulated by the Public Utilities 
Commission of Ohio:
• AES Ohio (formerly Dayton Power and Light)
• American Electric Power
• Duke Energy Ohio
• Ohio Edison (First Energy)
• The Illuminating Company (First Energy)
• Toledo Edison (First Energy)

If your community is served by one or more of these utilities, 
you may aggregate.

Has your community already pursued 
aggregation? If so, was it an opt-in or opt-
out program?
Many municipalities in Ohio have already 
developed aggregation programs, although not all 
are active. Local governments should inquire into 
the existence of previous or current aggregation 
legislation in their communities. 

The answers to these questions will help a local 
government understand where they are starting 
from in the process. 

Does your community have goals that could be served by an additional electricity supply option?
Communities most often pursue aggregation in order to secure a lower price for their electricity. Additional goals may 
be:
• Achieving 100% renewable energy to reduce air pollution or mitigate climate change
• Supporting new, local generating assets in Ohio to stimulate economic growth
• Developing additional services like energy efficiency or solar panel installations
• Developing funding streams for community programs to address sustainability and equity

If your community has established or is considering goals to address these, then aggregation may be a worthwhile 
approach for you.

RESEARCH +
DEFINING GOALS

PREPARING 
BALLOT INITIATIVE

AGGREGATION PLAN
DEVELOPMENT/SUPPLIER CHOSEN

INITIAL OPT-OUT
PERIOD

PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT

COMMUNITY VOTE
TWO PUBLIC 
HEARINGS

PLAN APPROVED
BY CITY POWER SUPPLIED

MONITORING + 
EVALUATION

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY EDUCATION 
+ ENGAGEMENT

COMMUNITY 
FEEDBACK

KEY STEPS FOR OPT-OUT AGGREGATION
The general steps for opt-out aggregation are illustrated below. Opt-in aggregation follows the same process; 
however, a vote and opt-out period would not be necessary.

INITIAL QUESTIONS
The following are initial questions that you should consider when deciding if aggregation may be right for your 
community. 

FOR MORE INFORMATION:
BRANDI WHETSTONE
Sustainability Officer 
bwhetstone@morpc.org



 
Commission Members Present In Person 
Chris Amorose Groomes 
Karen Angelou 
Joe Antram 
Herb Asher 
Lee Bodnar 
Susan Brobst 
Franklin Christman 
Brad Ebersole 

Jennifer Gallagher 
Dave Gulden 
Matt Huffman 
Erik Janas 
Greg Lestini 
Rory McGuiness 
Mitch Noland 
Rob Peters 

R. Michael Pettit 
David Scheffler 
Jim Schimmer 
Jim Stanley 
Christie Ward 
Nancy White 
Melissa Wilde

Commission Members Attending Remotely 
Mike Anderson 
Beth Beatty 
Ben Carpenter 
Ben Collins 
Michelle Crandall 
Karl Craven 
Tracie Davies 
Terry Emery 
Luke Feeney 
Cindi Fitzpatrick 
Tim Hansley 
Tom Homan 

Melanie Houston 
Pamela Hykes O’Grady 
Laurie Jadwin 
Ben Kessler 
Benjamin King 
Bill LaFayette 
Jill Love 
Dana McDaniel 
Bonnie Michael 
Megan O’Callaghan 
Bill Pursel 
Bryan Rhoads 

Eric Richter 
Lauren Rummel 
Mike Schadek 
Chris Schmenk 
Michael Schuiling 
Alana Shockey 
John Trujillo 
Tony Vogel 
Andy Ware 
Brent Welch for Cornell 
  Robertson 
R.C. Wise

 
Transportation Policy Committee Members Present in Person 
Kristen Easterday

Transportation Policy Committee Members Attending Remotely 
Chris Harkness 
Isaac Robinson 

Kim Sharp for Joanna 
   Pinkerton 

Thom Slack

 
Associate Members Attending Remotely 
Nikki Scarpitti 
 
MORPC Staff Present in Person 
Kerstin Carr 
Thea Ewing 
Joe Garrity 
Ted Geer 
Ralonda Hampton 

Shawn Hufstedler 
Hosana Josephat 
Níel Jurist 
Eileen Leuby 
Amanda McEldowney 

William Murdock 
Shari Saunders 
Bevan Schneck 
Liz Whelan 
Brandi Whetstone 

MORPC Staff Attending Remotely 
Lauren Cardoni 
Mary Ann Frantz 
John Gardocki 

Nick Gill 
Dina Lopez 
Anthony Perry 

Raj Roy 
Maria Schaper 
Robert Williams

 
Guests Attending Remotely 
Ben Lee, Union County 
Andy Shifflett, Kegler Brown Hill + Ritter 
Susie Simpson, Knox County 

Nick Soulas, FCEO 
Jeff Stauch, Union County 

 
Meeting Called to Order – Karen Angelou (City of Gahanna), MORPC Chair 
Chair Karen Angelou called the Commission meeting to order at 1:31 p.m. followed by the 
pledge of allegiance.  

Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
Commission Meeting Minutes 
  

Date: September 9, 2021 
Time: 1:30 p.m. 

Location: MORPC Town Hall 



Commission Minutes 

September 9, 2021 

Page 2 

 
Chair Angelou asked for a moment of silence in memory of the lives lost on September 11, 
2001. 
 
Chair Angelou reminded members that the Ohio General Assembly did not extend the authority 
to convene public meetings virtually beyond July 1, 2021.  To be officially counted as attending 
and to vote, members must attend the meeting in person. Those attending virtually may 
participate and use the chat feature to provide input or if you have questions. MORPC Team 
Member Bevan Schneck is monitoring the chat. 
 
Chair Angelou shared the sad news of the passing of former MORPC Transportation Director 
Bob Lawler. Mr. Lawler also served as Interim Executive Director twice. The Commission 
observed a moment of silence in memory of Mr. Lawler. 
 
Recognition of Guests – Eileen Leuby, MORPC Membership Services Officer 
Eileen Leuby welcomed new Commission members this month Lee Bodnar with the Delaware 
County Engineer’s Office and Jim Stanley with the City of Circleville. Ms. Leuby welcomed 
guests Ben Lee and Jeff Stauch from Union County and Susie Simpson from Knox County. 
 
Executive Director’s Report – William Murdock, MORPC Executive Director 
William Murdock thanked members for their patience as we continue to learn through the hybrid 
environment.  
 
We learned last month that Central Ohio is growing. MORPC’s role is to help Central Ohio move 
forward and get ahead of the growth. Good planning and collaboration is the key.  There are a 
number of exciting opportunities being presented today. 
 
Mr. Murdock announced MORPC is following the strong recommendation for the mask advisory. 
Ninety-five percent of MORPC employees are vaccinated. All employees are in the office at 
least one day a week. All meetings are hybrid. The goal is to allow the safest and easiest way to 
engage us. If this is your first time in our new facility, welcome. You are welcome to take a five-
minute tour following today’s meeting. 
 
Mr. Murdock congratulated Níel Jurist on achieving her Accreditation in Public Relations (APR). 
Ms. Jurist is also the new Marketing Chair for the Columbus Metropolitan Club Board. 
 
MORPC is receiving the National Association of Development Organizations (NADO) Aliceann 
Wohlbrook Impact Award for our work on the regional housing strategy. 
 
Mr. Murdock shared that work continues on the LinkUs initiative. The mobility corridor initiative 
is about growth, transit development and different forms of mobility.  At the end of August COTA 
applied to the Federal Transit Administration for a Capital Investment Grant for bus rapid transit 
projects. There is a resolution later on the agenda to include this in the 2020-2050 Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan. On September 15, MORPC is hosting a technical briefing workshop to 
discuss the priority network elements with partners COTA, City of Columbus and Franklin 
County. This is the first of many engagement sessions with other municipalities and 
organizations.  
 
MORPC is partnering with the Columbus Partnership to engage the business community in 
passenger rail efforts. MORPC is hosting a meeting next week to engage the business 



Commission Minutes 

September 9, 2021 

Page 3 

 
community in discussions about passenger rail possibilities in Central Ohio. Central Ohio is the 
largest market in the country without any form of fixed rail transportation. 
 
Open Houses regarding the new partnership with Franklin University, FranklinWORKS, are 
scheduled for Tuesday, September 14 and Wednesday, November 3. The tuition discount 
program is for all degree programs and offers a twenty percent discount on prevailing 
undergraduate tuition and master’s degree tuition and a ten percent discount on doctoral degree 
tuition. Free books may be available with some restrictions. This is available for member 
governments and their employees.  
 
Upcoming Events: 

• CMC Forum: LinkUS – Wednesday, September 15, 12 p.m. 

• The Future of Central Ohio Airports – Thursday, September 16, 12 p.m. 

• Central Ohio Transportation Safety Forum – Tuesday, September 21, 1 p.m. 

• Regional Collaboration Southwest – Tuesday, September 21, 9 a.m. 

• Summit on Sustainability – Friday, October 15, 8 a.m., Hilton Columbus Downtown 
 
Focus on Greenways: RAPID 5, Trail Town Initiative, Trail App – Kerstin Carr, MORPC 
Planning & Sustainability Director 
Kerstin Carr presented the RAPID 5 Visioning Summary. RAPID 5 is a vision knitting all Central 
Ohio waterways together to create the largest interconnected greenspace system in the country. 
Drawings and ideas were presented from five firms on how each river corridor can be 
reimagined and better connected to the community at large. One firm for each corridor: Big 
Darby Creek (REALM Collaborative), Scioto River (nbbj), Olentangy River (MKSK), Alum Creek 
(AECOM), and Big Walnut Creek (EDGE). The final visions are available online. Dr. Carr shared 
highlights from each of the proposals. Next steps include making certain the public is aware of 
what they can enjoy today; helping local governments look at the low hanging fruit (things that 
can be implemented in the short term); and beginning to determine long-term strategies to 
incorporate in the larger vision for Central Ohio. 
 
MORPC is partnering with Experience Columbus on an online Bandwango Trail Pass program. 
This is one more way to make people aware of Central Ohio trails. The program also provides 
incentives for people to use the trails. The Trail Pass launches next week. 
 
MORPC is moving forward with a trail town initiative along the Ohio-to-Erie Trail. We have 
collected over $35,000 so far to hire a consultant to develop guidelines on how communities can 
capitalize on the trail that goes through or near them. The first phase of this project will kick-off 
in November and wrap up next spring.  
 
Dr. Carr reminded members that anything MORPC develops is meant to be replicable so it can 
be used by many other communities in the region.  
 
Dr. Carr thanked Franklin County Engineer Cornell Robertson and his team for their help on the 
RAISE grant application. 
 
Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy – Ted Geer, MORPC Economic 
Development & Infrastructure Officer 
Ted Geer gave the Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) Update. A CEDS 
is a strategy-driven plan for regional economic development and is required to apply for 

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2F09-09-2021RAPID5.pdf&clen=3114330&chunk=true
https://www.rapid5.org/
https://fun.experiencecolumbus.com/checkout/278/experience-columbus/2543/hike-bike-and-paddle-trail
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2F09-09-2021CEDS.pdf&clen=635168&chunk=true


Commission Minutes 

September 9, 2021 

Page 4 

 
Economic Development District (EDD) status. The draft Comprehensive Economic 
Development Strategy is available online for public comment. The final CEDS will be presented 
next month for approval by the Commission. Once approved by the Commission, MORPC will 
submit it to the Economic Development Agency for approval. If approved, MORPC will seek 
EDD status. 
 
Technical assistance dollars are available with an EDD designation. Central Ohio is one of the 
largest regions in the country that does not have a CEDS. 
 

Committees 
 

Central Ohio Rural Planning Organization – Jeff Stauch (Union County), Central Ohio 
Rural Planning Organization Vice Chair 
Jeff Stauch reported the Central Ohio Rural Planning Organization (CORPO) continues to assist 
the Union County Health Department’s News Coalition. CORPO Staff met with ODOT to discuss 
how the two agencies may better coordinate public engagement through all members. Staff 
continues to assist COTA with the contiguous county connections program. CORPO Staff met 
with the U.S. Government Accountability Office to discuss a better way to assess pavement 
condition ratings for rural communities. In July, MORPC staff met with ODOT to discuss the 
upcoming planning work. As part of that, ODOT announced the Regional Transportation 
Planning Grant program which provides CORPO members access to just under $1 million 
through a competitive grant application process. 
 
Regional Data Advisory Committee – Brad Ebersole (Delaware County), Regional Data 
Advisory Committee Chair 
Brad Ebersole reported the Regional Data Advisory Committee (RDAC) updated and adopted 
the 2022-2024 Regional Data Agenda. RDAC then prioritized action items and formed three 
new working groups that are broader in scope giving the groups more leeway in deciding which 
actions to move forward on. The three working groups are: Partnership and Capacity Building, 
Local Government Resources, and Broadband and Digital Equity. If interested in participating 
on one of these working groups, please contact Brad Ebersole. 
 
The outgoing working groups are finalizing their projects and will be incorporated into the new 
working groups. The Data Policy Needs and Survey Toolkit Working Group developed a survey 
to identify data policy priorities among local governments. Responses are being analyzed. The 
Municipal Fiber Strategy Working Group finalized a non-binding letter of intent that will be sent 
initially to 13 organizations to gauge interest in developing a fiber network for the area.  
 
Mr. Ebersole recognized RDAC member Christina Drummond for participating in a panel 
discussion on Data Privacy: What’s Next For Data Privacy Efforts in Ohio? Ms. Drummond 
highlighted the data privacy challenges and opportunities in Central Ohio. The panel discussion 
was the first one in a three-part web series hosted by MORPC and sponsored by Spectrum. It 
will be available on MORPC’s YouTube channel. 
 

• Census Update – Liz Whelan-Jackson, MORPC Data Manager 
Liz Whelan-Jackson provided an update on the 2020 Census Data. The first 2020 
Census data at the sub-state level was released August 12. Since the data was in a 
hard-to-access format, we processed the data for Ohio and produced a web map to 
make it easy to explore. The web map and downloadable data is available at 

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2FColumbus-Region-CEDS-Public-Comment-Draft-20210909.pdf&clen=28668634&chunk=true
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2FColumbus-Region-CEDS-Public-Comment-Draft-20210909.pdf&clen=28668634&chunk=true
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2F09-09-2021Census.pdf&clen=976897&chunk=true


Commission Minutes 

September 9, 2021 

Page 5 

 
www.morpc.org/data. Central Ohio grew over the last decade – adding nearly 240,000 
residents. Among almost 400 metro areas in the nation, Central Ohio ranked 27th in 
population growth. The City of Columbus was the only midwestern city to grow by more 
than 100,000 residents. Columbus ranked 9th in urban growth nationwide. 
 
While Central Ohio experienced strong growth, 55 out of 88 Ohio counties lost 
population during the decade, including five counties in MORPC’s region. Other data 
suggests that of domestic migration into Central Ohio’s growing counties, 80% come 
from other parts of Ohio. 
 
In the 2000s, we added 125,000 housing units for 240,000 more people (about one for 
every two people); in the 2010s, we added 80,000 housing units for 240,000 (about one 
for every three people). The deficit was balanced, in part, by getting vacant units back on 
the market – about 15,000 units in the region went from vacant to occupied. 
Exacerbated by new types of housing demand created by the pandemic, housing 
underproduction is creating big pressure for residents at all price points in the market. 
 
Central Ohio is still on track to become a region of three million by 2050. Our state is 
becoming more diverse – people of color made up a larger proportion of the population 
in every single Ohio county in 2020 compared with 2010. In Central Ohio, international 
migration has also been a strong part of our growth and our increasing diversity.  
 
Draft population estimates will go to communities in October for review and be presented 
in November for adoption. 

 
Regional Policy Roundtable – Ben Collins (Plain Township), Regional Policy Roundtable 
Chair 
Ben Collins presented the Regional Policy Roundtable Update. Jason Warner provided an 
update from the Greater Ohio Policy Center on state funding for the Brownfield Remediation 
Fund and Ralonda Hampton provided an update on MORPC’s services/plans/programs to 
diverse audiences at the August 10 Regional Policy Roundtable meeting. MORPC convened a 
Public Health Community Update August 31 to review the impact of Senate Bill 22 on local 
governments and health departments. 
 

• Legislative Update – Joe Garrity, MORPC Director of Government Affairs & 
Community Engagement 
Joe Garrity gave the legislative update highlighting the following: 

o Bi-partisan infrastructure bill 
o Surface transportation reauthorization bill 
o Member directed spending or earmark opportunities 
o Data privacy 
o HB 2 – Residential Broadband Expansion 
o Member survey on how governments are utilizing ARP relief dollars 
o MORPC joined the Association of Defense Communities 

 
See the September 2021 Monthly Legislative Update for other legislative news. 

 
 

http://www.morpc.org/data
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2F09-09-2021RPR.pdf&clen=828258&chunk=true
chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2F2021-09-MORPC-Legislative-Update.pdf&clen=356455&chunk=true


Commission Minutes 

September 9, 2021 

Page 6 

 
Sustainability Advisory Committee – Jim Schimmer (Franklin County), Sustainability 
Advisory Committee Chair 
Jim Schimmer presented the Sustainability Advisory Committee Report. The Sustainability 
Advisory Committee (SAC) will welcome their newest member Metro Parks Diversity & Inclusion 
Coordinator Joshua Simon at the September 15 meeting. SAC will complete their review and 
approval of Regional Sustainability Agenda (RSA) measurable objectives. The RSA is at 
morpc.org/sustainabilityagenda.  
 
MORPC, the City of Columbus, and UNPREDICTABLEcity are partnering to host a Regional 
Aggregation Workshop on September 30. Speakers include Jon-Paul d’Aversa, 
UNPREDICTABLEcity and Erin Beck, City of Columbus. 
 
MORPC is hosting a Clean Ohio Conservation Fund Applicant Workshop on October 4. There 
are $3.1 million available this round. The Clean Ohio Conservation program funds projects that 
preserve open spaces, protect sensitive ecological areas, and stream corridors.  
 
MORPC’s annual Summit on Sustainability is October 15 at the Hilton Columbus Downtown. 
SWACO is the presenting sponsor. Other sponsors include Ohio University and Ohio EPA. 
More information and registration is available online at morpc.org/summit.  
 
Transportation Policy Committee – Karen Angelou (City of Gahanna), MORPC Chair 
Chair Angelou called the Transportation Policy Committee Session to order at 2:38 p.m. The 
session adjourned at 2:56 p.m. Separate minutes are attached. 
 
Commission Consent Agenda 
Nancy White made a motion to approve the Commission Consent Agenda, second by Greg 
Lestini; motion passed.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 2:57 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
Chris Amorose Groomes, Secretary 
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 

chrome-extension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.morpc.org%2Fwordpress%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2021%2F09%2F09-09-2021SAC.pdf&clen=1169051&chunk=true
https://www.morpc.org/sustainabilityagenda/
https://www.morpc.org/event/summit-on-sustainability/


 

 
 

Memorandum 
 
TO: Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 

Executive Committee 
Officers and Board Members 
 

FROM: Níel Jurist, APR 
Director of Communications & Engagement  
 

DATE: October 8, 2021 
 

SUBJECT: Proposed Resolution 10-21: “Adoption of MORPC’s 2021 Title VI Program” 
 
This resolution is to approve the Title VI/Non-Discrimination Program at MORPC. Given that 
MORPC receives and sub allocates Federal Transit Administration (FTA) funds, MORPC must fulfill 
the Title VI requirements and guidelines of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 
 
Federal regulations require MORPC to produce a Title VI monitoring program which must be 
approved by MORPC’s Transportation Policy Committee every three years. 
 
Items required for a Title VI Program in a metropolitan planning organization (MPO) includes: 

• A copy of MORPC’s Title VI notice 

• MORPC’s Title VI discrimination complaint process 

• A list of public transportation related Title VI investigations, complaints, or lawsuits 

• MORPC’s public participation plan 

• MORPC’s plan for providing language assistance for persons with limited English 
proficiency 

• A table depicting racial breakdown of minorities on relevant MORPC committees 

• A description of efforts to ensure subrecipients are complying with Title VI 

• A demographic profile of the metropolitan area 

• A description of the procedures by which the mobility needs of minority populations are 
identified and considered within the planning process  

• Demographic maps that overlay with minority and non-minority populations that 
demonstrate the impact of state and federal funds in aggregate for public transportation 
managed by the MPO 

• Analyze the impacts of federal funds spent and identify any disparate impacts on the 
basis of race, color, or national origin, and, if so, identify a substantial legitimate 
justification for the disparate impact 

• A description of the procedures the MPO uses to pass through FTA financial assistance 

• MORPC’s process to assist potential subrecipients applying for funding 

• MORPC’s RFP and contract procedures  



 
 

 
 

 

Proposed Resolution 10-21 
Memo 
Page 2 

 

MORPC staff believes MORPC is in compliance with the Title VI requirements. 
 
Attachment: Resolution 10-21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 RESOLUTION 10-21 
 

“Adoption of MORPC’s 2021 Title VI Program” 
 
WHEREAS, in October 2014 the Governor of Ohio appointed the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 
Commission as Designated Recipient ID No. 1310 for the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) 
Section 5310 (Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities) funds for the 
Columbus Urbanized Area; and 
 
WHEREAS, MORPC is the designated recipient of the Section 5310 Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) funds for the Columbus, Ohio urbanized area, that are distributed to sub 
recipients; and  
 
WHEREAS, MORPC is subject to Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the U.S 
Department of Transportation’s implementing regulations; and  
 
WHEREAS, the FTA requires all recipients document their compliance by submitting a Title VI 
Program according to the guidelines provided in FTA Circular 4702.1B to their FTA regional civil 
rights officer once every three years; now therefore 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION: 
 
Section 1. That it approves MORPC’s 2021 Title VI/Non-Discrimination Program dated 

October 2021. 
 
Section 2. That it directs staff to implement, monitor and recommend updates to the 

Program as needed. 
 
Section 3. That it directs staff to transmit this resolution and program to the FTA. 
 
Section 4. That the executive director is authorized to take such other action and execute 

and deliver such other documents as, acting with the advice of legal counsel, he 
shall deem necessary and appropriate to carry out the intent of this resolution. 

 
Section 5.  That this Commission finds and determines that all formal deliberations and 

actions of this Commission concerning and relating to the adoption of this 
resolution were taken in open meetings of this Commission. 

 
 
 

_________________________________________ 
Karen Angelou 
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 

 
Effective date: October 14, 2021 
Submitted by: Níel Jurist, APR, Director of Communications & Engagement 
Prepared by: Ralonda Hampton, Diversity, Inclusion and Engagement Officer 

Mary Ann Frantz, Modal Systems Manager, Transportation & 
Infrastructure Development 

Authority:  Ohio Revised Code Section 713.21 
For action date: October 14, 2021 
Attachment:  2021 Title VI/Non-Discrimination Program 



J  

 

Title VI/Non-Discrimination 
Program at MORPC 

 

(Focus on Metropolitan Planning Organization) 

 

October 2021 

 Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 

Commission 

 FTA Recipient ID: 1310 

 Columbus, Ohio 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page ii 

 

Title VI1/Non-Discrimination Program  

at the 

Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
(Focus on Metropolitan Planning Organization) 

 

Report Prepared by MORPC 

October, 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report was prepared by the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC), 111 Liberty St., 

Columbus, Ohio 43215, 614-228-2663.  Funding was provided by the Federal Highway Administration, 

Federal Transit Administration, Ohio Department of Transportation, and Delaware, Fairfield, Franklin, 

Licking and Union Counties.  The report reflects the views and policies of the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 

Commission. 

In accordance with requirements of the U.S. Department of Transportation, MORPC does not discriminate 

on the basis of age, race, color, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, familial status, ancestry, 

military status, religion or disability in programs, services or in employment.  Information on non-

discrimination and related MORPC policies and procedures is available at www.morpc.org/title-vi. 

 
1 Title VI of the U.S. Civil Rights Act of 1964 

http://www.morpc.org/title-vi


MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page iii 

There are many forms of illegal discrimination based on race, color, or national origin 

that can limit the opportunity of minorities to gain equal access to services and 

programs.  Among other things, in operating a federally-assisted program, a recipient 

cannot, on the basis of race, color, or national origin, either directly or through 

contractual means:  

• Deny program services, aids, or benefits; 

• Provide a different service, aid, or benefit, or provide them in a 
manner different than they are provided to others; or 

• Segregate or separately treat individuals in any matter related to 
the receipt of any service, aid, or benefit.  

U.S. Department of Justice 

  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page iv 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 1 

A. This Program ................................................................................................................................................... 1 

B. Civil Rights Act of 1964  and Title VI ............................................................................................................. 1 

C. Authorities ....................................................................................................................................................... 3 

D. State of Ohio Non-Discrimination Laws ......................................................................................................... 4 

E. MORPC Organization and Funding ................................................................................................................ 4 

II. Title VI Organization at MORPC ....................................................................................................... 9 

A. Introduction ..................................................................................................................................................... 9 

B. Key Staff Responsibilities .............................................................................................................................. 9 

III. Key MPO Title VI Activities ............................................................................................................ 10 

A. Introduction ................................................................................................................................................... 10 

B. Planning Process .......................................................................................................................................... 10 

1. Introduction .............................................................................................................................................. 10 

2. Data Collection ......................................................................................................................................... 11 

3. Public Participation  ................................................................................................................................. 12 

C. Diversity and Inclusion Plan ............................................................................................................................. 15 

IV. Other Title VI-Related Responsibilities at MORPC ........................................................................ 17 

A. Title VI RESOLUTION, Policy Statement and Assurances ........................................................................... 17 

B. On-site Title VI Federal or State Reviews..................................................................................................... 17 

C. Special Grants .............................................................................................................................................. 18 

D. Complaint Process ........................................................................................................................................ 18 

E. Notifying Beneficiaries of Protection Under Title VI .................................................................................... 19 

F. Limited English Proficiency (LEP) and Other Communication Issues ........................................................ 20 

G. Annual Title VI Report for ODOT ................................................................................................................... 20 

H. Contract Procuedures................................................................................................................................... 20 

 

  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page v 

 

 

 
V. Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Civil Rights and Non-Discrimination Related Links 
 
Appendix B – Non-Discrimination Clause in MORPC ODOT Agreement  
 
Appendix C – Title Assurances, Self-Certification of Process, Contractors’ Requirements  
 
Appendix D – ODOT Title VI Baseline Assessment Tool – SFY 2022  
 
Appendix E – Non-Discrimination Complaint Procedure  
 
Appendix F – Responsibilities for Title VI Compliance at MORPC  
 
Appendix G – Public Participation Plan  
 
Appendix H – Environmental Justice Analysis TIP 
 
Appendix I – Limited English Proficiency Plan 

Attachments to Appendix I 
 
Appendix J – Title VI Resolution 
 
Appendix K –Final MORPC 5310 Program Management Plan  
 
Appendix L – Title VI Notice  

Appendix N – 2019-2020 Diversity and Inclusion Plan   

Appendix O - MORPC Contracting Process Procedures 

 

 

  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page vi 

SUMMARY OF MORPC ONGOING TITLE VI-RELATED ACTIVITIES 

Name Description Date 

Title VI 
Assurances 

DOT Title VI assurances are required by FHWA and FTA.  MORPC includes these 
with the annual MPO self-certification resolution. 

May 2021 

Data Collection MORPC is required to collect and map data on Title VI-protected populations in the 
planning area.  This is an on-going activity of the transportation department. 

Ongoing 

Public 
Participation Plan 

MORPC is required to proactively encourage public participation – seeking out and 
considering the needs of those traditionally-underserved – the transportation 
department maintains a separate public participation plan. 

September 
2021 

Title VI External 
Complaint 
Process 

MORPC is required to maintain a complaint process.   Current 

Beneficiary Title 
VI Notifications 

MORPC is required to let beneficiaries know MORPC’s obligations in regards to 
Title VI and how complaints can be filed.   

Current 

LEP (Limited 
English 
Proficiency) 

MORPC is required to take sound measures and reasonable steps to serve the 
non-English speaking populations in the area.  MORPC takes steps to better reach 
out to these populations and to produce various materials in different languages. 

October 
2021 

ODOT Title VI 
Report 

ODOT requires this report annually.  It is included as an appendix in the 
transportation planning work program document. 

May 2021 

Contracts, RFPs, 
RFQs Reviews 

MORPC contracts, RFPs and RFQs are required to include specific Title VI related 
language.  Individual departments and the finance director are responsible for 
making sure that this is done correctly. 

Current 

  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 1 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. THIS PROGRAM 

This program, in response to FTA C4702.13, provides an overview of the responsibilities that 

the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) has in regards to the Civil Rights Act of 

1964 (and related law) and how these responsibilities are carried out by MORPC.  The program 

focuses primarily on Title VI of the Civil Rights Act and on the Metropolitan Planning 

Organization (MPO) functions at MORPC (see U.S. Code Title 23, section 134 and Title 49, 

section 5303).  MORPC documents some of its non-discrimination-related activities in other 

reports and these are referenced and/or the current versions are included herein.   

The information presented in this program is current as of the date of the report and will 

continue to provide an overview of Title VI and related non-discrimination activities and 

requirements.   However, all of the information is subject to change and revision in accordance 

with new legislation, rules and policies at the federal, state, or MORPC levels, or due to MORPC 

updates of various documents.  Therefore, it is strongly recommended that the MORPC staff or 

MORPC website and other internet links in Appendix A be consulted for the latest information. 

This program is intended to serve three primary audiences and purposes: 

• Federal and State Oversight Agencies – To provide information to state and federal 

oversight agencies on how MORPC carries out its responsibilities in regards to Title VI 

and related non-discrimination requirements. 

• MORPC Staff – As a reference for MORPC staff on Title VI-related requirements and 

responsibilities and procedures that MORPC follows related to non-discrimination. 

• General Public - Information for the general public on the non-discrimination regulations 

that MORPC is obligated to follow (due to being a federal fund recipient and a public 

entity) and how MORPC responds to these requirements. 

It should be noted that MORPC is responsible, contractually, to various jurisdictions in carrying 

out and properly and sensitively following non-discrimination requirements.  The state and 

federal governments have significant oversight responsibility for MORPC in regards to non-

discrimination, and for some MORPC funding sources, local governments or other entities also 

may have an oversight role. (See Appendix B.)  

B. CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 AND TITLE VI 

At a time when significant amounts of open, overt and even government-sanctioned 

discrimination still existed against Americans of African descent across the United States, the 

U.S. Congress passed the landmark Civil Rights Act of 1964.  President Lyndon Johnson 

signed the Civil Rights Act of 1964 into law on July 2, 1964. 

In considering the Title VI legislation, one senator addressed how North Carolina hospitals 

received substantial federal monies for construction, that such hospitals discriminated against 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 2 

blacks as patients and as medical staff, and that, in the absence of legislation, judicial action 

was the only means to end these discriminatory practices: 

“That is why we need Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, H.R. 7152 - to prevent such discrimination 

where Federal funds are involved. . . . Title VI is sound; it is morally right; it is legally right; it is 

constitutionally right. . . . What will it accomplish? It will guarantee that the money collected by 

colorblind tax collectors will be distributed by Federal and State administrators who are equally 

colorblind. Let me say it again:  The title has a simple purpose – to eliminate discrimination in 

Federally-financed programs.” 

Full integration and equal rights for blacks had reached an unstoppable momentum despite the 

lingering efforts of some governments and individuals to maintain and justify segregationist 

practices and policies of the past.  Today, discrimination against various groups, often in a less 

blatant way than in 1964 and usually not sanctioned by law, continues as a significant issue.  

Unintentional discrimination, perhaps through policies or procedures that have the unintended 

result of discriminating against particular persons or groups, is also an issue today. 

The Civil Rights Act of 1964 included eleven titles.  Title VI, the primary focus of this program 

because of its particular applicability to the MPO and MORPC, addressed discrimination in 

federally-funded programs and activities.  A widely-used passage related to Title VI sums up 

what the title is about: 

No person in the United States shall, on the grounds of race, color or national origin, 

be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of or be otherwise subjected 

to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance 

(42 USC 2000 Section 601). 

This made entities that receive federal funding, such as MORPC, directly subject to the federal 

Civil Rights Act and requirements to operate in accordance with federal non-discrimination law.  

Current Title VI law requires non-discrimination in all programs and activities, whether federally-

funded or not, of those who receive federal funds.   

The term "program or activity" and the term "program" mean all of the operations of: 

a.  A department, agency, special purpose district, or other instrumentality of a state or of a 

local government; or 

b. The entity of such state or local government that distributes such assistance and each such 

department or agency (and each other state or local government entity) to which the 

assistance is extended, in the case of assistance to a state or local government; 

Any part of which is extended federal financial assistance. 42 U.S.C. § 2000d-4a(1)  

In the 50-plus intervening years, following the passage of the 1964 Civil Rights Act, the specific 

applicability of the Act has been clarified or expanded to include more than race, color and 

national origin.   Discrimination protections based on age, handicap/disability, sex, religion, 

limited English proficiency, and income level have also been included in various federal 

statutes, regulations, executive orders, and policies.   



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 3 

MORPC and other federal fund recipients must adjust their programs and policies to conform 

with these requirements, as well.  Federal, state and local discrimination prohibitions against 

lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, and transgender (LGBT) individuals also are common (e.g., see June 

2010 HUD press release No. 10-119).   

Many programs have two recipients. The primary recipient or conduit directly receives the 

federal financial assistance. The primary recipient then distributes the federal assistance to a 

subrecipient to carry out a program.  Both the primary recipient and subrecipient must act in 

accordance with Title VI.  MORPC is a primary and subrecipient. 

The specific Title VI-related activities discussed in this program are mostly in response to 

regulations and directives of the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT), particularly the 

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) and the Federal Transit Administration (FTA).  DOT 

Title VI implementing regulations are contained in the Code of Federal Regulations, 49 CFR 21. 

C. AUTHORITIES 

Most federal agencies have adopted regulations that prohibit recipients of federal funds from 

using criteria or methods of administering their programs that have the effect of subjecting 

individuals to discrimination based on race, color, or national origin.  The Supreme Court has 

held that such regulations may validly prohibit practices having a disparate impact on protected 

groups, even if the actions or practices are not intentionally discriminatory. Guardians, 463 U.S. 

582; Alexander v. Choate, 469 U.S. at 292-94; see Elston v. Talladega County Board of 

Education, 997 F.2d 1394, 1406 (11th Cir.), reh'g denied, 7 F.3d 242 (11th Cir. 1993).  

While each federal agency extending federal financial assistance has primary responsibility for 

implementing Title VI with respect to its recipients, overall coordination in identifying legal and 

operational standards, and ensuring consistent application and enforcement, rests with the Civil 

Rights Division of the Department of Justice. 

Title VI claims against an entity such as MORPC may be proven under two primary theories:  

• Intentional discrimination/disparate treatment; and  

• Disparate impact/effects.  

The first refers to intentional discrimination based on race, color, or national origin.  The second 

refers to actions that use a neutral procedure or practice that has a disparate impact on 

individuals of a particular race, color, or national origin, and when such a practice lacks a 

"substantial legitimate justification." 

The documents below are some of the major federal civil rights-related legislation, regulations, 

executive orders, and federal agency guidance that MORPC is subject to.  These are generally 

listed chronologically by date enacted and are not all-inclusive.  See Appendix A for links to 

actual documents and other related information. 

❖ Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000) – prohibits discrimination on the 

grounds of race, color, or national origin 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 4 

❖ 1970 Uniform Act (42 USC 4601) – related to persons displaced/property acquired  

❖ Federal-aid Highway Act of 1973 (23 U.S.C. 324) – prohibits discrimination on the basis of 

sex 

❖ Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794) – prohibits discrimination 

based on handicap/disability 

❖ Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 6101) – prohibits discrimination based on age 

❖ Implementing Regulations (49 CFR 1.51, 49 CFR 21 and 23 CFR 200) – U.S. DOT and 

FHWA Title VI implementing regulations  

❖ Federal Transit Laws Title 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53 as amended by MAP-21 

❖ Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 (P.L. 100-259) – restored original intent and scope of 

Title VI to include all programs and activities of federal-aid recipients and contractors 

whether federally-funded or not 

❖ Fair Housing Act Amendments of 1988 (42 U.S.C. 3601-3631) – adds religion as a 

protected group for relocation purposes  

❖ Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (P.L. 101-336) – non-discrimination based on 

disability  

❖ DOT Order 1000.12 – implementation of DOT Title VI Program  

❖ Executive Order 12250 – (28 CFR 42.401) Department of Justice coordination of 

enforcement of non-discrimination in federally assisted programs 

❖ Executive Order 12898 (EJ) in 1994 – federal actions to address equity and fairness in 

minority and low-income populations (“Environmental Justice”) 

❖ Executive Order 13166 (LEP) in 2000 – requires meaningful access to services for people 

with limited English proficiency 

D. STATE OF OHIO NON-DISCRIMINATION LAWS 

The State of Ohio also includes many of the same non-discrimination requirements as the 

federal government in various sections of the Ohio Revised Code, Ohio Administrative Code, 

Executive Orders, and other documents.  The location for some of this information is Section 

4112 of the ORC.  MORPC, in all of its functions, is also subject to following these state laws 

and regulations. 

E. MORPC ORGANIZATION AND FUNDING 

MORPC is organized per sections 713.21 and 713.23 of the Ohio Revised Code as a “Regional 

Planning Commission” (RPC) and serves member jurisdictions in the Central Ohio area.  The 

MORPC Transportation Policy Committee acts as the “Metropolitan Planning Organization” or 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 5 

“MPO” for the Columbus Urbanized Area (see “Prospectus” in MORPC Transportation Planning 

Work Program – link in Appendix A) as designated by the Ohio Governor and U.S. Department 

of Transportation.   

MORPC has served as the MPO (or “Transportation Study”) since 1964 and as a planning entity 

per the Ohio Revised Code since 1943 (under different organizational arrangements and 

names).  The current organization, under the name “Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission,” 

was formed in 1969. 

MORPC currently includes four major “production” departments:  1) Transportation and 

Infrastructure Development (the “MPO”); 2) Data and Mapping; 3) Planning and Sustainablity; 

that includes Energy and Air Quality. 4) Residential Services that includes home weatherization 

and housing rehab and within Transportation Infrasturure and Development  there is a separate 

demand management program that provides ridesharing services in 15 counties.  MORPC also 

includes several “support” departments including Executive Management, Finance, Information 

Technology, Communications and Engagement and Government Affairs and Strategic 

Initiatives.   

MORPC is an independent, voluntary membership-run planning entity and receives part of its 

operations funding from member dues, which are also used to match grants.  The MPO service 

area includes Delaware and Franklin Counties, and portions of northwest Fairfield County, 

southeast Union County and southwest Licking County.   

The current MPO geographic area was generally established in 1973 except that portions of 

middle and northern Delaware County, not previously included in the MPO, were added in the 

early 1990s.  Due to the increasing spread of urban growth beyond the central county in the 

past decade or so, and due to the larger 8-county U.S. Census Bureau-defined metropolitan 

statistical area, MPO work considers and sometimes includes, or extends into, areas beyond 

the MPO boundary. 

MORPC is governed by a “commission” (or “board”) composed of officials appointed from 

member governments per MORPC bylaws and articles of agreement.  The MPO is governed by 

the “Transportation Policy Committee” under advisement from the Transportation Advisory 

Committee and the Community Advisory Committee.  The Transportation Policy Committee 

includes the members of the Commission who are from geographic areas within the MPO 

boundary and some additional members, per Transportation Policy Committee bylaws. 

Board Diversity – To understand and effectively serve the needs of a diverse population, an 

organization’s board needs to have the perspective of diverse voices at the table.  In January  

2021, MORPC conducted a survey of its Board members which also requested racial and ethnic 

minority representation.  There is a total of 158 Board members.  

• 47  female 

• 111  male 

• 8 African American 

• 0 Hispanic 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 6 

• 1 Native American 

• 141  Caucasian 

• 35  between the ages of 25-44 

• 102  between the ages of 45-64 

• 20  the age of 65 or older  

MORPC operates differently from most public entities in that agency funding comes not from a 

committed or dedicated tax source but from the voluntary participation of local governments, 

and from performing work associated with various grants and agreements, which can change 

over time.  These grants and agreements are from federal agencies, the State of Ohio, local 

governments, utility companies, foundations, and from other public and private entities, to 

perform, implement or administer specific programs, services or studies.   

The funding for a large portion of this work comes directly or indirectly from the federal 

government, often through state agency recipients.  Sometimes these funds come through other 

subrecipients.  The primary federal agencies that provide funding to MORPC include the 

Department of Transportation (DOT), the Department of Housing and Urban Development 

(HUD), the Department of Energy (DOE), and the Department of Health and Human Services 

(HHS).  MORPC currently operates three major programs, which normally provide the bulk of 

federal funding to the agency: 

• Transportation/MPO functions funded by the DOT 

• Home Weatherization program funded by the DOE & HHS 

• Housing programs funded by HUD 
 
Section 5310 Funds  
 
PROVIDING ASSISTANCE TO SUBRECIPIENTS Chapter III, 11  
 
MORPC is the Designated and Primary Recipient of FTA Section 5310 funds in the Columbus, 

Ohio urbanized area.  MORPC passes Section 5310 funds through to subrecipients as required 

by the grant program.  MORPC is in the process of developing agreements/contracts using FFY 

2018, 2019, and 2020 funds executed with FTA.   

 
Subrecipients are to be held to the same non-discrimination standards and accountable to the 

FTA Master Agreement as well as more defined guidelines based on their particular projects as 

MORPC when using these funds.  MORPC  also complies FTA’s Certification and Assurances 

each federal fiscal year as they become available. 

Subrecipients can access MORPC’s Title VI notice of rights, complaint form and procedures and 

adopted policies at http://www.morpc.org/title-vi/.  All Title VI complaints regarding services 

provided with Section 5310 funds are to be addressed to MORPC as well as the recipient using 

MORPC’s complaint procedures. 

 
Sample notices, procedures, demographic and other information will be coordinated and 
provided by MORPC to assist subrecipients in their Title VI compliance. 
 
 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 7 

MONITORING SUBRECIPIENTS Chapter III, 12 

MORPC has developed a process and schedule to track subrecipients Title VI Program 

compliance and submissions.   MORPC’s grant administrator will perform site visits as 

appropriate to each subrecipient to ensure their projects are in compliance with the signed 

agreement and FTA standards.  The administrator will receive reports that will be entered into 

FTA TrAMS.  

As required by the project, selected subrecipients will submit invoices to MORPC for 

reimbursement.  Additional information may be requested in the event documentation is needed 

for reimbursement to ensure they are in compliance. 

 
Conduct Equity Analysis for Determination of Site or Location of Facilities Chapter III, 13 

MORPC and its subrecipients do not use FTA funds to determine the location of a new facility or 

make renovations to existing facility.  No projects require an equity analysis for land acquisition 

and the displacement of persons from their residences or businesses. 

Procedures MORPC uses to pass through FTA financial assistance to subrecipients in a 

non-discriminatory manner Chapter VI, 2, c (2) 

MORPC has a Section 5310 Program Management Plan (PMP) approved by FTA.  The PMP 

documents the pass through of FTA financial assistance to subrecipients in a nondiscriminatory 

manner.  As part of the Section 5310 funding request process, Title VI data collection and 

general reporting requirements, Limited English Proficiency Requirements and FTA Certification 

and Assurances is required.  A description of procedures to request funding is also included in 

the PMP.  (See Appendix K.) 

When funding becomes available, MORPC submits a press release, posts on MORPC’s 

website and social media, sends email blasts and mails post cards to potential subrecipients.  

MORPC’s email and USPS mailing lists are inclusive of minority population organizations.     

Each applicant is required as part of its Section 5310 funding request to provide information 

relating to the clientele to be served by the project, including the number of minority individuals 

broken down by African American, Hispanic, Asian or Pacific Islander, Native American, and 

Asian-Indian population groups. MORPC’s Title VI complaint process will be used to solicit any 

complaints based on perceived discrimination based on race, color, or national origin. As a 

Designated and Primary Recipient, MORPC will monitor subrecipients with regard to Title VI.    

 
Procedures MORPC uses to provide assistance to potential subrecipients applying for 
funding, including its efforts to assist applicants that would serve predominantly 
minority populations.  Chapter VI, 2, c (3) 

As stated in MORPC’s PMP when the funding cycles are announced the selection process is 

open and transparent, and every effort will be made to reach multiple agencies that provide 

services to the primary target populations, ensuring equity of access to the benefits of the grant 

programs among eligible groups, as required by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act.  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 8 

MORPC contacts interested parties representing all segments of the study area, including 

advocates for people with disabilities, the elderly and minority populations have been 

maintained. In addition to mailing announcements and web postings, funding availability will be 

communicated using MORPC’s Transportation Public Participation Plan. (See Appendix G.) 

The selection process includes an informational workshop where outlining the development of 

project and criteria is offered. The workshop and assistance in developing proposals are 

advertised and offered to all interested parties.  

 

  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 9 

II. TITLE VI ORGANIZATION AT MORPC 

A. INTRODUCTION 

In general, routine Title VI and related non-discrimination responsibilities at MORPC are 

handled in a decentralized manner, being primarily the responsibility of individual departments.  

This reflects the reality that MORPC operates through many different agreements, contracts and 

programs, and each of them may have somewhat different requirements and responsibilities 

relating to Title VI and non-discrimination.   

Though MORPC is one entity, each production department operates their programs in different 

functional areas, somewhat independently utilizing different funding sources and agreements, 

and under varying requirements, roles, and constraints, which individual departments are most 

familiar with.  This affects how Title VI responsibilities are organized at MORPC.   

It should be noted that all of MORPC, without exception and across all departments, is subject 

to following federal Title VI and non-discrimination requirements.  In that MORPC receives any 

federal funds, it is subject to these regulations, but in fact, MORPC receives significant amounts 

of federal funds that infiltrate every activity and operation of MORPC.  This makes the entire 

agency subject to the related federal laws in all its operations. 

B. KEY STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES 

As shown in the MORPC Title VI organization chart in Appendix F, the agency Executive 

Director, who is hired by the Commission, has overall responsibility for non-discrimination and 

implementation of the Title VI program.  Directly reporting to the Executive Director on non-

discrimination and civil rights issues is the Communications and Engagement Director who 

serves as the overall agency “Title VI Coordinator.”   

This person is the key contact person that has general responsibility over civil rights-related and 

non-discrimination issues that may arise within the agency.  Communications and Engagement 

Director  is responsible for Title VI as it relates to public outreach and Title VI notifications. 

The other key staff member related to Title VI, who also reports directly to the Executive 

Director, is the Diversity, Inclusion and Engagement Officer.  The  Diversity Officer is 

responsible for helping to make sure the agency meets Title VI requirements in purchasing and 

in professional service or other contracts.  This person is also responsible for employment and 

hiring and for the agency’s Equal Employment Opportunity reporting. 

MORPC has recently established an internal Diversity Committee.  The committee was created 

to focus on and improve diversity issues at MORPC.  The purpose of the Diversity & Inclusion 

Committee is to cultivate an environment where individuals of diverse race, gender, and 

ethnicity may succeed and feel comfortable in the workplace. The committee will convene and 

engage MORPC employees while promoting the agency’s diversity initiatives. Committee 

members will work alongside the Diversity Officer in achieving MORPC’s strategic goals within 

the Diversity & Inclusion Work Plan.  The committee will also guide the diversity efforts of the 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 10 

MORPC Board and Staff. While not specifically designated to address federal Title VI 

compliance issues, this committee may have participation in this in the future. Ultimately though, 

most of the on-going responsibility for meeting program-related Title VI requirements at MORPC 

rests with each department director.   

 

III. KEY MPO TITLE VI ACTIVITIES 

A. INTRODUCTION 

MORPC conducts various activities to address and respond to Title VI-related issues, concerns, 

and requirements, Section III focuses on the primary Transportation and Infrastructure 

Development Funding/MPO and related departments activities regarding Title VI and includes 

planning sub-sections on data collection.  

B. PLANNING PROCESS 

1. INTRODUCTION 

The MORPC Transportation Infrastrucure and Development Department carries out a 

comprehensive, cooperative and continuing planning process in accordance with the Code of 

Federal Regulations, Title 23, Section 450.  The principal products of this process are the 

Metropolitan Transportation Plan and the Transportation Improvement Program MORPC 

continually monitors the impacts of its planning to avoid, minimize or mitigate disproportional 

impacts on Title VI-protected populations through various impact analyses and performance 

monitoring.  These activities are carried out through data collection and public participation, as 

described in subsections 2 and 3. 

• Data collection 

• Public participation  

The primary responsibility for ensuring that these tasks are appropriately and sensitively carried-

out lies with the Transportation Infrastrucure and Development Department Director, while the 

specific tasks are normally sub-delegated within the Transportation and Infrastructure 

Development Department.  The Communication and Engagement Director also has a significant 

role in the public participation and notification responsibilities. 

The MORPC Transportation Infrastrucure and Development Department has often performed 

special activities or planning studies outside the MPO’s core planning process that are 

specifically directed to the Title VI-protected populations.  Examples include the MPO’s past 

participation with (and ongoing interest in) developing and maintaining the following:  

• human services transportation planning, mobility, and job access for the transportation 

disadvantaged as elements of the Regional Mobilty Plan or Coordinated Plan.  

• Transportation Demand Management Plan that incorporates mobility management. 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 11 

• Planning Framework for the Evacuation of the Transportation Needs Populations in 

Central Ohio. 

• insight2050 study that proactively plans for development and growth over the next 30+ 

years.  This report considers changing demographics and impacts to the mobility of the 

transportation system. 

• Active Transportation Plan encourages comprehensive and long-range active 

transportation planning to move the region towards and equitable and connected 

transportation nextwork. 

• Rickenbacker Area Study a community driven study of the intermodal hub to develop 

comprehensive approaches to economic development, infrastructure improvement, 

workforce mobilty and affordable housing.   

• Minority Mobility Needs: During our outreach we did not identify any transportation 

needs specific to minority populations. Our planning process continuously reaches out to 

minority populations. To date we have not identified that minority populations in our 

region have transportation needs different from the population as a whole. These needs 

are access to jobs and other services; improve the safety of the transportation system; 

and minimize congestion. MORPC also considers the needs of the populatin with lower 

incomes, older adults and the transportation challenges associated with not having a car 

or the ability to drive in our region.  Over the last several years, the agency has seen an 

increase in the need to improve transit services and provide more biking and walking 

infrastructure to create better and more sustainable neighborhoods. Our transportation 

planning process includes minority population groups and viewpoints. 

 

• Impacts of State and Federal Funds: MORPC’s analysis of the impact of the 

distribution of State and Federal funds is shown in Figures IV-1 to IV-35 on pages 15- 31 

of the Environmental Justice documentation. The charts identify the impacts of the TIP 

projects with respect to particular measures on various populations groups which 

specially include minority and non-minority populations groups.  A disparate impact 

would show up in these graphs if the trends depicted on the graph would be different 

between minority and non-minority population. In all measures the trend lines of minority 

and non-minority population follow a similar pattern as a result of the TIP projects when 

compared to the no build situation.  More details can be derived by the paragraph 

associated with each measure. (See Appendix H.) 

 

This type of work is done periodically in addition to the standard MPO activities 

discussed below. 

2. DATA COLLECTION 

MORPC is a major collector, user and generator of economic, demographic, land use, 

transportation, and other data.  Collecting certain types of data is a regulatory requirement:  

Develop procedures for the collection of statistical data (race, color, sex, age, disability, and 

national origin) of participants in, and beneficiaries of State highway programs, i.e., relocates, 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 12 

impacted citizens and affected communities (23 CFR 200.9(b)(4)).  Some of the purposes 

identified for collecting data, include: 

To Identify: 

• Impacts and persons/businesses impacted by transportation projects 

• Transportation needs of all persons/groups within plans or project area 

• People to include in the decision-making process 

• Leaders/”Champion(s)” for various modes and transportation options 

• Benchmark and monitor MORPC diversity efforts 

Historically, the major need for data at MORPC has been related to the travel demand modeling 

component of the transportation work program and is a core part of MORPC’s ongoing work.  

The need for data, however, goes beyond modeling and permeates most planning and service 

outreach activities at MORPC. 

The MPO provides forecasts of population, housing, economic and transportation trends that 

provide the basis for addressing current issues and exploring future needs.  Additional MORPC 

data for planning purposes includes infrastructure inventories, development inventories, traffic 

counts, crash analysis, bicycle travel level of stress and travel flow patterns.  MORPC also 

serves as a center for the collection, analysis, and dissemination of information in Central Ohio. 

Some data is important to the planning process and Title VI because it helps identify the 

geographic locations and extent of traditionally-underserved populations that are protected 

through Title VI.   

Demographic data regarding characteristics of these target populations for the metropolitan 

planning area is gathered and distributed into MORPC’s traffic analysis zones.  This is done so 

that the data can be further analyzed through the travel demand model.  The analyses result in 

the identification of planning measurements that can be used to identify geographic areas of 

high densities of target populations and monitor the impacts of transportation plans and projects 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

An effective public participation process is a cornerstone to due process protection under the 

law.  The rationale is the desire for a public participation process that proactively seeks and is 

open to addressing the needs of all persons, including those traditionally underserved or 

underrepresented.  Furthermore, the rationale is to provide public access and the opportunity for 

input in the development of agency programming. 

The public participation, consultation and notification requirements of MPOs are described in the 

Code of Federal Regulations Title 23, Section 450.316. CFR 450.316 (1) (vii):  Seeking out and 

considering the needs of those traditionally underserved by existing transportation systems, 

such as low-income and minority households, who may face challenges accessing employment 

and other services. 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 13 

Public participation is defined as the process by which interested and affected individuals or 

entities are consulted and included in decision-making process.  The public participation 

process includes: 

• Information dissemination (timely and relevant) 

• Consultation (honest and open exchanges) 

• “Stakeholder” participation (collaborative engagement) 

Communication and public outreach are important to MORPC programs and activities.  Planning 

studies conducted by staff often need to include participation by a broad spectrum of area 

residents.  Services offered by the housing or weatherization programs particularly, must reach 

lower and moderate-income groups, minorities, non-English speaking persons, and others.  

Results of the public participation efforts are included in the Public Participation Appendix of 

each document.  The Diversity and Inclusion plan also benchmarks the effectiveness of 

reaching out to these populations.  See Focus Area: Service to Diverse Populations in the 

Diversity and Inclusion Plan. (See Appendix N.) 

MORPC’s Public Participation Plan for the metropolitan planning organization is updated 

periodically, and helps to guide the engagement and outreach efforts for the transportation 

planning process.  The current version of this plan is in Appendix G.   

Some of the tools that MORPC uses to help keep the public informed include the following: 

❖ Website – MORPC maintains an extensive website that is updated frequently.  The site 

includes information on the agency’s responsibilities, policies, programs, publications, on-

going activities, and press releases.  Direct staff links are provided for most of the 

information on the website. 

❖ Social Media – MORPC’s social media efforts include Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, 

YouTube, and LinkedIn. 

❖ Publications – Each year, MORPC issues a multitude of publications, reports, and maps as 

part of the agency’s work, and responds to and processes a large number of data requests.  

Much of this can be accessed through the website. Plans and programs – such as the 

Metropolitan Transportatoin Plan and the Transportation Improvement Program are also 

distributed to the metropolitan libraries located within the transportation planning area.   

❖ Electronic newsletters – MORPC utilizes electronic newsletters such as its Regional 

eSource and and other periodic emails to inform the public of its programs, projects, events, 

and initiatives.  

❖ Press Releases – Press releases are routinely sent to media contacts, including daily and 

weekly newspapers, and television and radio stations throughout the Central Ohio area.  

These include numerous Title VI-protected groups.  The press releases are also placed on 

the website. 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 14 

❖ Meetings Open to the Public – All MORPC board and committee meetings are open to the 

public.  Meeting dates, times and agendas for board and major committee meetings are 

posted in advance on the agency’s website, with some meetings taking on a hybrid, in-

perosn and online format as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

❖ Opportunities for Public Comment – MORPC routinely provides opportunities for public 

comment through social media, online, email, U.S. mail, fax, phone, and through public 

comment at meetings.  MORPC responds to all comments received. 

❖ Staff is Accessible – Staff is accessible in person, on the phone, by mail, by fax, and by 

email.  Contact information for many staff members is included on the agency website. 

❖ Mailings – MORPC routinely uses direct mail and email to keep the public informed of the 

agency’s services, programs, public comment periods, meetings, and publications. These 

mailings include a large number of community groups and social service agencies, some of 

which represent Title VI protected groups.  MORPC also sends press releases to 

newspapers that are published by and for traditionally underserved populations. 

❖ Events – Events such as workshops, open houses, and forums are held regularly.  MORPC 

routinely offers the following different ways for people to comment on activities, programs, 

and decisions made at the agency, as follows: 

❖ Comments are Accepted at Any Time – Comments are accepted through social media, 

online, phone, email, U.S. mail, through interactive webmaps, and in person at any 

board, committee or public meeting.   

❖ Formal Public Comment Periods for Major Activities – Formal public comment and 

review periods are used to solicit comments on major planning and programming 

activities.  This includes major amendments to the Metorpolitan Transportatoin Plan and 

the Transportation Improvement Program and changes to important MORPC policies 

such as the Public Participation Plan. 

MORPC also has an active Community Advisory Committee that is a major component of the 

public participation process and provides public input and recommendations to the 

Transportation Policy Committee.  It is the responsibility of MORPC Staff to make sure that the 

Community Advisory Committee has representation from Title VI-relevant populations. 

The Community Advisory Committee presently has up to 24 members including members 

representing minorities and people with disabilities.  MORPC consistently recruits for new 

committee members. MORPC also reviews and requires that project-specific committees 

include representation of diverse populations from the study areas. 

The Transportation Advisory Committee serves as the technical component of the public 

participation process and provides recommendations to the Transportation Policy Committee.  

The Transportation Advisory Committee (TAC) presently has 30 members.  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 15 

In recent years, MORPC has taken steps to reach out to the growing non-English speaking 

communities in Central Ohio.  MORPC has some of its outreach material translated into 

Spanish and Somali. It also makes efforts to distribute information to Spanish and Somali 

residents and publications in the region.  The MORPC website can be translatabled into various 

languages. MORPC also has under contract various agencies that provide interpretation, 

translation and services for the deaf and hearing impaired.  This information is available to all 

staff members so they can assist people who require translation services.  See additional 

information in the Diversity and Inclusion plan under Focus Area: Service to Diverse 

Populations. (See Appendix N.) 

Additional information on public participation is included on the MORPC website.  See the 

MORPC “Public Participation Plan and “Metropolitan Transportation Plan” links in Appendix A. 

C. DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION PLAN 

In 2009 MORPC formed the Diversity & Inclusion Committee to investigate the agency’s 

approach to diversity.  The committee inventoried each department’s policies in serving diverse 

populations. The committee also hired a consultant, Multiethnic Advocates for Cultural 

Competence (MACC), to help MORPC enhance its diversity efforts.  

In 2013, MORPC created the first MORPC Diversity & Inclusion Work Plan. The plan utilized the 

suggestions from MACC based on surveys and focus group interviews with staff and board 

members, as well as information provided from a MORPC self-assessment for cultural 

competence in the workplace completed for United Way.   

The goal of the yearly work plans is to cultivate a work environment that is welcoming and 

inclusive; provide services and programs to the Central Ohio community creating a special place 

to live, work, and raise a family; and create a place for businesses to want to locate. The work 

plans assist MORPC in its planning and decision-making, establishing priorities, providing 

relevancy to the MORPC region, building capacity, maintaining accountability, allocating 

resources and improving services to the Central Ohio community.    

MORPC’s commitment to diversity is evident in its Diversity Statement: 

“Diversity refers to the differences that make us unique.  MORPC recognizes, values, embraces 

and celebrates diversity by respecting and utilizing all of our differences to enhance our lives and 

our society.” 

The current 2019-2020 Diversity Work Plan reviewed the efforts of the previous Work Plan and 

the six focus areas.   

The matrices, sorted by focus area, identifies: the process in which to achieve desired outcomes 

(Infrastructure); the capability to implement the processes (Competency); and the MORPC 

Team Member(s) responsible for the specific infrastructure (Staff). Each matrix provides an area 

for reporting results (Outcome).  

• Workforce (WF) – Commit to the preparation of a culturally competent workforce.     



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 16 

• Workplace (WP) – Improve accessibility and accommodations for minorities, people 

with disabilities and GBLTQ. 

• Diversity Spend (DS) – Increase diverse vendors spend to 10 percent. 

• Service to Diverse Populations (SD) – Increase/enhance service to diverse 

populations. 

• Diversity Requirements (DR) – Continue to meet the federal requirements for DBE and 

Section 3 HUD monitoring and reporting.  

• Diversity Communications (DC) – Increase the promotion of MORPC’s services and 
programs to diverse audiences, and increase the awareness of MORPC’s Diversity & 
Inclusion efforts. 

As a result of the outcomes from the  previous Work Plan new actions were developed to 
improve performance on priority Diversity & Inclusion goals and to implement new internal 
structure to improve capacity, results and priority. The results of those efforts  are revealed 
in the current Diversity Work Plan.  

See Appendix N for the complete Diversity and Inclusion Work Plan. 

 

  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 17 

IV. OTHER TITLE VI-RELATED RESPONSIBILITIES AT MORPC 

A. TITLE VI RESOLUTION, POLICY STATEMENT AND ASSURANCES 

MORPC is required by the U.S. Department of Transportation to submit approval of the three-

year Title VI program and to maintain a Title VI policy statement signed by the Executive 

Director and Title VI assurances.  (See Appendix J.) The policy statement, included in Appendix 

C, is an express commitment to non-discrimination and is signed by the chief administrative 

officer.  The policy statement is required to be circulated throughout the organization and 

general public. 

The Title VI assurances are now included as part of the annual MPO self-certification resolution, 

usually adopted in May of each year. Appendix C includes a copy of this from FY 2021. 

It is relevant to note that by signing an assurance, the recipient has provided documentation that 

may be a basis for a ‘breach of contract’ action.  Even without such writing, courts describe Title 

VI obligations (and other non-discrimination laws) as similar to a contract; "the recipients' 

acceptance of the funds triggers coverage under the non-discrimination provision" (Paralyzed 

Veterans, 477 U.S. at 605). 

Assurances serve two important purposes: they remind prospective recipients of their non-

discrimination obligations, and they provide a basis for the federal government to sue to enforce 

compliance with these statutes. 

The notice, Notifying the Public of Rights Under Title VI, can be found on MORPC’s 

website at http://www.morpc.org/title-vi/, in MORPC’s lobby, and in the employee lounge.  

B. ON-SITE TITLE VI FEDERAL OR STATE REVIEWS 

The federal agency providing the financial assistance is primarily responsible for enforcing Title 

VI as it applies to its recipients.  Federal agencies have several mechanisms available to 

evaluate whether recipients are in compliance with Title VI, and additional means to enforce or 

obtain compliance should a recipient's practices be found lacking.  Evaluation mechanisms 

include pre-award reviews, post-award compliance reviews, and investigations of complaints.  

MORPC is subject to on-site federal or state Title VI compliance reviews, though this would be a 

rare-occurrence, if it took place.  On-site reviews, which would be a detailed review of how 

MORPC addresses Title VI compliance, can be done anytime that a federal agency director 

believes that such a review is warranted, or for other specific reasons.  Due to the dispersion 

within the MPO and the agency of Title VI activities and responsibilities, any response to on-site 

reviews by the agency is likely to be a joint effort by various individuals and departments.   

Much more common, are special Title VI reviews pertaining to one project (see next section), 

activity or to complaints, usually requiring a written response.  Title VI issues are also usually 

reviewed as part of the MPO on-site certification review conducted by FHWA and FTA every 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 18 

four years.  MORPC strives to comply to proper procedures and maintenance of documentation 

of all activities related to Title VI. 

 

C. SPECIAL GRANTS 

It is not unusual for MORPC to apply for special grants from various federal agencies or for 

federal grants through state agencies.  These grants may be initiated by the MPO or another 

department at MORPC and may be a joint effort across departments.  Often, in these cases, the 

federal agency (or state agency representing the federal agency) will require their own Title VI 

assessment – primarily answering various questions (and perhaps providing documentation) 

regarding Title VI at MORPC.  This assessment is in accordance with U.S. Justice Department - 

recommended procedures for federal agencies. 

Completing the required forms and documentation may be a combined effort at MORPC.  As 

noted in the previous section, MORPC having correctly followed and documented Title VI 

procedures in the past can make responding to these Title VI reviews less difficult.  The current 

document also should help with this. 

Federal agencies typically require that an applicant submit an assurance of compliance with 

Title VI (and other applicable non-discrimination related laws) as part of a pre- grant award 

review.  They may request information on pending lawsuits or complaints, prior compliance 

determinations, ethnic makeup of staff and decision-making bodies, and other related 

information.  As part of the federal agency internal screening process, agency civil rights 

officials are normally notified of potential assistance grants and are provided the opportunity to 

raise a "red flag" or concern about potential grant recipients, such as MORPC. 

D. COMPLAINT PROCESS 

Any individual may exercise their right to file a complaint with MORPC, or oversight federal or 

state agencies, if that person believes that they have been subject to unequal treatment or 

discrimination, in their receipt of benefits/services on grounds of race, color, or national origin.  

MORPC adopted an external Title VI complaint process in 2004.   

Under MORPC’s Requirement to Record and Report Transit-Related Investigations, 

Complaints, and Lawsuits, MORPC has not, in the past three years, received a Title VI 

complaint, investigation or lawsuit.   

MORPC makes a concerted effort to resolve complaints informally at the lowest level, using the 

agency’s non-discrimination complaint process or other procedures.  The complaint process is 

intended to be used for external discrimination complaints.  It includes a multi-step process for 

resolving complaints in conjunction with the Ohio Department of Transportation and federal 

agencies.  



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 19 

MORPC is also required to make it known that discrimination-related complaints can be 

submitted to MORPC using this procedure or through the federal highway or transit 

administrations, or other federal agencies.   

Per the complaint process, complaints would first be submitted to the Director of 

Communications and Engagement.  This person will review the complaint then request 

assistance in the response from the appropriate department director.  The current complaint 

process is in Appendix E and on the MORPC website. 

E. NOTIFYING BENEFICIARIES OF PROTECTION UNDER TITLE VI  

 

In order to comply with 49 CFR Section 21.9(d) and the FTA Civil Rights Assurance (that 

MORPC has signed) and other requirements, recipients and subrecipients shall provide 

information to the public regarding their Title VI obligations and apprise members of the public of 

the protections against discrimination afforded them by Title VI.   The information shall include: 

 

• A statement that the agency operates programs without regard to race, color, and 

national origin. 

• A description of the procedures that members of the public should follow in order to 

request additional information on the recipient’s or sub-recipient’s non-discrimination 

obligations. 

• A description of the procedures that members of the public should follow in order to file a 

discrimination complaint against the recipient or subrecipient. 

Notices of Title VI obligations and protections against discrimination are located on MORPC’s 

website http://www.morpc.org/title-vi/ in MORPC’s main lobby and in the employee lunchroom.  

The notices are written in English and Spanish.  Information regarding the notices is also 

available in the Diversity and Inclusion Plan under Area of Focus: Workplace.   

The FTA Title VI Assurance says: 

The Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission will make it known to the public that the person or 

persons alleging discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin as it relates to the 

provision of transportation services and transit-related benefits may file a complaint with the 

Federal Transit Administration and/or the U.S. Department of Transportation. 

MORPC does this in the following ways: 

 

• Website – MORPC maintains a website with a wide-range of information on 

discrimination-related concerns.  It also includes MORPC’s complaint process.  

• Major Publications – In major publications, such as the Metropolitan Transportation Plan 

and Transportation Improvement Program, information is included in the front on 

MORPC’s obligations related to Title VI and where to get more information. 

• Brochures – the non-discrimination clause is also placed on MORPC pamphlets, 

brochures and applications 

  

http://www.morpc.org/title-vi/


MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 20 

F. LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (LEP) AND OTHER COMMUNICATION 

ISSUES 

A limited English proficiency or LEP person is one who does not speak English as primary 

language and has limited ability to read, speak, write, or understand English.  MORPC is 

required to implement sound measures and take reasonable steps for meaningful access to 

programs and activities by LEPs.   

Requirement to Provide Meaningful Access to LEP Persons: Language Assistance Plan or LEP 

Plan is located in Appendix I. 

Additional information on the LEP population is available in the Diversity and Inclusion Plan 

under Area Focus: Service to Diverse Populations and the ODOT Title VI Assessment.  (See 

Appendix N.) 

Illiteracy is another situation that can make communication, especially written communication, 

difficult.  MORPC staff is available to help client’s complete applications for service and other 

documents and to take verbal comments.  Public meetings are also frequently held which allow 

for communication verbally with staff and in written form. 

G. ANNUAL TITLE VI REPORT FOR ODOT 

Annually, in May, in conjunction with developing the coming year’s planning work program, 

MORPC updates the Title VI report required by the Ohio Department of Transportation.  The 

MPO is mostly a subrecipient of federal transportation funds and ODOT is usually the primary 

recipient for MORPC.   

The ODOT report, which helps to satisfy federal requirements for the primary recipient and the 

subrecipient, is submitted to ODOT with the transportation work program and currently includes 

information related to:  the composition of the MPO staff; Title VI complaints; use of minority 

contractors; and citizen participation activities.  A copy of the most recent report is included in 

Appendix D and on the MORPC website.  

H. CONTRACT PROCEDURES  

Contract Procedures 

MORPC’s contracting and pre-contracting steps are generally done on a decentralized basis by 

individual departments, though all contracts are reviewed by the MORPC Chief of Staff & 

Director of Operations.  MORPC’s current contracting procedures, as adopted by the 

Commission, are contained and available in Appendix O.  These are general requirements that 

apply agency-wide. 

The requirement is to include specific Title VI-related text in all MORPC requests for proposals 

(RFPs), requests for qualifications (RFQs) and contracts.  MORPC is required to include the 

following language in all RFPs or RFQs: 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 21 

[The following section is for projects funded by federal transportation funds.] 

The Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission in accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964 and the related nondiscrimination statutes, hereby notifies all bidders that it will 

affirmatively ensure that any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, all bidders 

including disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit 

bids in response to this invitation and will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, 

color, national origin, sex, age, disability, low-income status, or limited English proficiency in 

consideration for an award. 

  The following text is required to be included in all contracts: 

The background of this Agreement is as follows: 

A. Pursuant to the FAST Act of 2016, the Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”) made 
certain funds available to the State of Ohio for surface transportation planning 
programs. MORPC is the sub-recipient of some of these funds (“GRANT”). 

 

B. The Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (hereinafter referred to as the 
“SUBRECIPIENT”) HEREBY AGREES THAT as a condition to receiving any Federal 
financial assistance  it will comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 78 Stat. 
252, 42 U.S.C. 2000d-42 U.S.C. 2000d-4 (hereinafter referred to as the Act), and all 
requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, 
Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, 
nondiscrimination in Federally-Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation- 
Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (hereinafter referred to as the 
Regulations) and other pertinent directives, to the end that in accordance with the Act, 
Regulations, and other pertinent directives, no persons the United States shall, on the 
grounds of race, color, creed, religion, ancestry, national origin, sex or gender, sexual 
orientation, gender identity or expression, age, disability or other handicap, genetic 
information, marital/familial status, veteran status, or income or status with regard to 
public assistance, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be 
otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program or activity for which the 
SUBRECIPIENT receives Federal financial assistance including the Ohio Department 
of Transportation, and HEREBY GIVES ASSURANCE THAT it will promptly take any 
measures necessary to effectuate this agreement. This assurance is required by 
subsection 21.71(a) of the regulations. 

 

§19. Non-Discrimination.   

CONSULTANT shall carry out the applicable requirements of 49 CFR part 26 in the award and 

administration of DOT-assisted contracts.  Failure by CONSULTANT to carry out these 

requirements is a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this 

contract or such other remedy as MORPC deems appropriate. 

To effectuate compliance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d 

et seq.) as amended, the following notice to the CONSULTANT regarding federal aid recipients 

applies.  MORPC has made similar notice of compliance via the GRANT agreement. During the 

performance of this Agreement, CONSULTANT for itself, its assignees and successors in 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 22 

interest agrees as follows: 

a) CONSULTANT will ensure that applicants are hired and that employees are treated 
during employment without regard to their race, religion, color, sex, national origin 
(ancestry), disability, genetic information, age (40 years or older), sexual orientation, 
military status (past, present, or future), creed, gender identification, marital/familial 
status, limited English proficiency, or status with regard to public assistance. Such action 
shall include, but not be limited to, the following: Employment, Upgrading, Demotion, or 
Transfer; Recruitment or Recruitment Advertising; Layoff or Termination; Rates of Pay or 
other forms of Compensation; and Selection for Training including Apprenticeship. 

b) CONSULTANT agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and 
applicants for employment, notices setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination 
clause. CONSULTANT will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed 
by or on behalf of CONSULTANT, state that all qualified applicants will receive 
consideration for employment without regard to race, religion, color, sex, national origin 
(ancestry), disability, genetic information, age (40 years or older), sexual orientation, 
military status (past, present, or future), creed, gender identification, marital/familial 
status, limited English proficiency, or status with regard to public assistance. 

CONSULTANT agrees to fully comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 
USC Sec 2000. CONSULTANT shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, or 
national origin in its programs or activities. MORPC may monitor OONSULTANT’s 
compliance with Title VI. 

c) Compliance with Regulations: CONSULTANT will comply with the regulations relative to 
nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the U.S. DOT Title 49, Code of 
Federal Regulations, Part 21, as amended, (hereinafter referred to as “Regulations”), 
which are herein incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement. 

d) Nondiscrimination: CONSULTANT, with regard to the work performed by it after the 
execution of this Agreement, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, national 
origin, sex, age, disability, low-income status, limited English proficiency, religion, 
genetic information, sexual orientation, gender identification, creed, military status (past, 
present, or future) or marital/familial status in the selection and retention of contractors 
and consultants, including in the procurement of materials and leases of equipment.  
The CONSULTANT will not participate either directly or indirectly in the discrimination 
prohibited by Section 21.5 of the Regulations, including employment practices when the 
contract covers a program set forth in Appendix B to Part 21 of the Regulations. 

e) Solicitations for Contracts, including Procurement of Materials and Equipment: In all 
solicitations either by competitive bidding or negotiation made by CONSULTANT for 
work to be performed under a contract, including procurement of materials or equipment, 
each potential contractor or supplier will be notified by  CONSULTANT of the 
CONSULTANT’s obligations under this Agreement and the Regulations relative to 
nondiscrimination on the grounds of race, religion, color, national origin, sex, age, 
disability, low-income status, limited English proficiency, genetic information, sexual 
orientation, gender identification, creed, military status (past, present, or future) or 
marital/familial status. 

f) Information and Reports: CONSULTANT will provide all information and reports required 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 23 

by the Regulations or directives issued pursuant thereto, and will permit access to its 
books, records, accounts, other sources of information and its facilities as may be 
determined by ODOT, FHWA, or FTA to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such 
Regulations or directives.  Where any information required of CONSULTANT is in the 
exclusive possession of another who fails or refuses to furnish this information, the 
CONSULTANT will so certify to ODOT, FHWA or FTA as appropriate, and will set forth 
what efforts it has made to obtain the information. 

g) Sanctions for Noncompliance: In the event of CONSULTANT’S noncompliance with the 
nondiscrimination provisions of this Agreement, ODOT will impose such Agreement 
sanctions as ODOT, FHWA, or FTA may determine to be appropriate, including, but not 
limited to: 

i. Withholding of payments to CONSULTANT under this Agreement until 
CONSULTANT complies, and/or; 

ii. Cancellation, termination, or suspension of this Agreement, in whole or in part. 

h) Incorporation of Provisions: CONSULTANT will include the provisions of paragraphs a) 
through g) in every contract, including procurement of materials and leases of 
equipment, unless exempt by the Regulations, or directives issued pursuant thereto.   
CONSULTANT will take such action with respect to any contracts or procurement as 
ODOT, FHWA, or FTA may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including 
sanctions for noncompliance; provided, however, that, in the event CONSULTANT 
becomes involved in, or is threatened with, litigation with a contractor, consultant, or 
supplier as a result of such direction, MORPC may request ODOT to enter into such 
litigation to protect the interests of ODOT, and, in addition, MORPC may request the 
United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interest of the United States. 

i) During the performance of this contract, the CONSULTANT, for itself, its asignees, and 
successors in interest (hereinafter referred to as the ‘CONSULTANT”) agrees to comply 
with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities, including but not limited to: 

Pertinent Non-Discrimination Authorities: 

• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252) 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin); and 49 CFR Part 
21 

• The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 
1970 (42 U.S.C. § 4601) (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose 
property has been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and 
projects) 

• Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1973 (23 U.S.C. § 324 et seq.,) (prohibits discrimination 
on the basis of sex) 

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.), as amended 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability) and 49 CFR Part 27 

• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq.) 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of age) 

• Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 (49 U.S.C. § 471, Section 47123), as 
amended (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or 
sex) 

• The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 (PL 100-209) (broadened the scope, 
coverage, and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age 



MORPC 2021Title VI Program Page 24 

Discrimination Act of 1975, and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by 
expanding the definition of the terms “programs or activities” to include all of the 
programs or activities of Federal-Aid recipients, sub-recipients, and contractors, 
whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not) 

• Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 12131-12189), as 
implemented by Department of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, 
public and private transportation systems, places of public accommodation, and 
certain testing entities) 

• The Federal Aviation Administration’s Non-Discrimination Statute (49 U.S.C. § 
47123) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and sex) 

• Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 
Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations (ensures non-discrimination 
against minority populations by discouraging programs, policies, and activities with 
disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental effects on 
minority or low-income populations) 

• Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for People with Limited 
English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination 
includes discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure 
compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons 
have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 74100) 

• Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended (prohibits 
discrimination in the sale, rental, and financing of dwellings on the basis of race, 
color, religion, sex, national origin, disability, or familial status (presence of child 
under the age of 18 and pregnant women) 

• Title IX of the Education Amendments Act of 1972, as amended (20 U.S.C. 1682 et 
seq.) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex in education programs or activities)   

MPO contracts also need to include the “Contractor Contractual Requirements.”  This is 

included as part of the “Standard DOT Assurances” document, currently included as part of 

MORPC’s annual self-certification resolution.  A copy of this is in Appendix C. 

 



 

 
 

Memorandum 
 
TO: Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 

Executive Committee 
Officers and Board Members 
 

FROM: Thea Walsh, Director 
Transportation & Infrastructure Development 
 

DATE: October 8, 2021 
 

SUBJECT: Proposed Resolution 11-21: “Adoption of the 2021 Columbus Region 
Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy and authorizing the 
executive director to file applications with, execute agreements with, and 
receive funds from the U.S. Economic Development Administration” 

 
MORPC, its members and One Columbus have developed a Comprehensive Economic Development 
Strategy (CEDS) for the Columbus Region. The CEDS serves as a blueprint for economic 
development across the region. It is supported by the existing body of regional plans and economic 
development strategies in the Columbus Region. 
 
The development of the CEDS was funded by a portion of a grant received by MORPC from the U.S. 
EDA for coordination of regional economic recovery from economic injury caused by the COVID-19 
pandemic. By adopting the CEDS, MORPC and its members are eligible to apply for further grant 
assistance from the U.S. EDA.  Grant funds from the U.S. EDA are for economic development, 
economic adjustment, infrastructure, projects and planning. 

 
At its meeting on September 10, 2020, the Commission accepted a different CEDS (the “2020 CEDS”). 
The 2020 CEDS, while reflective of many of the same factors found in the new CEDS, was found not 
to be acceptable by EDA. This outcome enabled MORPC to pursue grant funding (mentioned above) 
to support a U.S. EDA-compliant document with wide regional engagement and impact. 

 
All ongoing U.S. EDA projects, as well as those anticipated or received, will be included in the MORPC 
budget. 

 
It is anticipated the CEDS will be a planning document to be submitted for adoption by the Commission 
at least every five years. Further, with MORPC’s ongoing maintenance of the CEDS, a resolution in 
this same spirit will be proposed and brought forward for Commission consideration annually. This will 
ensure that MORPC and its members can access U.S. EDA funding and authorize the Executive 
Director to file applications with, execute agreements with, and receive funds from the U.S. EDA. 
 
Attachment: Resolution 11-21 



RESOLUTION 13-21 
 

“To authorize the executive director to enter into agreements with Franklin County Public 
Health for up to $2,000,000 to perform lead test and remediation measures to be lever-
aged with MORPC’s Franklin County Home Repair Program” 
 
WHEREAS, Franklin County Public Health (FCPH) has applied for a lead safe housing fund 
grant; and 
 
WHEREAS, FCPH serves over 475,000 residents within Franklin County, excluding the Cities of 
Columbus and Worthington, with four divisions whose work is focused on improving and protect-
ing the health of the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, FCHP would have the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) admin-
ister all production elements of the lead safe housing fund grant; and 
 
WHEREAS, MORPC has been providing free residential home repairs and energy efficiency 
services in Franklin County to eligible residents for over 30 years through public-private partner-
ships utilizing public and private funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, this program has provided lead inspection services to FCPH jurisdictions and to the 
City of Columbus Development Department’s Lead Safe Columbus program for over 20 years 
and to a variety of agencies and organizations working to prevent lead poisoning in high-risk ar-
eas of the county; and 
 
WHEREAS, over the last five years, FCPH staff have conducted over 400 lead-based paint in-
spections, risk assessments and clearances for the Lead Safe Columbus program alone and 
has partnered with Community Housing Network, Columbus-Franklin County Land Bank, Co-
lumbus Metropolitan Housing Authority, and Nationwide Children’s Hospital for lead safe reno-
vation efforts in thousands of housing units throughout the county; and 
 
WHEREAS, MORPC will identify and serve homeowners, as well as follow up on the identified 
projects referred from FCPH for Lead Safe Renovation production and when practical also com-
plete an inspection for other health and safety issues and structural issues that can be ad-
dressed with Franklin County Urgent Needs (FCUN) program funding to leverage the funding of 
both programs to maximize the use of funding sources; and 
 
WHEREAS, the services performed pursuant to properties identified as part of the FCPH appli-
cation will be under the oversight of MORPC and be implemented through a combination of 
MORPC staff and local businesses that are subcontracted in MORPC’s service area; now there-
fore 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION: 
 
Section 1. That the executive director is hereby authorized to enter into agreements with 

Franklin County Public Health for work described in the forthcoming contracts to 
be awarded for lead risk assessment and remediation repairs in the amount up to 
$2,000,000 and enter into related subcontracts. 

 
Section 2. That the executive director is hereby authorized to approve one or more exten-

sions of time not to exceed 180 days in the aggregate for performance of ser-
vices under the foregoing agreements and contract changes not to exceed 20 



Resolution 13-21 

Page 2 

percent of the total agreement price without further authorization from this Com-
mission. 

 
Section 3. That the executive director is authorized to take such other action and execute 

and deliver such other documents as, acting with the advice of legal counsel, he 
shall deem necessary and appropriate to carry out the intent of this resolution. 

 
Section 4.  That this Commission finds and determines that all formal deliberations and ac-

tions of this Commission concerning and relating to the adoption of this resolu-
tion were taken in open meetings of this Commission. 

 
 
 

                                                                                
Karen Angelou, Chair 

      MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 
Effective date: October 14, 2021 
Submitted by: Robert Williams, Director, Residential Services 
Prepared by: Robert Williams, Director, Residential Services 
Authority:  Ohio Revised Code Section 713.21 
For action date: October 14, 2021 



 

 
 

 
Columbus Region Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) 

 
October 14, 2021 

 
Introduction 

 
The Columbus Region (Region), consisting of the 11 counties of Delaware, Fairfield, 
Franklin, Knox, Licking, Logan, Madison, Marion, Morrow, Pickaway, and Union, is a 
metropolitan area located in central Ohio. The City of Columbus, centrally located in the 
Region, is the state capital and largest city in Ohio, and the 14th largest city in the U.S. The 
regional economy is diverse and growing as a center for innovation. 
 
Figure: Columbus Region 

 
 



 
 

Page 2 

 

Over the last decade, the Region has experienced strong, consistent growth supported by a 
shared commitment to region-wide prosperity. One Columbus, the region’s economic 
development organization, and JobsOhio have led these successes for over a decade. The 
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) is the Region’s regional council for 
more than 70 members comprised of counties, cities, villages, townships, and regional 
organizations. Working with One Columbus, the region’s economic development leader, and 
more than 30 other regional partners, MORPC has updated the Columbus Region 
Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) to support the region’s 
commitment to sustained prosperity. 
 
CEDS Update Process 
 
The CEDS update was collaboratively led by the CEDS Strategy Committee, a group of 
regional economic and community development leaders. The roster is as follows: 
 

Columbus Region CEDS Strategy Committee 
 

Name Title Organization 
Corey Alton Vice President, Commercial 

Loans 
Park National Bank 

Michael Augenstein Director of Workforce 
Solutions 

Marion Technical College 

Mark Barbash Director, Ohio Economic 
Development Institute 

Ohio Economic 
Development Association 

Darnita Bradley Local Government Affairs and 
Engagement Manager 

JobsOhio 

Gus Comstock Director Marion CAN DO! 
Scott Cubberly Senior Brokerage Advisor Equity 
Zachary Dowley Economic Development 

Specialist 
Delaware County Economic 
Development 

Kristen Easterday Director of Communications & 
Public Affairs 

Columbus Regional Airport 
Authority 

Brad Ebersole Economic Development 
Executive 

Consolidated Cooperative, 
Inc. 

Terry Foegler Chief Development Officer Central Ohio Transit 
Authority 

Kelly Fuller Workforce Development 
Director 

Columbus Chamber of 
Commerce 

Jeff Gottke President Area Development 
Foundation, Inc. 

Cheryl Hay Executive Director, Office of 
Talent Strategy 

Columbus State Community 
College 



 
 

Page 3 

 

Frank Hickman Founder Whetsone Business 
Consulting 

Matt Hill Technical Study Director Licking County Area 
Transportation Study 

Patty Huddle Vice President Columbus-Franklin County 
Finance Authority 

Brian Huprich Chief Financial Officer Ariel Corporation 
David Kell Executive Director Madison County Chamber 

of Commerce 
Jim Lenner Village Manager Village of Johnstown 
Michael Linton Board Chair South Central Ohio 

Workforce Partnership 
Kenny McDonald President and Chief Economic 

Officer 
One Columbus 

Alicia Oddi Managing Director Rev1 Ventures 
Eddie Pauline Director, Economic 

Development 
The Ohio State University 

Eric Phillips Executive Director Union County - Marysville 
Economic Development 

Jeff Polesovsky Vice President, Public Policy Columbus Partnership 
Ryan Scribner Executive Director Pickaway Progress 

Partnership (P3) 
Chance Shannan Associate Director of Business 

Solutions 
Workforce Development 
Board of Central Ohio 

Jason Stanford Vice President Union County Community 
Improvement Corporation 

Matt Staugler Director of Business 
Development 

Small Nation 

Rick Szabrak Director of Economic and 
Workforce Development 

Fairfield County 

Emanuel Torres Assistant Director Franklin County Economic 
Development & Planning 

Ben Vollrath President Logan County Chamber of 
Commerce 

Andy Ware Development Director Morrow County 
Jeff Wilkins Director of Administration Solid Waste Authority of 

Central Ohio 
 
MORPC engaged regional stakeholders in a variety of ways throughout the CEDS process. 
The Strategy Committee held meetings during the spring and summer of 2021 to guide the 
CEDS process and identify strategic priorities. MORPC staff presented the CEDS to 



 
 

Page 4 

 

relevant groups across the region, including economic development leaders, private sector 
representatives, and local governments. 
 
Finally, a 30-day public comment period allowed for input from across the region. During this 
period, the CEDS was presented to several regional audiences, including MORPC’s 
Community Advisory Committee, Transportation Advisory Committee, Board of 
Commissioners and Executive Committee, the Mid-Ohio Development Exchange (MODE), 
and Central Ohio Rural Planning Organization (CORPO) subcommittees for the counties of 
Knox, Madison, Fairfield, Morrow, and Union, among others. 
 
Implementation 
 
The Region is projected to continue its significant population growth, necessitating close 
alignment among regional plans. The Columbus Region CEDS can ensure that 
stakeholders are coordinating strategic plans and investments for a maximum impact on 
regional priority areas. The CEDS identifies key partners and strategies to reinforce shared 
goals. 
 
MORPC will prepare annual reports on the implementation of the CEDS, allowing regional 
partners to adapt to changing needs and priorities. The CEDS will also support regional 
proposals for grant funding, improving the region’s competitiveness for key funding streams 
to support economic development.  



 
 

Page 5 

 

Section 1: Summary Background 
 

Population and Demographic Background 
 
Since 2010, the Region has experienced strong, consistent demographic and economic 
growth. The Region is attractive both to businesses and residents—evidenced by a decade 
(2010-2020) with its strongest-ever annual average population growth. The Columbus 
region is one of the fastest-growing in the Midwest. Notably, the Region’s growth from 2000-
2030 is projected to outpace the State of Ohio and the nation. 
 
Figure: Total Population with Projections by County 

 
Source: Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission Population Projections 
 
The Columbus Region is relatively young compared to U.S. averages, with a share of 
working-age (18-64) population 1.9% above the U.S. average. This difference is projected 
to become even greater. While the Region’s share of working-age population is projected to 
decrease by 0.7% by 2050, the national share is projected to decrease by 3.1%. These 
trends indicate a region facing an aging population, but one with an increasing competitive 
advantage in population demographics. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Geography 2000 2010
% Growth 

2000-2030
Delaware 111,759            175,116            211,050            241,709            116.3%

Fairfield 123,485            146,396            159,980            173,169            40.2%
Franklin 1,072,018         1,166,274         1,348,203         1,511,680         41.0%

Knox 54,616              61,092              61,999              63,483              16.2%
Licking 146,268            166,713            177,622            190,913            30.5%
Logan 45,984              45,749              45,364              45,351              -1.4%

Madison 40,218              43,434              44,938              47,295              17.6%
Marion 66,135              66,455              64,754              64,740              -2.1%
Morrow 31,813              34,791              35,018              35,073              10.2%

Pickaway 52,808              55,733              58,652             61,476             16.4%
Union 41,338              52,389              60,415              69,596              68.4%
Total 1,786,442         2,014,142         2,267,994         2,504,484         40.2%
Ohio 11,363,844       11,536,504       11,574,870       11,615,100       2.2%

United States 281,421,906     308,745,538     332,639,000     355,101,000     26.2%

2020 2030



 
 

Page 6 

 

Figure: Population by Age Projection 

 
Source: United States Census Population Projections 
 
The Region’s racial and ethnic demographics are also changing, with nonwhite residents 
contributing the greatest share of population growth. From 2010-2019, the share of 
nonwhite residents in the region increased by 4.52 percentage points. 
 
Figure: Population by Race / Ethnicity 

  
Source: American Community Survey 
 
The Columbus Region’s racial demographic changes largely mirror the U.S. averages, but 
with greater growth among people of color. The 4.52 percentage point share of growth from 
2010-2019 compares to 2.72 percentage points at the state level and 3.97 percentage 
points nationally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Geography Age Group
Change 

2020-2050
Columbus Region Population Ages under 18 529,601        23.4% 657,082        23.2% -0.2%
Columbus Region Population Ages 18 - 64 1,425,164     62.8% 1,760,530     62.1% -0.7%
Columbus Region Population Ages 65 and older 313,229        13.8% 417,688        14.7% 0.9%
TOTAL 2,267,994     2,835,300     

United States Population Ages under 18 73,967,000   22.2% 78,225,000   20.1% -2.1%
United States Population Ages 18 - 64 202,621,000 60.9% 225,023,000 57.9% -3.1%
United States Population Ages 65 and older 56,052,000   16.9% 85,675,000   22.0% 5.2%
TOTAL 332,640,000 388,923,000 

2020 2050

Race / Ethnicity
American Indian and Alaska Native 3,066            0.16% 3,105            0.14% 39              -0.01%
Asian 55,305          2.81% 88,813          4.06% 33,508       1.26%
Black or African American 265,566        13.47% 323,027        14.78% 57,461       1.31%
Hispanic or Latino 62,790          3.19% 89,893          4.11% 27,103       0.93%
Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Island 393               0.02% 645               0.03% 252            0.01%
Some other race 2,794            0.14% 4,672            0.21% 1,878         0.07%
Two or more races 40,929          2.08% 66,260          3.03% 25,331       0.96%
White 1,540,271     78.14% 1,609,030     73.62% 68,759       -4.52%
Total 1,971,114     100.00% 2,185,445     100.00% 214,331     

Change 2010-20192019 Estimate2010 Estimate



 
 

Page 7 

 

Figure: Population by Race / Ethnicity vs. Ohio and United States 

 
Source: American Community Survey 
 
Education 
 
The Region is home to 62 college and university campuses, including The Ohio State 
University, a tier-1 research university. In 2019, there were 36,939 post-secondary 
graduates in the Region. This pipeline has grown by 2% over the last five years. The Ohio 
State University, Columbus State Community College, and Franklin University contribute the 
greatest numbers of graduates: 
 
Figure: Educational Pipeline 

 
Source: Emsi 

Race / Ethnicity Region State
United 
States

American Indian and Alaska Native -0.01% -0.02% -0.01%
Asian 1.26% 0.59% 0.84%
Black or African American 1.31% 0.27% 0.10%
Hispanic or Latino 0.93% 0.91% 2.31%
Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Island 0.01% 0.01% 0.02%
Some other race 0.07% 0.03% 0.02%
Two or more races 0.96% 0.92% 0.69%
White -4.52% -2.72% -3.97%



 
 

Page 8 

 

Educational attainment in the region is strong and improving, leading to a skilled and 
educated regional workforce. The share of residents with a college degree is 5.5% greater 
than the state average. 
 
Figure: Share of Population by Educational Attainment (Adults 25 and Older) 

 
Source: Emsi 
 
Socioeconomic 
 
The region has experienced strong wage growth in recent years. From 2010-2018 increases 
in annual average wages ranged from 10.5-21.8%. 
 
Figure: Average Annual Wages 

 
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 
 

County 2010 2014 2018
Change 

2010-2018
Delaware 46,433$    50,898$    55,330$    19.2%
Fairfield 32,504$    34,617$    38,458$    18.3%
Franklin 46,293$    50,906$    56,374$    21.8%
Knox 35,946$    40,399$    43,064$    19.8%
Licking 35,440$    38,551$    42,312$    19.4%
Logan 39,651$    41,814$    46,041$    16.1%
Madison 36,487$    40,199$    43,590$    19.5%
Marion 35,926$    37,881$    41,280$    14.9%
Morrow 30,646$    34,097$    35,922$    17.2%
Pickaway 37,386$    39,925$    45,223$    21.0%
Union 52,935$    54,967$    58,518$    10.5%



 
 

Page 9 

 

Rising wages and a growing economy supported a decrease in poverty rates from 2013-
2019, however as of 2019 the rate for the Region was higher than the U.S. average of 
12.3%. 
 
Figure: Trend of Poverty Rate 

 
Source: American Community Survey 
 
Labor Force and Employment 
 
The regional labor force participation rate has declined from 65 percent in 2010 to 63 
percent in February 2020, just before pandemic impacts took hold. The regional rate 
continues to outpace the national rate, however, which was 65 percent in 2010 and 63 
percent in February 2020 (sources: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Emsi) 
 
The racial distribution of labor force participation and unemployment in the Region is 
uneven, with lower labor force participation and unemployment rates among white residents 
as of 2019. The Hispanic/LatinX population had the highest rate at 71.6 percent and the 
white population had the lowest at 66.8 percent from 2015 to 2019. 
 
Figure: Labor Force Participation Rate by Race/Ethnicity 

 
Source: Emsi 

County
 Total 

Population 2013 
 Population in 
Poverty 2013 

Poverty Rate 
2013

 Total 
Population 2019 

 Population in 
Poverty 2019 

Poverty Rate 
2019

Delaware 174,984           8,570               4.9% 198,250           9,530               4.8%
Fairfield 144,217           17,096             11.9% 151,338           13,930             9.2%
Franklin 1,155,599        208,639           18.1% 1,260,187        197,950           15.7%

Knox 57,517             8,180               14.2% 57,946             7,593               13.1%
Licking 162,994           19,567             12.0% 169,176           17,750             10.5%
Logan 45,036             7,151               15.9% 44,753             5,090               11.4%

Madison 38,501             4,235               11.0% 38,609             3,518               9.1%
Marion 60,222             11,170             18.5% 59,343             8,790               14.8%

Morrow 34,312             4,677               13.6% 34,664             3,363               9.7%
Pickaway 51,251             6,829               13.3% 53,003             6,431               12.1%

Union 49,153             3,844               7.8% 53,341             3,143               5.9%
Total 1,973,786        299,958           15.2% 2,120,610        277,088           13.1%



 
 

Page 10 

 

 
Notably, the negative economic impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic impacted nonwhite 
residents most acutely. Nationally, 41% of Black-owned businesses closed from February to 
April 2020, compared to 32% of Latinx-owned businesses, 26% of Asian-owned 
businesses, and 17% of white-owned businesses (source: Stanford Institute for Economic 
Policy Research). 
 
Macroeconomic Statistics 
 
On a county level, the largest economies in the Region by GRP (greater than $4 billion) are 
Delaware, Fairfield, Franklin, Licking, and Union. Only one county (Delaware) has a higher 
cost of living index than Franklin County. Notably, Franklin and Union Counties have higher 
levels of exports than imports, reflecting their relatively high levels of advanced 
manufacturing. 
 
Figure: Regional Macroeconomic Overview 

 
Source: Emsi 
 
From 2010 to 2019, Bureau of Labor Statistics data suggest a 17.1 percent increase in 
average annual employment in the region. While this strong growth, in part, reflects the 
recovery from the Great Recession, the Region is better positioned than most to weather 
economic downturns and recover more quickly. Significant employment in stable industries 
like health care, insurance, higher education, and state government; a prime location for 
logistics operations; world-class research institutions; and a diversity of industries all 
contribute to the region’s economic resilience. 
 
 
 
 

 Population 
(2020) 

Labor Force 
(Jul 2021) Jobs (2020) Cost of 

Living GRP Import   

Columbus Region 2,260,328 1,151,777 1,186,763 94.7 $142.99B $122.88   
Delaware County, OH 213,170 111,267 96,791 104.9 $12.33B $14.66   
Fairfield County, OH 159,465 78,055 48,392 92.9 $4.67B $8.26   
Franklin County, OH 1,334,655 698,464 819,908 100.0 $102.64B $75.22   
Knox County, OH 62,921 30,881 23,243 91.9 $2.31B $3.57   
Licking County, OH 179,028 90,036 76,150 92.9 $7.28B $10.48   
Logan County, OH 45,896 22,294 19,884 93.8 $2.00B $3.50   
Madison County, OH 45,206 20,670 19,381 94.7 $1.74B $3.89   
Marion County, OH 65,204 27,838 25,719 89.3 $2.61B $3.94   
Morrow County, OH 35,530 16,754 6,743 92.1 $723.13M $1.71   
Pickaway County, OH 58,894 26,291 15,757 91.0 $1.69B $4.17   
Union County, OH 60,360 29,227 34,795 98.6 $5.00B $7.04   

 



 
 

Page 11 

 

 
Figure: Trend of Jobs 

 
Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 
 
Infrastructure Assets That Relate to Economic Development 
The Columbus region is positioned as a fulcrum for distributing goods to the Eastern United 
States and Midwest. Its physical infrastructure is extensive and augments its close proximity 
to large markets (goods leaving Columbus can reach approximately 46 percent of the U.S. 
population within a 10-hour drive). 
 
Corporate offices are being built or rebuilt as infill projects in and near urban centers as well. 
There are also major employment centers that are continuing to add new businesses 
beyond urban centers across the region. Airports especially John Glenn Columbus 
International Airport and Rickenbacker International Airport as well as the Rickenbacker 
Intermodal Terminal, serve as key assets for logistics, distribution and warehousing. 
Additional sites serve as major centers of research and development, light manufacturing 
and warehousing. Additionally, there are major office parks combined with regional 
shopping centers. 
 
Notably, the Region has a significant advanced automotive industry cluster. This cluster is 
supported by all levels of government, universities, non-profit organizations, and a spectrum 
of private sector employers from microbusinesses to international companies with a strong 
presence in our region. These supporters include Honda Development and Manufacturing 
of America, the Transportation Research Center, The Ohio State University, the National 
Highway Transportation Safety Administration, and numerous others. The advanced 
automotive industry in the Columbus Region employs people from every county – rural and 
urban – and offers upward career mobility for individuals of all educational attainment levels 
– high school diploma and GED through PhD. 
 
 

County Jobs 2010 Jobs 2019  Jobs growth  
Population 

growth 
Delaware 72,153    90,527      22.7% 15.5%
Fairfield 39,029    44,048      12.4% 6.6%
Franklin 647,397  765,429    16.9% 11.7%
Knox 18,719    20,361      8.3% 0.6%
Licking 50,308    63,633      19.2% 4.6%
Logan 17,542    19,255      13.0% -0.7%
Madison 13,129    17,987      32.5% 3.2%
Marion 24,326    24,904      2.9% -2.5%
Morrow 4,738      5,448        10.6% 0.6%
Pickaway 13,787    13,913      1.8% 3.9%
Union 25,915    33,532      32.4% 9.6%
Total 927,043  1,099,037 17.1% 9.3%



 
 

Page 12 

 

 
Emerging or declining clusters/sectors 
 
Location Quotients (LQs) compare the relative concentration of an industry in a local 
economy with the average concentration seen at the national level. An LQ of 1.5 indicates 
that the local economy has 50 percent more jobs per capita in that industry than witnessed 
at the national level. An LQ of 1.0 indicates parity, and an LQ below 1 indicates a below-
average concentration. 
 
The bubble chart in the following section shows LQ by industry on the vertical axis. The 
horizontal axis shows the projected 5-year percentage growth for the industry, and the size 
of the bubble indicates the relative number of jobs in the industry. 
 
The graph’s quadrants each tell a different story. While sectors in the top-right quadrant are 
viewed as competitive and should be priorities for talent development, sectors to the bottom-
right (which are growing but have below-average concentrations) typically require special 
attention such as entrepreneurial assistance or new workforce training programs. 
 
Figure: Location Quotient vs. Change in Location Quotient by Sector 

 
Sources: Bureau of Labor Statistics, Emsi 
 
The Region has clear strengths in Management of Companies and Enterprises, 
Transportation and Warehousing, Government, and Utilities. The only major sector in the 
lower-right quadrant, Accommodation and Food Services, reflects increasing service-sector 
needs to support a growing population. 
 
The table below also reflects these trends, with the addition of relative salary levels, from 
relatively low (blue) to relatively high (green). Again, the region’s strengths stand out in 
Management of Companies and Enterprises, Transportation & Warehousing, 
Manufacturing, and Finance & Insurance. 
 
 



 
 

Page 13 

 

 
Figure: Employment, Location Quotient, and Average Salaries by Sector 

 
Housing 
The pattern of recent regional growth has changed compared with prior periods of 
expansion. Preferences and lifestyles of the growing number of older adults and young 
adults in the region are changing demand for housing. This changing demand, along with a 
shifting emphasis on the quality of life and cost-saving benefits of more compact 
development, have resulted in the most centralized and compact growth pattern the region 
has experienced in decades. Furthermore, the highly competitive real estate market and a 
persistently high poverty rate have led to more vulnerable groups struggling to find housing 
in neighborhoods of their choice. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
considers households paying 35% or more of their gross income in housing to be housing 
cost burdened. Most renters and homeowners making less than $35,000 in the region are 
housing cost burdened.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INDUSTRY 
2020 

EMPLOYMENT 2020 LQ 
2020 AVERAGE 

SALARY 

 Columbus Region 
Columbus 

Region Columbus US 
Utilities 4,608 1.13 $111,203 $115,944 
Construction 55,315 0.81 $63,745 $62,555 
Manufacturing 84,606 0.92 $67,091 $72,840 
Retail Trade 104,364 0.91 $34,458 $36,892 
Transportation & Warehousing 82,027 1.72 $52,590 $56,426 
Finance & Insurance 66,886 1.34 $94,668 $119,371 
Professional, Scientific, & Technical 
Services 70,001 0.87 $84,591 $102,933 
Management of Companies & Enterprises 37,112 2.15 $121,599 $132,560 
Administrative & Support & Waste 
Management & Remediation Services 74,547 1.05 $41,571 $45,449 
Health Care & Social Assistance 151,235 0.99 $52,145 $55,319 
Arts, Entertainment, & Recreation 15,364 0.92 $35,490 $45,229 
Accommodation & Food Services 81,332 0.96 $20,314 $23,196 
Government 192,349 1.07 $60,284 $59,776 
TOTAL 1,175,065  $57,253 $61,487 

 Source: Emsi, 2021.3               
 



 
 

Page 14 

 

 
Figure: Housing Cost Burden by Income Level 

 
Source: American Community Survey 
 
In 2020 MORPC, along with regional partners, released the Regional Housing Strategy 
(RHS). The RHS identified five core regional housing issues: 

1. Increased competition for homes, driven by increased population growth, a low rate of 
housing production, and lasting impacts from the Great Recession. 

2. Barriers limiting access to homes, including disparities in lending practices, creditworthiness, 
housing instability, and housing discrimination. 

3. Limited supply of homes priced for low-income households, as more homes are built at 
higher price points, the region loses some of its existing affordable options (including single-
family rentals and expiring subsidized housing), and demand for rental assistance continues 
to outweigh supply. 

4. Demand for more homes that serve a wider range of ages, abilities, and household sizes, 
which is growing as a result of the region’s changing demographics. This includes trends like 
the increasing racial and ethnic diversity in Central Ohio and the growing number of both 
older and younger adults in the region. 

5. Housing instability among Central Ohioans, as reflected in the region’s rates of cost-burden, 
evictions, homelessness, and homes in need of repair. 

Broadband and Internet Access 
 
Broadband access is a challenge for households throughout Central Ohio for several 
reasons. Rural areas still face significant infrastructure gaps, and in urban and suburban 

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

120.0%

Less  than
$10,000

$10,000 to
$19,999

$20,000 to
$34,999

$35,000 to
$49,999

$50,000 to
$74,999

$75,000 to
$99,999

$100,000 or
more

Owner-Occupied Percent Cost Burdened (>30% of income spent on hous ing costs )

Renter-Occupied Percent Cost Burdened (>30% of income spent on hous ing costs )



 
 

Page 15 

 

communities where broadband infrastructure is nearly ubiquitous, affordability and adoption 
hurdles exist for some residents. In 2019 in some of the region’s most rural counties, nearly 
one in five households lacked home internet. In Franklin County, one in ten had no home 
internet. Among households that have home internet, there are disparities in connection 
speed and in access to appropriate devices. An analysis of Columbus broadband 
challenges produced by AECOM suggests that there are geographical disparities in internet 
speed, which can be a limiting factor in how effectively home internet can be used for things 
like remote school, telework, or telehealth. 
 
Figure: Households with No Internet Access (2019) 

 
Source: American Community Survey 
 
Lack of broadband disproportionately impacts low-income households. Nearly 40% of 
households with an annual income less than $35,000 are without broadband. Lack of home 
internet is also prevalent in older adult households. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Page 16 

 

 
Figure: Internet Subscription Levels by Income Level 

 
Source: Emsi 
 
Economic Resilience and Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 
 
The Columbus Region CEDS highlights essential sectors and strengths that are key to 
economic resilience, while highlighting other needs and weaknesses that, if addressed, 
would better prepare the Region for economic shocks and displacement. Importantly, the 
pandemic has also exposed and exacerbated the inequalities that exist across and within 
our communities. 
 
In exploring the Columbus Region’s successes and challenges, topics around Diversity, 
Equity, and Inclusion were discussed. The Region has a long history of working to ensure 
that all segments of the population have access to quality programs and services needed to 
provide high-value job opportunities to all residents. This commitment to an ongoing 
conversation about this difficult but significant topic will continue and have ongoing benefits 
for regional economic resilience. 
 
The visions contained in the CEDS action plan, particularly the objectives around increased 
labor force utilization, are intended in part to address barriers faced by underserved urban 
and rural communities. To build resilience in our economy and communities, we are 
convening to build broad, inclusive growth and development across the region. 
 
COVID-19 Pandemic 
 
The Columbus Region CEDS process and development took place as the coronavirus 
pandemic continued to spread throughout the U.S. Many datasets provided in the summary 
background of the plan are reflective of the region’s economy prior to the pandemic, during 



 
 

Page 17 

 

a time of positive momentum in economic and population growth. MORPC is prepared to 
deliberately address economic vulnerabilities exposed by the pandemic and leverage key 
assets and partnerships to build economic prosperity and resilience. 
 
In 2021, MORPC and its partners released a series of policy briefs aimed at understanding 
regional recovery from the lingering and expected impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
These briefs are incorporated into this CEDS as Appendix A. 
 
The briefs provide a closer look at the status of the region before COVID-19, as well as the  
economic, social and growth impacts as a result of the pandemic – with analysis and 
insights on the medium- to long-term impacts.  
 
In some cases, the COVID-19 pandemic accelerated existing trends and issues – income 
inequality, housing instability and shifts to online retail. In other cases, new challenges for 
the region emerged – global supply chain shortages, historic unemployment, and social and 
physical isolation of communities. 
 
While some individuals and businesses bounced back quickly and even gained during the 
shutdowns, those who were already struggling the most were hardest hit. This includes  
households and businesses led by people of color and those with smaller budgets. Also, the 
leisure and hospitality sector lost nearly 50% of its employment in March and April 2020, 
and has only partially recovered that loss. Because this sector’s jobs are predominantly 
lower wage and lower skill, this is a particular concern. Other partners who worked on the 
briefs include: Franklin County; One Columbus; Regionomics; United Way of Central Ohio; 
the Human Services Chamber of Franklin County; and Franklin County Public Health. 
 
The policy brief topics are: 

• Economic and community development 
• Employment and small businesses 
• Housing 
• Social sector 
• Technology and broadband access 
• Transportation 
• Public health 

The briefs examine the most pressing issues for each topic. They draw on quantitative data 
from a range of sources, combined with qualitative data collected through interviews and 
focus groups. 
 
A distinguishing feature of the briefs is that they explain the long-term risks posed to 
community prosperity if the critical issues are not addressed, providing motivation for new 
funding decisions and policies to address health, racial and income disparities. 
 
 
 



 
 

Page 18 

 

 
Opportunity Zones 
 
Figure: Map of Columbus Region Opportunity Zones 

 
Source: Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
 
Opportunity Zones are an economic development tool that allows people to invest in 
distressed areas in the United States. Their purpose is to spur economic growth and job 
creation in low-income communities while providing tax benefits to investors. 
 
Opportunity Zones were created under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (Public Law No. 
115-97). Thousands of low-income communities in all 50 states, the District of Columbia and 
five U.S. territories are designated as Qualified Opportunity Zones. Taxpayers can invest in 
these zones through Qualified Opportunity Funds. 
 
The Columbus Region contains 52 opportunity zones covering over 97 square miles. 
Franklin County contains most of these zones at 43. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Page 19 

 

 
Figure: Columbus Region Opportunity Zones 

 
Source: Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
 
Opportunity zones are aligned with the goals of the CEDS. They are a key tool to increase 
and align community investments to support economic development. Boosting private 
investment in these areas has potential to address infrastructure and other barriers to labor 
force participation. 
 
University Centers 
 
The purpose of EDA’s University Center program is to enable institutions of higher 
education and consortia of institutions of higher education to establish and operate 
University Centers (UCs) specifically focused on leveraging university assets to build 
regional economic ecosystems that support innovation and high-growth entrepreneurship, 
resiliency and inclusiveness. By responding to the economic development needs of their 
regions, University Center programs are demand-driven by nature. Historically, UCs have 
been leaders in promoting and facilitating economic development in their regions. They 
have been among the first to recognize emerging technical assistance needs. 
 
The Columbus Region is covered in part by the Rural Universities Consortium (RUC). 
Bowling Green State University’s (BGSU) Center for Regional Development (CRD) and 
Ohio University’s (OU) Voinovich School of Leadership and Public Affairs comprise a joint 
University Center known as the RUC. EDA's funding allows the Center for Regional 
Development to partner with economic developers and businesses on expansion and 
attraction projects, particularly in underserved rural communities. (source: Economic 
Development Administration) 
 
Incorporation of Other Plans and Strategies 
 
MORPC, both as a regional leader and in its role as the Columbus Region’s 
Metropolitan Transportation Organization (MPO) and Regional Council, regularly 
produces planning documents covering surface transportation, mobility, public 

County
# of 
OZs

Area 
(sq. mi.)

Fairfield 2 1.95
Franklin 43 71.56
Knox 1 2.69
Licking 2 5.53
Logan 1 1.31
Marion 1 0.35
Pickaway 1 5.36
Union 1 8.28
Total 52 97.04



 
 

Page 20 

 

infrastructure, economic development, and community development priorities. These 
plans, program, and initiatives each involve months or years of continuing 
stakeholder engagement, modeling, and evaluation. 
 
The following plans are reflected throughout the CEDS and serve to expand on key 
concepts and strategies. 
 

• 2020-2050 Metropolitan Transportation Plan 
o Long-range MPO planning document 

• 2021-2024 Transportation Improvement Program 
o Short-range MPO planning document 

• Competitive Advantage Projects 
o Initiative to advance strategic infrastructure investments across the 

Region 
• Central Ohio Rural Planning Organization (CORPO) 

o Partnership with seven counties in the nonmetropolitan areas of our 
region to provide transportation planning products and services 

o CORPO also produces long-and short-range transportation planning 
documents reflecting the unique transportation needs of its counties 

• Regional Housing Strategy 
o MORPC, the City of Columbus, and other regional partners released a 

first-of-its-kind housing strategy for Central Ohio 
• Regional Mobility Plan (to be released in 2021) 

o The Regional Mobility Plan will identify local transportation needs of 
people with disabilities, older adults, and those with low incomes 

• Insight2050 (2014-present)  
o Study of growth in region that considers demographic and 

development trends to bring forward strategies for future regional 
growth 

• Rickenbacker Area Study (2018) 
o Study providing recommendations to position the Rickenbacker area 

as a complete community, as well as a successful international 
logistics hub 

• Sustainable2050 
o Program to support MORPC members’ sustainability efforts through 

direct technical assistance, collaboration, and recognition 
• Rapid Speed Transportation Initiative (Midwest Connect) 

o Initiative focused on improving connectivity to Chicago and Pittsburgh 
through exploration of two transportation technologies, including 
traditional passenger rail and hyperloop 

 
 



 
 

Page 21 

 

• Rapid 5 
o A collaboration of MORPC, the Urban Land Institute of Columbus, 

Columbus and Franklin County Metro Parks, and many public and 
private partners throughout Central Ohio, with the goal of connecting 
our region’s major waterways and trails into one interconnected, 
greenspace system 

  



 
 

Page 22 

 

Section 2: SWOT Analysis 
 

The following section provides a summary of the Columbus Region’s strengths, weaknesses 
(challenges), opportunities and threats (SWOT). The SWOT Analysis draws conclusions 
from the data analysis in the Summary Background, the Strategy Committee, tours of the 
Region, outside advisors’ national perspectives and expertise, staff observations, and 
extensive input from regional representatives who participated in discussions and 
interviews. 
 
Strengths 

• Economic development leadership, led by One Columbus and Jobs Ohio 
• The Columbus Region is younger and more educated than the national average, leading 

Ohio and the Midwest in both population and millennial growth 
• Relatively low cost of living and business expense 
• Robust workforce institutions with mature training programs and sector partnerships 
• Significant regional headquarters presence 
• Strong manufacturing sector 
• The Region is positioned at the forefront of transportation and logistics, including advanced 

automotive manufacturing, research, and development (CASE: Connected, Autonomous, 
Shared, and Electrified vehicles) 

• Growing entrepreneurial, venture capital, and innovation economies 
• Mature ‘smart city’ strategies including smart mobility and energy 
• The Columbus Region is home to 62 college and university campuses supporting a large and 

increasing pipeline of graduates, as well as an adult population that is more educated than 
the national average. 

o These institutions support a large and increasing pipeline of in-demand, tech savvy 
graduates 

o The Ohio State University is a primary partner of the community for research in nearly 
every science and technology-driven industry 

• The Region has a strength in logistics, featuring greater access to the U.S. market within a 
10-hour drive than any other major metro, multiple rail terminals, and Rickenbacker 
International Airport 

• Rickenbacker International Airport is one of the world’s only cargo-focused airports located 
near a major metropolitan area with room and plans in place for continued growth 

• Mild climate with relatively low risk of natural disasters 
• Strong site inventory and site development capabilities 
• Highly collaborative, engaged, interconnected culture around growth strategies – public and 

private (Columbus Way) 

Weaknesses 
• Underutilized labor force – lack of access to credential and skill development opportunities 

across the Region 
• Lack of coordinated support for small business development 
• The skills and wage gaps between economically distressed and affluent areas of the Region 

are persistent 



 
 

Page 23 

 

• Lower immigration numbers than other growing metropolitan areas 
• There is inconsistent utility supply coverage across the region, including natural gas and 

water 
• Lack of mobility options, particularly in rural counties 
• Need for more manufacturing – the regional economy is relatively services-heavy 
• Lack of EDA-funded Revolving Loan Funds (RLF) – there is only one in the Region 
• The Region lacks diverse multi-modal mobility options that support industry and mitigate the 

financial and time burden of worker and student commutes. 
• Housing access and affordability 
• There are gaps to uniform broadband access across the region for residents and businesses. 
• The Columbus Region does not have direct flights to Europe or Asia 

Opportunities 
• Growth in programs to provide needed skills and credentials, including: 

o Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics 
o Commercial and freight drivers (CDL) 
o Startup and entrepreneurial talent 
o Registered Nurses 
o Software developers 

• Regional leaders must regularly measure and address structural issues that have led to an 
equity gap with broad impacts for residents and businesses 

• It will be necessary to become far more diverse, engaging across rural and urban areas and 
minority communities, while also attracting talent from across the world 

• Improvement and promotion of vocational and skilled trade educational opportunities will 
improve labor market access and efficiency 

• Build on key sector strengths, including: 
o Management of Companies and Enterprises 
o Automotive 
o Fintech and insurtech 
o Logistics 
o Diverse manufacturing sector 
o Additional warehousing 
o Additional data centers 

• Capitalize on emerging sectors, including 
o Electric vehicles, batteries, and other innovative energy technologies 
o Smart mobility and advanced automotive manufacturing 
o Technology and venture capital 

• Create synergies between higher education and workforce training 
• There is potential for significant growth in cargo capacity at Rickenbacker International 

Airport and in warehousing capacity and technology in the surrounding logistics hub 
• The Region must bring forward transportation access options on par with other leading 

national and global regions 
• As the Columbus Region continues to grow economically, its air service within the U.S. and 

internationally will likely improve 



 
 

Page 24 

 

Threats 
• Employers are demanding a more skilled workforce, a trend that is increasingly true 

regardless of industry or vocation 
• Immigration policies limit the region’s ability to capture the value of the talented international 

student population within the area over the long term, especially STEM graduates 
• The Region must remove barriers to international immigration and workforce attraction 

wherever possible 
• The gap between communities that are thriving and those that are impoverished within the 

Region threatens regional prosperity 
• We must meet the challenges presented by automation 
• The Region’s advanced automotive cluster must respond as industry shifts towards electric 

and autonomous vehicles and away from traditional combustion engines 
o These shifts in the automotive manufacturing, research, and development industry 

could lead to highly detrimental outcomes for the workforce and the economy broadly 
in the Region if not addressed 

• A lack of skilled workers could create a competitive disadvantage for the Columbus Region 
as is seeks to secure additional investment and jobs from existing companies and those 
considering the area for new facilities 

• Significant challenges to housing access and affordability across the region 
• There is a need for greater regional alignment to create a globally competitive multimodal 

mobility system 
• Relative lack of manufacturing exposes the region to service industry shocks 
• The higher education system is being challenged to not only deliver a talented workforce, but 

also comprehensive research 
• Government entities are undergoing a massive shift in technologies to serve citizens and to 

achieve status as smart cities 

 
 
  



 
 

Page 25 

 

Section 3: CEDS Action Plan 
 

Responses derived from the SWOT analysis led to the creation of overarching goals to align 
the Region’s economic development capacity and support prosperous communities. First, 
the Region must continue to support and align around the efforts of economic development 
leaders, including One Columbus and JobsOhio. 
 
Next, to reach a higher degree of economic prosperity, the region must address labor force 
access barriers to allow for all people, no matter income, race/ethnicity, or social 
characteristics, to have opportunities towards building wealth and economic stability and 
mobility. These barriers include housing affordability and access, broadband access, 
mobility, childcare, and dependent care. 
 
Finally, we must maintain and extend our world-class infrastructure investments to drive 
continued growth and opportunity for all regional communities. 
 
Vision 1: Build on Economic Development Success 
 
This vision is aligned with and supportive of the One Columbus strategic plan (2019), which 
itself was based on hundreds of meetings, conversations, and forums across the Region. 
The One Columbus strategic plan is incorporated into the CEDS as Appendix B. 
 
Vision Statement 
The Region has experienced broad, sustained economic growth since the Great Recession. 
Regional stakeholders must continue to support our economic development leaders and 
build long-term economic resilience through growth and diversification. 
 
Goals 
Goal 1: Maintain and build on competitive advantages 

• Serve existing businesses: Create the most competitive economic base in the United 
States 

• Attract new businesses: Create the most diverse employment and tax base in the 
United States 

• Support entrepreneurship and accelerate high-growth firms: Create a seamless 
continuum of services for venture-backed startups and high-growth firms to scale 
within the Columbus Region 

Goal 2: Align regional strategies to support strategic growth priorities 
• Prepare communities for the future: Become the most prepared area in the United 

States for growth and investment 
• Increase global trade and investment: Lead our peer regions in foreign investment 

and export growth 
• Market and promote the Columbus Region globally: Become known as the most 

prosperous economy in the United States 



 
 

Page 26 

 

• Priority Economic Sectors: To increase employment and overall payroll in each 
economic sector over the next decade, we will focus on these key industries: 

o Manufacturing  
o Research & development 
o HQ & business services 
o Logistics  
o Automotive innovation 

Goal 3: Leverage the collaborative, interconnected culture to succeed 
• Align regional strategies: ensure that local and regional plans are contextualized with 

common challenges and opportunities 

Objectives 
Aligned with the One Columbus strategic plan, the objectives from 2020-2030 for 
Vision 1 are: 

• Add $3.3 billion of payroll in communities within the Columbus Region 
• Secure 60,000 net new jobs in the Columbus Region. Full-time jobs with benefits 

remain a powerful way to change lives and build sustainable communities 
• Attract $10 billion of capital investment to the Columbus Region from our economic 

base projects 

Key Partners 
One Columbus, JobsOhio, Delaware County Economic Development, Fairfield County 
Economic and Workforce Development, Franklin County Economic Development & 
Planning, Knox County Area Development Foundation, Inc., GROW Licking County, Logan 
County Chamber of Commerce, Madison County Chamber of Commerce, Marion CAN DO!, 
Morrow County Economic Development, Pickaway Progress Partnership (P3), Union 
County - Marysville Economic Development, Mid-Ohio Development Exchange, the 
Columbus Chamber of Commerce, Rev1 Ventures, Central Ohio Community Improvement 
Corporation, Future Ready Columbus, Columbus Council on World Affairs 
 
Vision 2: Increased Labor Force Utilization 
 
Vision Statement 
Addressing barriers to labor force participation, particularly for marginalized populations, will 
enable the region to build on its economic development leadership and contribute to 
prosperous communities. Three key priority areas are housing access, broadband access, 
mobility, and workforce re-entry. 
 
Goals and Objectives 
Goal 1: Increase housing affordability and access 

• Review green tape development trends 
• Offer more tenant-based rental assistance to address housing instability 
• Enact source of income protection laws 
• Create a State-level housing tax credit to support priority housing development 



 
 

Page 27 

 

• Create a pilot that supports the development of diverse, lower-cost housing products, 
leveraging innovative design and construction techniques 

Key Partners: Affordable Housing Alliance of Central Ohio, Affordable Housing 
Trust, Building Industry Association of Central Ohio, regional transit authorities, 
Columbus Metropolitan Housing Authority, Columbus Urban League, regional 
community improvement corporations, Ohio Capital Corporation for Housing, 
Ohio Housing Finance Authority 

 
Goal 2: Enable high-speed broadband internet access for the significant portion of our 
regional population that lacks it 

• Increase the number of affordable, reliable, high-speed internet options for residents 
and businesses in underserved areas 

• Invest in innovative broadband access approaches 
• Support digital literacy across the region, giving students and job-seekers the tools to 

seek out employment 

Key Partners: Columbus Metropolitan Library, regional library systems, National 
Digital Inclusion Alliance, Smart Columbus, The Columbus Foundation, 
Broadband Ohio, regional school systems, OhioMeansJobs, One Columbus 

 
Goal 3: Enhance mobility through innovative initiatives 

• Encourage electric vehicle (EV) adoption through investment in EV infrastructure and 
public engagement 

• Expand transit-oriented development (TOD) approaches across the region 
• Increase options for rural mobility, including for seniors and disabled residents 

Key Partners: Smart Columbus, Columbus Partnership, City of Columbus, Clean Fuels 
Ohio, regional transit authorities, and numerous public and private partners along transit-
oriented development corridors (e.g., businesses, local governments, etc.) 
 

Goal 4: Expand and Enhance Workforce Re-Entry Programs 
• Create a military transition program to assist veterans with seeking civilian 

employment after exiting the military 
• Develop a program to assist enhance the employability of those needing re-entry 

services 
• Consider launching a Back to Work 50 initiative through the AARP Foundation to re-

engage the older workforce who are unemployed or underemployed 
• Establish a “returnship” program to recapture the portion of the workforce that has 

been out of work for a significant amount of time and need exposure to the 
workplace to upskill for today’s in-demand occupations 

Key Partners: Smart Columbus, Columbus Partnership, Regional Employers, AARP 
Foundation, Recovery Services Organizations, Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and 
Correction, Regional Jail Systems, Veterans Service Organizations 

 



 
 

Page 28 

 

Vision 3: Increased and Aligned Infrastructure Investment 
 
Vision Statement 
We must continue to identify and prioritize key infrastructure investments that prepare 
regional communities for continued economic and community development. 
 
Goals and Objectives 
Goal 1: Prioritize supportive infrastructure projects 

• Improve regional coordination of priority infrastructure projects 
• Identify trends in infrastructure needs related to economic development across the 

Region 

Goal 2: Increase regional infrastructure investment 
• Obtain new funding for prioritized projects 
• Encourage new state and federal programs to increase and align infrastructure 

investment related to economic development 

Key Partners 
Regional county engineers, Ohio Department of Transportation, Ohio Department of 
Development, regional water and wastewater authorities, regional transit authorities, Central 
Ohio Greenways, utilities providers, Ohio Gas Access Partnership, Columbus Regional 
Airport Authority, railroad corporations 
  



 
 

Page 29 

 

Section 4: Evaluation Framework 
The evaluation framework serves as a mechanism to gauge progress on the successful 
implementation of the overall CEDS while providing information for ongoing monitoring. This 
monitoring keeps the strategic direction and action plan outlined in the CEDS current and 
relevant. 
 
Each vision identified in the action plan has a set of performance measures that can be 
monitored over time to achieve the objectives of the CEDS. 
 
Vision 1: Build on Economic Development Success 

• Net new jobs 
• Gross regional product 
• Relative gains in the tax base 
• Median wages 
• Racial employment and labor force participation 
• Community measures of housing opportunity 
• Educational attainment 
• Physical and economic mobility of the workforce 
• Venture capital investment 
• Patent development 

Vision 2: Increased Labor Force Utilization 
• Percent of 18- to 24-year-olds enrolled in a postsecondary institution 
• Post-secondary education or high-quality credential attainment (all ages) 
• Solutions to barriers implementing STEM programs 
• Pre-K enrollment 
• Percent of 25- to 44-year-olds in the labor force 
• Households earning a livable wage 
• Solutions for reoccurring barriers for marginalized populations 
• Metrics around populations historically unemployed or underemployed 
• Performance metrics around existing or future workforce re-entry programs 

Vision 3: Increased and Aligned Infrastructure Investment 
• Average commute times 
• Vehicle miles traveled, transportation system efficiency 
• Public transit and alternative mode commuting patterns 
• Cost of transportation as a percentage of income 
• Number of airline seats and routes from regional airports 
• Broadband access and affordability 
• Water supply and treatment investments 

  



 
 

Page 30 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Appendix A 
Covid-19 Policy Briefs 

  



1Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development

ECONOMIC & COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT
Summary
In the years leading up to the pandemic, the Central Ohio region experienced strong economic recovery 
following the Great Recession. There was strong growth in population and jobs, as Central Ohio retained 
diverse large employers and continued to attract new ones. The Columbus Metropolitan Statistical Area 
(MSA) added 190,000 jobs and 220,000 people from 2010 to 2019. 

This growth led to capital investment in premium office space, retail, and industrial development. Growth 
was encouraged by private-public focus on amenity-rich development to help attract and retain young 
professionals to support economic development. Recovery did not occur without some challenges, namely 
aging real estate, workforce shortages, and a growing e-commerce market share.

The COVID-19 pandemic brought about massive economic disruptions, some that will have lasting 
effects. Both consumer and business reactions to the limitations introduced by pandemic disruptions 
accelerated some trends and reversed others. In many cases, these disruptions were accelerations of 
trends that were already occurring.

Key Issues

Remote work has become a more viable option for employers, putting the future of office 
work in question. 

Consumer spending has shifted toward the home and home-based activities, and e-
commerce is booming, which impacts retail economies at the regional, community, and 
neighborhood scale. Black-owned businesses in Ohio were impacted disproportionately, 
which may point to stronger impacts on retail economies in majority-Black 
neighborhoods. 

Dramatic halts to overseas production and transportation bottlenecks have companies 
reimagining supply chains and logistics for their businesses. 

The challenges of many Central Ohio residents in juggling childcare, transportation, and 
employment have been magnified by the pandemic, bringing about clearer perspectives 
around workforce shortages in the region. The labor force challenges are especially 
acute for non-white single mothers. 



FUTURE OF OFFICE WORK
Office development is sensitive to trends in organizational culture. The recent 
trend in office work leading up to the pandemic was an employer focus on 
developing a strong employee culture, with an emphasis on collaboration-
focused office space that supports high performance teams. This led to a shift 
toward production of premium-quality office environments with a higher price 
tag, a step above in quality compared to typical Class A office space.

The pandemic and stay at home orders prompted many employers to 
shift to widespread telework, especially for office employees. While office 
construction projects in the works have continued to move forward, in 2020, 
the Columbus market experienced 730,000 square feet of negative net 
absorption of office real estate, ending the year with an office vacancy rate 
of 8.0% (compared with 6.8% at the end of 2019). According to NAI Ohio 
Equities, this is the first twelve-month negative net absorption in a decade in 
the Columbus market (Figure 1).1,2 This indicates that, in addition to business 
closures, some employers are opting out of lease renewals or downsizing 
office space after seeing their remote teams performing well.

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development 2

Figure 1. Office Net 
Absorption 

Comparable MSAs 2020 
Yearly Total

In addition to the impacts on 
commercial real estate and the 
future of office development, 
there are implications for local 
tax revenue streams. According 
to research from the Brookings 
Institution, 76% of the general 
fund in Columbus comes from 
income taxes paid by 
employees working within the 
municipal boundaries.3 In 2018, 
a net of 21.5% of people 
working in the city of Columbus 
commuted in from surrounding 
communities.4 Some number of 
the 305,000 commuters have 
worked from home since the 
pandemic onset. The Ohio 
State Legislature has 
introduced some short-term 
legislation to temporarily 
stabilize municipal income tax 
revenue as many office 
workers' primary work locations 
have shifted to their 
communities of residence.5 
Long-term voluntary shifts to 
remote work would not, 
however, be sheltered by such 
emergency legislation, which 
could have lasting impacts on 
the primary revenue stream in 
the City of Columbus.



3Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development

Columbus is not the only municipality in the region that is vulnerable to these shifts. Suburbs that are heavily office-
oriented and have a net inflow of workers could also suffer a net loss of revenue. Key examples include Dublin, with a net 
inflow of 22,645 (49% of total employment); Worthington (net inflow of 10,618, 59%); and New Albany (net inflow of 
13,912, 76%).

Locally, the precise extent of the shift to telework is not clear. In the whole State of Ohio, household surveys conducted 
by the U.S. Census Bureau indicate that more than 30% of households had some adults working remotely nearing the 
end of 2020. With 820,000 households in the Columbus Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA), this suggests that 250,000 
Central Ohio households had at least one worker engaged in remote work in the end of 2020. That means that more than 
20% of the region’s workforce was working remotely at the end of 2020. By comparison, in 2019, 5% of the workforce, or 
60,000 people, worked remotely. While the region has experienced some gradual increase in the remote work trend over 
the last decade, 2020 was a huge acceleration (Figure 2).

The long-term permanence of the recent expansion of telework remains in question. Based on conversations between 
One Columbus staff and Central Ohio employers, there will be some permanent shifts to remote work for at least some 
staff. A December 2020 survey of 1,000 hiring managers by Upwork found that by 2025, the number of remote workers 
could be 87% higher than before the pandemic. Employers, however, are also considering the challenges of maintaining 
culture in the long run, especially as firms bring on new hires.

Organizational culture will be an important consideration in the return to office work. There are shifting expectations and 
work norms for individuals that come along with remote work, especially roles that have been traditionally conducted 
‘face-to-face.’ While the convenience of changing meetings with the click of a mouse, for instance, may have real 
productivity value for organizations, this sort of insidious efficiency has real costs for employees who find themselves 
fixed to a single spot in a steady stream of meetings. Beyond the toll on individuals, the diminished likelihood of 
encountering anyone outside of scheduled meetings has a hard-to-quantify, yet still important opportunity cost, 
associated with the lack of informal networking, both within and between organizations.

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

250k

200k

150k

100k

50k

0k

Figure 2. Remote Workers 
Columbus MSA

2010-2020, Annual

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau 1-year American Community Survey;
U.S. Census Bureau Household Pulse Survey



CONSUMER SPENDING & RETAIL ECONOMY

Leading into 2020, Central Ohio was experiencing growth in commercial development across many categories. 
Commercial real estate development was trending toward high quality office space, hospitality, and high-quality ‘lifestyle’ 
mixed-use development with retail and amenities supporting diverse pools of customers—both residential and worker 
populations, as well as tourists and other visitors. Before the pandemic, pressure on single-use brick and mortar retail 
was mounting from e-commerce 
and apparent shifts in consumer 
preferences.

The pandemic added to the pressure 
from e-commerce on all retail, and 
especially traditional, aging brick and 
mortar retail styles like indoor malls 
and strip retail. In-store spending, also 
referred to as “offline” spending, took 
a major hit beginning with the stay-at-
home orders in March 2020. Growth 
in online shopping persisted even 
as establishments began to reopen. 
Offline spending has declined locally 
by anywhere from about 15% to 
40% each month. Meanwhile, online 
spending has grown consistently by 
more than 30% each month since May 
2020 (Figure 3).

Beyond the acceleration of 
e-commerce, overall spending was
down through 2020. In the state
of Ohio, spending in middle- and
especially high-income ZIP codes took
much longer to rebound. Evidenced
by the sectors with the greatest
spending declines, high- and middle-
income households are more likely to
include office workers, which led to
deeper cuts in overhead spending for
households with the ability to work from
home, paired with greater reductions to
discretionary spending on recreation,
leisure, and travel (Figure 4).

Conversely, low-wage earners are 
less likely to have remote work options 
and have less discretionary income, 
resulting in limited opportunity to 
reduce spending. In fact, Ohioans in 
low-income ZIP codes experienced 
a modest increase in household 
spending, which might be attributable 
to costs associated with seeking new 
employment, navigating the changing 
availability of resources like childcare 
and transportation, and to federal 
interventions like recovery checks and 
increased unemployment benefits.6,7

4Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development

Figure 3. Online v. Offline Consumer 
Spending (Columbus MSA)
2019-2020, Weekly

Figure 4. Consumer Spending by  
Income (Ohio)
2020-2021, Daily

CONSUMER SPENDING & RETAIL ECONOMY



5

With the second round of federal stimulus payments, 
along with vaccine rollouts beginning in early 2021, 
spending began showing modest gains across income 
levels. As the vaccine rollout progresses, consumers with 
unspent discretionary spending budgets may react with 
more pronounced increases in overall spending in the 
coming year in sectors that are, by definition, offline (e.g., 
recreation, leisure, and travel). Other types of spending 
that support office employees’ in-person work (e.g., 
fuel, clothing, and personal care) are likely to rebound 
dependently, and therefore concurrently, with employer 
decisions to return to in-person work.

While no regionwide neighborhood-level data analysis has 
been completed to demonstrate, there is strong anecdotal 
evidence to support that neighborhood retail economies 
were most impacted in places that rely on daytime worker 
populations or recreational and nightlife attractions, 
notably downtown Columbus. Neighborhoods with a 
strong local resident customer base, and especially those 
with more modern-style mixed-use retail have remained 
more stable. The rebound of worker-dependent 
neighborhood economies will depend upon vaccine rollout 
and patterns of employer decisions to return to in-person 
work (Figure 5).

According to a national study by the Federal Reserve 
Bank of New York, evidence suggests a greater impact on 
Black-owned businesses, including small retailers.8 
According to the study, these businesses tend to be in 
majority-Black neighborhoods, which were also among 
those hit hardest by COVID-19 illness. The study cites 
structural reasons for the disparate impacts on Black-
owned businesses, including lack of wealth and weak 
banking relationships. In the State of Ohio, Black business 
ownership fell 35% from February to June 2020 (Figure 6).

By the end of the third quarter 2020, the Columbus retail 
commercial market experienced twelve-month negative 
net absorption of 264,000 square feet. This began to 
rebound with some positive gains in the fourth quarter. 
The surplus in retail space will impact new capital 
investments as existing retail rebounds. The cadence of 
this rebound depends on a few key factors – recovery of 
overall consumer spending, vaccine rollout, and the rate of 
return to in-person work – and will vary from neighborhood 
to neighborhood.

% Difference
2019 - 2020

Online 
Retailers

Figure 5. Retail Sales by Industry
United States
2019 & 2020 Annual Comparison
SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau Monthly Retail Sales

Building &
Garden

General 
Merchandise

Health & 
Personal Care

Motor Vehicles
& Parts

Groceries

Hobbies

Electronics &
Appliances

Clothing &
Accessories

Miscellaneous

Furniture

Gas Stations

Restaurants

Figure 6. Black-Owned Businesses
States with the Greatest Number of 
Black-Owned Businesses
February 2020 & June 2020 
Comparison

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau, 
Current Population Survey

FL
32.3%

CA
3.8%

IL
-5.7%

GA
-8.6%

TX
-12.4%

OH
-35.8%

NY
-70.1%

NC
-18.0%



LOGISTICS & SUPPLY CHAIN
Ohio relies on overseas production of key commodities including oil, manufacturing components (e.g., vehicle 
components, metals), health care necessities (e.g., pharmaceuticals, medical supplies) and direct-to-consumer products 
(e.g., personal care items, computers).9 For years, China had been the number one country of origin for imported goods 
into Ohio; however, changes in global trade policies were beginning to increase diversification of import origins, even 
before the pandemic. By 2019, Canada replaced China as the leading country of origin for imports to Ohio (Figure 7).

Nationally, the overall dollar amount of international imports was increasing, pre-pandemic, fueled in part by growing 
e-commerce. In the United States, the e-commerce retail sales market quadrupled from 2010 to early 2020—from $40
billion (about $120 per person in the US) to $160 billion (about $490 per person in the US). When the pandemic hit,
e-commerce sales jumped over 30% in a single quarter to $210 billion (about $650 per person in the US). Locally, non-
store retailer sales similarly jumped 30%, marking a sudden acceleration in a long, but previously gradual upward trend.10

Whether from offshore suppliers or domestic, the abrupt increase in e-commerce demand, sudden global production 
slowdowns, and shifting logistics patterns catalyzed some dramatic shifts for businesses, and the public resources that 
support transportation and logistics.

For instance, commercial air cargo comes through both Rickenbacker International Airport and John Glenn International 
Airport. Before the pandemic, half of global air freight capacity was within the bellies of passenger planes, particularly 
international routes. When international passenger travel came to a halt with pandemic restrictions and reduced business 
demand, cargo capacity was significantly reduced. As a result, cargo prices went up and cargo activity shifted. Some 
passenger aircraft were modified to handle cargo exclusively. For the last half of 2020, these converted aircraft were the 
predominant type of freighter seen at Rickenbacker. 

Some of the earliest signs of the pandemic’s impact became evident in January and February 2020 as air cargo from 
Asia nearly ceased when factories shutdown. However, when factories reopened in Asia, including production facilities for 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), demand surged for air cargo. Rickenbacker was one of the first dedicated airports 
for Federal Emergency Management Agency relief flights to bring PPE supplies into the country. 

6Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development

Figure 7. Ohio Commodity Imports 
Top 10 Countries of Origin

2017 - 2020, Annual



7Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development

After the PPE supply chain had stabilized, consumer spending began to rebound. Computers, office furniture, and the 
like filled cargo flights. A huge backlog of consumer products were then coming via air instead of ocean to meet demand. 
Ocean capacity has also been backlogged because of the rapid shift from shutdown to high production of a variety of 
goods produced offshore. Because assembly factories have been waiting for parts produced offshore, businesses have 
accelerated delivery and shipped more components and goods via air (Figure 8).

“The world is going through a reimagining of supply chain resiliency,” said one interviewee from the Columbus Regional 
Airport Authority. Demand for warehouse space, the interviewee suggests, has increased because US companies want 
more inventory stateside to avoid goods being stuck overseas. Various industries are considering re-shoring more 
supplies, especially medical supplies. 

Indeed, industrial real estate has reflected the increased demand for warehouse space. According to NAI Ohio Equities, 
2020 saw 3.3 million square feet of positive net absorption for industrial real estate (which includes warehouse and 
manufacturing). Industrial construction has also seen record-breaking activity. In 2020, 11.2 million square feet of 
industrial space was added, far above any year in the past decade (Figure 9). Partly, this reflects the e-commerce boom. 
According to NAI, 20% of industrial real estate activity is from Amazon distribution facility lease activity alone. It also may 
reflect businesses seeking to stockpile resources onshore to avoid supply chain pinch points.1

Whether diversifying supply chain sources, importing and storing essential supplies in greater volumes locally, or exploring 
local manufacturing options, there will be important conversations in the coming years between the private and public 
sectors about employer needs, and the impacts on Central Ohio land use, resident employment opportunities, and 
transportation systems.

Figure 8. Air Cargo
Rickenbacker International & John Glenn International Airports

2019 - 2020, Monthly

Figure 9. Industrial Square Feet Completed 
Columbus MSA

2010 - 2020, Annual



WORKFORCE SHORTAGES
Workforce shortages were a key concern reported by employers before the pandemic. In the years following the Great 
Recession, Columbus had experienced a gradual but steady increase in the region’s labor force. Despite the expanding 
labor force, employers reported challenges finding workers with the skillsets to match vacant positions.

The pandemic had massive impacts on employment (discussed in detail in the Employment & Small Business brief), 
along with a significant drop in hiring. By the week ending on May 8, 2020, there were 50% fewer job postings than in 
January of the same year. By late February of 2021, overall hiring was still 12% lower than in January 2020. Broken 
down by the educational requirements for vacancies, however, those with lower educational requirements rebounded 
more quickly, with a few distinct spikes in postings. The greatest of these spikes was in late June 2020, when unfilled 
vacancies with minimal educational requirements were 43% higher than they were at the start of the year. These 
positions are reflective of a surge in demand for workers in logistics and transportation, at least partly driven by the surge 
in e-commerce (Figures 10 & 11).

8Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development

Figure 12. Labor Force 
Columbus MSA

2010 - 2021, Monthly

Figure 10. Job Postings 
by Industry 

Columbus MSA
2020 - 2021, Monthly

Figure 11. Job Postings 
by Education Requirements 

Columbus MSA
2020 - 2021, Weekly



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Economic & Community Development 9 

With high unemployment, the workforce challenges employers are experiencing seem almost contradictory. Based on 
conversations between One Columbus staff and Central Ohio employers, staff turnover is a big issue, as employees deal 
with childcare and transportation issues. Many employers are increasing wages, which has increased their geographic 
reach—employees are willing to travel farther for higher wages—but they are still struggling to hire and retain, even 
temporary workers. 

Local employers’ experiences mirror a national trend — a major drop in labor force participation that is slow to recover to 
previous levels. After years of steady growth in the region’s labor force, March 2020 saw a 5% decline in a single month. 
Recovery of the labor force has been slow and uneven (Figure 12). Nationally, the data suggests that dropping out of the 
labor force is more likely to affect households with children, women, workers without a college degree, and Black and 
Latinx workers.12 Barriers also exist for office workers or families conducting remote school who live in locations with poor 
or no broadband access (an issue discussed in more detail in the Technology & Broadband Access brief). 

Another national analysis from the U.S. Census Bureau points out that mothers, especially non-white single mothers, 
have disproportionately fallen out of the labor force since the pandemic emerged. Mothers are more likely to work in 
service industry jobs, which were more impacted by the pandemic, and they are more likely to carry the burden of unpaid 
domestic labor, demands that have been intensified by the reduced availability of childcare and in-person school.13

The increasing demand for essential workers reflects an adjustment to a rapidly shifting ecosystem of consumer behavior. 
This paired with increased barriers to accessing employment for the people who are more likely to fill those positions is a 
recipe for exacerbated workforce shortages in Central Ohio. Employers are eager to bring in the workforce they need and 
are taking a range steps to attract and retain staff including increasing wages, expanding job advertising, and considering 
employee supports around childcare. 

Fu
nd

er
s 

1. NAI OHIO EQUITIES. (2020). COLUMBUS 2020 Q4 MARKET TRENDS. COLUMBUS, OH:  AUTHOR. RETRIEVED FROM.
https://www.ohioequities.com/marketing/marketreports/2020/nai_ohio_equities_2020q4.pdf 

2. NAI OHIO EQUITIES. (2019). COLUMBUS 2019 Q4 MARKET TRENDS. COLUMBUS, OH: AUTHOR. RETRIEVED FROM 
https://www.ohioequities.com/marketing/marketreports/2019/nai_ohio_equities_2019q4.pdf 

3. PAGANO, M. & MCFARLAND, C. (2020, MARCH 31). WHEN WILL YOUR CITY FEEL THE FISCAL IMPACT OF COVID-19? BROOKINGS. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.brookings.edu/blog/the-avenue/2020/03/31/when-will-your-city-feel-the-fiscal-impact-of-covid-19/ 

4. ON THE MAP. (2018, DECEMBER 8). RETRIEVED MARCH 10, 2021, FROM U.S. CENSUS BUREAU: https://onthemap.ces.census.gov/. 

5. TO REPEAL SECTION 29 OF H.B. 197 OF THE 133RD GENERAL ASSEMBLY TO MODIFY MUNICIPAL INCOME TAX EMPLOYER WITHHOLDING RULES 
FOR COVID-19-RELATED WORK-FROM-HOME EMPLOYEES. OH-S. 97, 134TH CONG., (2021). https://www.legislature.ohio.gov/legislation/legislation-
status?id=GA134-SB-97 

6. OZIMEK, A. (2020). ECONOMIST REPORT: FUTURE WORKFORCE. SANTA CLARA, CA: UPWORK. RETRIEVED FROM 
https://www.upwork.com/press/releases/upwork-study-finds-22-of-american-workforce-will-be-remote-by-2025 

7. COX, N., GANONG, P., NOEL, P., VAVRA, J., WONG, A., FARRELL, D., & GREIG, F. (2020). INITIAL IMPACTS OF THE PANDEMIC ON CONSUMER 
BEHAVIOR: EVIDENCE FROM LINKED INCOME, SPENDING, AND SAVINGS DATA (WORKING PAPER NO. 2020-82). BECKER FRIEDMAN INSTITUTE FOR 
ECONOMICS, UNIVERSITY OF CHICAGO. https://bfi.uchicago.edu/wp-content/uploads/BFI_WP_202082.pdf 

8. CHETTY, R., FRIEDMAN, J., HENDREN, N., & STEPNER, M. (2020). THE ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF COVID-19: EVIDENCE FROM A NEW PUBLIC 
DATABASE BUILT USING PRIVATE SECTOR DATA. OPPORTUNITY INSIGHTS AT HARVARD UNIVERSITY. https://opportunityinsights.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/tracker-summary.pdf 

9. KRAMER MILLS, C. & BATTISTO, J. (2020) DOUBLE JEOPARDY: COVID-19'S CONCENTRATED HEALTH AND WEALTH EFFECTS IN BLACK 
COMMUNITIES. FEDERAL RESERVE BANK OF NEW YORK. RETRIEVED FROM 
https://www.fedsmallbusiness.org/medialibrary/FedSmallBusiness/files/2020/DoubleJeopardy_COVID19andBlackOwnedBusinesses 

10. ADAPTED FROM U.S. CENSUS FOREIGN TRADE DATA. (2017-2020). STATE IMPORTS FOR OHIO [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.census.gov/foreign-trade/statistics/state/data/imports/oh.html 

11. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU, E-COMMERCE RETAIL SALES [ECOMSA], RETRIEVED FROM FRED, FEDERAL RESERVE BANK OF ST. LOUIS; 
https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/ECOMSA, MARCH 10, 2021. 

12. ATKINSON, T. & RICHTER, A. (2020, NOVEMBER 10). PANDEMIC DISPROPORTIONATELY AFFECTS WOMEN, MINORITY LABOR FORCE 
PARTICIPATION. FEDERAL RESERVE BANK OF DALLAS. https://www.dallasfed.org/research/economics/2020/1110 

13. HEGGENESS, M., FIELDS, J., GARCIA TREJO, Y. A., & SCHULZETENBERG, A. (2021, MARCH 3). TRACKING JOB LOSSES FOR MOTHERS OF SCHOOL-
AGE CHILDREN DURING A HEALTH CRISIS. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU.https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/03/moms-work-and-the-
pandemic.html?utm_campaign=20210303msacos2ccstors&utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery 

Columbus City Council 
The Columbus Foundation 

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 

REFERENCES 



1Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business

EMPLOYMENT & SMALL BUSINESS
Summary
Central Ohio experienced growth in employment that rivaled the national average in the 
years following the Great Recession. Strong growth overall, however, was not evenly felt 
across the region. Wages for employment, for instance, diverge widely across industry 
sectors, which meant that for some, the expense of working was not sufficiently offset by 
the earnings. This was especially challenging for working parents, with the high cost of 
childcare added to already distressed budgets. 

Overall, Central Ohioans were recovering their personal finances, which translated as 
more spending and contributions to the economic engines that drive employment growth. 
Small businesses, however, were struggling to compete with large national or global 
chains and a growing e-commerce market.

Key Issues
The COVID-19 pandemic initiated a historic economic collapse, including a rapid 14% 
employment decline in a single month. A recovery is in progress but is only partial.

The industry sectors hit hardest by the pandemic shutdowns were primarily those with the 
lowest average wages. This created financial peril for un- and underemployed Central 
Ohioans, especially those with already low earnings.

At the nexus of small business and supports for workers, the pandemic impact on 
childcare centers has the potential to create greater workforce challenges as childcare 
access and affordability are compromised.

The COVID-19 shutdowns prompted a jarring collapse in consumer confidence. This, 
paired with reduced consumer spending, has implications on overall growth of the 
economy.

Decreased consumer spending and weak confidence across the board created threats 
to an already weak small business environment. Small business closures, still a 
threat, will leave an indelible mark on both the region’s economy and communities.



RECOVERY FROM HISTORIC EMPLOYMENT COLLAPSE
Central Ohio employment grew by 23% between December 2009 and February 2020 – totaling 214,400 jobs, nearly 
one-third greater than the national average. This above-average growth was driven by key sectors including construction, 
finance and insurance, and healthcare.

Employment in the Columbus metro suffered a historic decline during the March and April 2020 lockdown. The 
employment collapse brought the region a total loss of 160,300 jobs (14.2%) (Figure 1). Leading this loss was leisure 
and hospitality – arts, entertainment, recreation, hotels, restaurants, and other food services. This sector lost nearly 
half its employment over that two-month span. In the Columbus MSA, leisure and hospitality accounted for 10% of total 
employment in February 2020, but its loss represented more than one-third of the total employment decline (Figure 2).

Although growth in succeeding months has been significant, employment as of January 2021 remained 47,000 (4.2%) 
below its February 2020 peak. While Central Ohio jobs have recovered faster than the country as a whole – U.S. 
employment in January 2021 remained 6.5% below February 2020 – it will still be many months before job totals return 
to their pre-pandemic levels.

2Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business

Nationally, no primary sector has recovered all of the jobs lost last March and April. Locally, the Regionomics® 
seasonally adjusted employment estimates show three sectors above their year-ago levels: construction, manufacturing, 
and transportation and utilities. January financial activities employment is equal to its February 2020 level. However, 
employment in the leisure and hospitality sector remains 26,000 (23%) lower than before the pandemic – a net loss 
comparable to the national average.

The Regionomics 2021 Columbus Economic Forecast predicts a year-over-year gain of 26,800 jobs (2.6%). That would 
be the largest gain since 2012, but it will leave December 2021 employment well below its February 2020 peak. This is 
consistent with national forecasts. The quarterly surveys of economists by the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and 
the National Association for Business Economics (NABE) both expect strengthening U.S. employment growth over the 
year, but neither panel expects a full employment recovery this year. Among the economists in the NABE survey, 65% do 
not expect this to occur until 2023 or later.

A related concern is the effect of long-term unemployment on workforce readiness and workers themselves. As discussed 
in a recent Harvard Business Review article,1 the long-term unemployed lose skills and the contacts who could help them 
regain employment, and suffer a range of psychological impacts. While no local statistics measuring unemployment 
duration exist, the number of people nationwide unemployed for more than 27 weeks has quadrupled from its year-ago 
level to more than 4 million. The share of all unemployed who have been without work for 27 weeks or more is now 41.5%, 
more than double the share from before the pandemic. This impact has fallen disproportionally on women: the percentage 
of women who are in the labor force is at its lowest level since 1987. Rather than the hoped for "V-shaped" recovery the 
disparities in long-term unemployment point to the reality of a "K-shaped" recovery, with many in the region experiencing 
more lasting economic struggles.

Some of the job dislocations from the pandemic will be permanent. Two-thirds of the economists in the NABE panel expect 
up to 5% of jobs to disappear permanently, while one-quarter expect the impact to be even larger – up to 15%. There will 
be a need for significant investment in retraining to address this dislocation and return these workers to the labor force.

Figure 2. Employment Gain, Loss, & Net Change
Columbus MSA & US

Apr 2020-Jan 2021, Comparison

Figure 1. Total Employment 
Columbus MSA & US
2010-2020, Monthly



3

FINANCIAL PERIL FOR UN- & UNDEREMPLOYED
Pandemic-related job losses have 
disproportionately impacted workers in lower-
wage industry sectors, particularly leisure 
and hospitality (the arts, recreation, hotels, 
and restaurants), and retail trade. Of the 
47,100 net jobs lost through January 2021 
in the Columbus MSA, 25,900 are in leisure 
and 4,900 are in wholesale and retail. These 
sectors account for two-thirds of the total 
jobs lost. Wages in leisure and hospitality in 
particular are the lowest of any sector – an 
average of $21,463 in the Columbus MSA in 
2019. Low-wage industry sectors also include 
administrative support and waste services 
(temporary staffing is included in this sector), 
and other services. These are the most “at-
risk industry sectors”, and have suffered a 
combined net loss of 34,000, 72% of all jobs 
lost (Figure 3).

Low-income workers are more vulnerable 
to the impacts of job loss. A 2019 Federal 
Reserve study found that nearly 40% of 
households nationwide were not equipped to 
handle a sudden $400 expense – let alone 
sudden unemployment. Housing is a particular 
vulnerability. Among households earning less 
than $75,000 annually, 46% in 2019 met the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development definition for “housing 
cost burdened” – paying 30% or more of their income in housing costs. One in five households earning less than 
$75,000 a year in the Columbus MSA paid 50% or more of their income in rent or mortgages.2,3

In Central Ohio, low-wage workers in at-risk industry sectors live in high concentrations in many of the region’s rural 
county seats, in parts of Appalachia where ecotourism is a dominant industry (e.g., Perry and Hocking Counties), and in 
areas of Franklin County with higher concentrations of Black and brown residents (Figure 4). These communities will be 
places to note. High-income workers have more or less rebounded employment since the start of the pandemic, but 
middle-income workers (10% down since January 2020), and especially low-income workers (29% down since January 
2020) are still struggling to recover (Figure 5).

Augmented unemployment benefits have provided a lifeline for struggling households, but enhanced supports are only 
temporary and may fall short of meeting all household expenses. Discussed in greater detail in the Social Sector brief, 
survey data from the U.S. Census Bureau suggests that one out of every three adults in Ohio are having a somewhat 
or very difficult time keeping up with usual household expenses. These Ohioans are more likely to have experienced 
loss of employment as a major factor contributing to their difficulty keeping up with bills. They are more reliant on state-
run assistance programs (e.g., Supplemental Nutritional Assistance Program), and they are more likely paying bills by 
borrowing money from friends and family, using credit cards or loans, using savings, or selling assets.

New claims for unemployment surged in April 2020, tapering off throughout the rest of the year, but remaining at higher 
rates than before the pandemic. More recently, Ohio’s unemployment claims system has become the target of significant 
fraud. Initial claims more than tripled during the week ended February 6, 2021, to a level rivaling that during the worst 
of the job loss in April 2020. The need to subject all claims to greater scrutiny increases system costs and could lead to 
delays in the payment of legitimate claimants’ benefits, which would put extra strain on households’ budgets (Figure 6).

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business

Figure 3. Net Employment Change by Industry 
(Average Annual Wage)

Columbus MSA
Feb 2020-Jan 2021, Comparison



4Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business

Figure 4. Home Locations of Workers 
in Most At-Risk Industry Sectors

Central Ohio Census Tracts, 2017

Figure 5. Employment by Income
Columbus MSA
Jan 2020-Feb 2021, Daily

Figure 6. Unemployment Claims 
Columbus MSA
Mar 2020-Mar 2021, Weekly



CHILDCARE ACCESS & AFFORDABILITY
Affordability of childcare poses a difficult challenge for families. The Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s Living 
Wage Calculator estimates the unsubsidized annual cost of childcare at $9,714 per year per child.4 These costs are 
sometimes subsidized for lower-income households, but childcare costs can be a substantial burden even for 
households with moderate income. 

A related problem is the benefits cliff: the fact that the childcare subsidy disappears at a certain household income level 
that is often well below what is needed to afford the unsubsidized cost. This can cause a worker facing the loss of the 
childcare benefit to make the economically rational decision to forgo a promotion or additional work hours. Childcare 
access and affordability would remove a key barrier to entry into the labor force and help to stabilize household finances 
for many Central Ohio families. 

Childcare access is also challenging due to supply limitations—childcare centers are a business model that operates on 
tight margins. The cost of operating a childcare facility and the ability of clients to pay, including their access to subsidies, 
lead to different service levels, which manifests an inequity in quality of early learning experiences. Slots in accredited, 
highly rated early childhood education centers, as rated by Ohio’s Step Up to Quality program, are both expensive and in 
high demand. These inequities were already present before the pandemic, but the increased costs and revenue losses 
created by COVID-19 are expected to intensify these disparities.

One year after the pandemic shutdowns began, 6% of unemployed workers nationally reported that their primary reason 
for not working was caring for children who were not in school or daycare.5 Locally, the number of children authorized for 
childcare subsidies has remained consistently lower than 2019 numbers since the pandemic shutdowns began in March 
2020 (Figure 7). Neither the national nor local data tell a complete story about the reasons why families have some 
workers focused on childcare responsibilities in lieu of work. For some families, there is a likely connection to childcare 
centers scaling back enrollment or closing entirely, or families’ concerns about health or inability to find work.

Childcare centers’ financial stability relies on full enrollment, which has been prohibited during the pandemic. The initial 
stay-at-home order closed all centers in the spring, which was a large blow to financial viability. Some workers who were 
allowed to work from home provided their own childcare, and others relied on informal arrangements. 

Estimates of the impact of these stresses on the number and employment of childcare centers in the Columbus MSA are 
not yet available, but a survey of local centers in March 2020 by Action for Children paints a dire picture.6 One in six 
childcare centers remained closed at that time, as a result of sustained low enrollment and increased costs for personal 
protective equipment (PPE) and cleaning. At the time, 30% of still-open providers anticipated closing within three months 
without immediate support, and half of providers reported closing within 6 months (Figure 8). The loss of even a fraction 
of these at-risk providers, especially those rated as high-quality, will create limitations on the number of available slots 
that will continue after the pandemic. Furthermore, 49% of respondents in the Action for Children survey had already or 
planned to increase tuition. With the already high cost of childcare, this places additional strain on Central Ohio families, 
especially those with lower incomes.

5Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business

Figure 7. Subsidized Childcare
Central Ohio Counties*, 2019-2020, Monthly

Figure 8. Childcare Center Survey 
Columbus MSA, March 2020



6

COLLAPSE IN CONSUMER 
CONFIDENCE

Strong consumer confidence is essential for strong, sustained 
growth in the economy. Consumer spending comprises 
70% of gross domestic product (GDP), if consumers 
lack confidence, they will not spend, and GDP growth will 
be severely limited. The University of Michigan’s Consumer 
Sentiment Index, which had been at 20-year highs before the 
pandemic, fell to levels rivaling those immediately following the 
2007-2009 recession as the pandemic took hold (Figure 9). 
Although the reopening of the economy and the emergence of 
therapies and vaccines has had a positive impact on the index, it 
remains depressed. 

The lack of confidence is evident in the personal savings 
rate, which rose to historic highs, spiking to 33.7% during the 
lockdown. By the fall of 2020, as consumer spending began 
to slowly increase and overseas production and logistics 
challenges subsided, the savings rate fell to the mid-teens, 
a rate that still rivaled levels last seen in the early 1970s. In 
January 2021, the rate again increased to 20.5% as economic 
stimulus payments were hitting households’ bank accounts 
(Figure 10). These savings represent amounts that households 
are not devoting to consumption, which negatively impacts GDP 
growth. Consumer confidence must improve before the savings 
rate can return to pre-pandemic levels.

Discussed in more detail in the Economic and Community 
Development brief, data obtained from Opportunity Insights’ 
Economic Tracker shows a clear divergence in consumer 
spending by income.7 Lower income households are keeping up 
with normal spending patterns, for the most part, as their budgets 
tend to have fewer discretionary items that can be eliminated; 
they are also less likely to be working from home, which makes it 
difficult to eliminate some consumer spending needs. Middle- and 
high-income households saw the greatest spending reductions, 
suggesting that these earners are enjoying increased personal 
savings, while making fewer contributions to GDP growth.

The economy and public health are linked in unprecedented 
ways, and the course of the virus and vaccinations is critically 
important to the return of confidence. The flow of positive news 
about the declining virus positivity rate, the increasing number of 
vaccinations, and the responsible reopening of sports and 
entertainment venues to a limited number of patrons will have a 
positive impact. However, there is an unknown number of 
individuals who are hesitant to return to these venues. Perhaps 
being vaccinated will reduce their concerns and thus making 
vaccinations widely and easily available will help restore 
confidence. Pent up demand for travel and tourism (discussed in 
the Transportation brief) will also have positive effects on GDP 
growth. The successful return of these economic engines will be 
contingent on the publicizing of and adherence to public health 
guidelines, which will reduce the positivity rate and keep the 
economy reopening.

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business

Figure 9. Consumer Sentiment 
United States
Jan 2010-Jan 2021, Monthly

Figure 10. Personal Savings Rate 
United States
Jan 2010-Jan 2021, Monthly



7

THREATS TO AN ALREADY WEAK SMALL 
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT 

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business

Central Ohio’s rate of self-employment, and concentration and growth of small businesses has been far below average for 
years (Figure 11). Among the 100 largest MSAs in the U.S., Columbus in 2019 ranked 82nd in the percentage of workers 
who are self-employed. Other statistics are available less regularly, but the rankings are stable. Columbus ranked 86th in 
the share of all businesses that are small (fewer than 20 employees) in 2015 and 74th in the small business birthrate that 
year.

Statistics on the loss of small businesses resulting from the economic stresses of the pandemic are not yet available, but 
evidence suggests that a large number of small businesses are failing, or near failure. Discussed further in the Economic 
and Community Development brief, these challenges are felt more acutely by businesses owned by people of color. A 
national survey of small businesses suggests that “the share of firms that experienced financial challenges in the prior 12 
months rose from 66% to 80% between 2019 and 2020.” 8 Furthermore, 90% of firms surveyed used some form of 
emergency financial relief, predominately from the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). Of the 64% of small businesses 
that said they would apply for more financial support if available, 39% said their business would not survive unless 
business returned to pre-pandemic levels, or more relief became available. 

The new emergency relief package, however, offers much less aid to small businesses than previous rounds -- $50 
billion of the $1.9 trillion plan, or only 2%. Of that total, $29 billion is targeted to aid hard-hit restaurants and bars, and 
$1.25 billion is designated for live-event operators.8 Still, the economic stimulus provided to households will benefit 
surviving businesses as confidence improves.

A March 2021 survey conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau of existing small businesses suggests that some Columbus 
metro firms are still operating below capacity and anticipating a long, slow recovery. Although the extent is unknown, 
by March 2021, some small businesses had already shuttered their operations, and would therefore be excluded from the 
Census survey. Thirty percent of area small businesses are still operating within a 50% reduction of capacity, and an 
estimated 40% of small businesses expect the “return to normal” will take at least 6 months. Still, some are anticipating a 
ramp up of operations, by increasing staffing (40%), increasing marketing (30%), or making a capital expenditure (20%) in 
the next 6 months. The size of firms and the nature of business matters, but this is unclear in these data. 

Local businesses add unique elements to the community. Further, locally owned, locally serving businesses trap 
spending that flows from chains to distant headquarters, so the spillover benefits of local businesses are greater. Civic 
Economics has found that locally owned retailers trap an average of $0.48 of every sales dollar for at least one additional 
round of spending, compared to $0.14 for the typical chain. The Columbus economy’s low concentration of small, local 
businesses already has negative impacts on the economic impact of consumer spending, and the loss of these 
businesses reduces the impact further.

Figure 11. Self-Employment 
Columbus MSA & US
2010-2019, Annual



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Employment & Small Business 8 

1. SHARONE, O. (2021, MARCH 18). A CRISIS OF LONG-TERM UNEMPLOYMENT IS LOOMING IN THE U.S. HARVARD
BUSINESS REVIEW. https://hbr.org/2021/03/a-crisis-of-long-term-unemployment-is-looming-in-the-u-s

2. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU: 1-YEAR AMERICAN COMMUNITY SURVEY. (2019). HOUSEHOLD INCOME BY GROSS RENT
AS A PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS (TABLE B25074) [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED
FROM https://data.census.gov

3. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU: 1-YEAR AMERICAN COMMUNITY SURVEY. (2019). HOUSEHOLD INCOME BY SELECTED
MONTHLY OWNER COSTS AS A PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME IN THE PAST 12 MONTHS (TABLE
B25075) [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM https://data.census.gov

4. GLASMEIER, A. (2021). LIVING WAGE CALCULATOR [DATA TOOL]. MASSACHUSETTS INSITITUTE OF
TECHNOLOGY. RETRIEVED FROM https://livingwage.mit.edu/metros/18140

5. CENSUS HOUSEHOLD PULSE SURVEY (2021, MARCH 17 – MARCH 29). TABLE 3. EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT FOR
ADULTS NOT WORKING AT TIME OF SURVEY, BY MAIN REASON FOR NOT WORKING AND SOURCE USED TO
MEET SPENDING NEEDS [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2021/demo/hhp/hhp27.html

6. ACTION FOR CHILDREN. (2021). OPEN DOES NOT MEAN OKAY: CHILD CARE AFTER A YEAR OF PANDEMIC.
COLUMBUS, OH: AUTHOR. RETREIVED FROM https://www.actionforchildren.org/open-does-not-mean-okay/

7. CHETTY, R., FRIEDMAN, J., HENDREN, N., AND STEPNER, M. (2021). ECONOMIC TRACKER [DATA TOOL].
OPPORTUNITY INSIGHTS. RETRIEVED FROM https://tracktherecovery.org/

8. FEDERAL RESERVE BANKS. (2021). SMALL BUSINESS CREDIT SURVEY: 2021 REPORT ON EMPLOYER FIRMS.
RETRIEVED FROM https://www.fedsmallbusiness.org/medialibrary/FedSmallBusiness/files/2021/2021-sbcs-employer-firms-
report

9. GANDEL, S. (2021, MARCH 18). BIDEN STIMULUS PLAN OFFERS LESS HELP FOR SMALL BUSINESSES. CBS NEWS.
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/american-rescue-plan-small-business-stimulus/?intcid=CNM-00-10abd1h

10. SUPPORT COLUMBUS EATS. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.supportcolumbuseats.com/
11. SHOP SMALL COLLECTIVE. RETRIEVED FROM http://www.shopsmall.co/

REFERENCES 

Fu
nd

er
s Columbus City Council 

The Columbus Foundation 
The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 

Local governments can provide aid to these businesses to the extent possible by aggressively promoting the benefits of 
shopping locally and shopping small, and by reviewing their own bidding and bid selection processes. In some cases, 
government bid preparation requirements are complex, lengthy, and may shut out small firms. Some governments in the 
region explicitly award points to bidders within their own jurisdiction, but given the regional benefit of keeping spending 
local, all governments within the region should consider establishing preferences for local bidders and ensure that bidding 
requirements are as straightforward as possible.

The same preferences for local purchasing can be adopted by private employers, particularly large anchor institutions. 
Trade associations and chambers of commerce could work with these companies to find local suppliers that could 
effectively meet the needs for goods and services that are currently being met by suppliers based outside of the area. 

The region’s civic technology community is connecting volunteers and local businesses. Can’t Stop Columbus has created 
initiatives that help local businesses launch sites for e-commerce, and help residents find local restaurant options9 or other 
small business retailers.10 There has been a significant shift to online shopping in recent years – a trend that has 
accelerated during the pandemic. This trend threatens to leave behind businesses that do not have an online presence. In 
addition to promoting buying locally, local governments should consider supplying resources and funding to assist small 
businesses, perhaps via the civic technology volunteer community, to develop e-commerce options.



1Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing

HOUSING
Summary
The past decade was one of historic growth for Central Ohio, and that growth is expected to 
continue for the foreseeable future – with the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
(MORPC) projecting the region to have as many as 3 million residents by 2050. Not only is the 
region growing; it is changing. Increases in both the young adult and 65 and older populations 
are shifting housing preferences. Furthermore, the highly competitive real estate market and a 
persistently high poverty rate have led to more vulnerable groups struggling to find housing in 
neighborhoods of their choice.

The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic are bifurcated, and housing is a clear demonstration of 
the “K-shaped” recovery. The slow recovery for some residents magnifies structural challenges 
that were already present, while the quick recovery for other residents adds pressure to the tight 
housing market, accelerating price increases overall.

Key Issues
Renter instability magnifies the precarity of housing for low- and middle-income 
residents in Central Ohio, and the challenges connecting residents to available supports. 

Homeowner instability is a slow-moving process, but a suspected fair number of 
Central Ohio homeowners are underwater with their mortgages.

The housing supply has been further depressed by the pandemic yet demand for 
market-rate housing is surging as some residents adapt to remote work and school or 
capitalize on increased personal savings and historic low interest rates. 

Supply of subsidized housing is suppressed, while demand increases, especially as 
rapidly increasing market-rate housing prices reduce naturally occurring affordable 
housing options.

The region’s Continuum of Care is preparing for an influx of people experiencing 
homelessness, as residents with sustained income reductions move into increasingly 
unstable housing.



Many in the region experienced the last decade as a recovery of personal finances following the Great Recession. In fact, 
the percentage of residents who are housing cost-burdened has been on the decline, in alignment with national trends. 
Nonetheless, before the pandemic, 210,000 households in the region were stretching their earnings beyond what is 
considered sustainable to pay for housing (more than 30% of household income is considered housing cost-burdened), 
especially among lower earners. 

2

Of those experiencing housing 
cost burdens, around 90,000 are 
extremely cost-burdened, spending 
more than 50% of their incomes on 
housing costs (Figure 1).

Renter Instability
Many Central Ohio residents 
experienced a reduction or loss in 
employment in the pandemic, especially 
those in industries and occupations that 
cannot be transitioned to remote work. 
Job loss is estimated to have the 
greatest impact among low wage 
earners. According to one analysis from 
the Urban Institute, there are significant 
concentrations of job loss in Central 
Ohio (nearly 10% of all workers in some 
Census Tracts) in low income, low 
opportunity neighborhoods (places with 
limited access to basic necessities like 
food, jobs, childcare, and healthcare), 
with higher concentrations of renters. 
These are also neighborhoods with the 
greatest concentration of Black or 
African American residents (Figure 2).1

With many households experiencing 
income reduction or job loss, there is an 
anticipated impact on these households’ 
ability to pay rent. As a national policy 
concern, this has prompted the Centers 
for Disease Control and Prevention to 
place a moratorium on evictions, if the 
reason for eviction is a tenant’s inability 
to pay due to COVID-19-related 
financial hardship.2 The moratorium on 
evictions seems to have slowed tenant 
eviction filings in the courts. From 
March to October 2020, there were 
8,000 eviction filings in Central Ohio, 
compared with 14,500 total filings in 
the same period of 2019. While eviction 
filings are lower in 2020 than in 2019, 
they generally increased as the year 
continued (Figure 3).

Figure 1. Cost-burdened Households 
(Columbus MSA) 
2009-2019, Annual

Figure 2. Jobs Loss Estimate
Central Ohio Census Tracts
2020

HOUSING INSTABILITY

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing



3Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct

2019 2020 SOURCE: Ohio Supreme Court

0

500

1,500

1,500

2,000

SOURCE: Avail 2021 Landlord and Tenant Survey (via Urban Institute)

Eligible
14.2%

Applied
5.9%

Received
1.6%

Eligible
17.9%

Applied
7.5%

Received
3.4%

While the moratorium is slowing eviction filings, many Central Ohio residents are accumulating rent debt as they continue 
to manage their budgets with reduced incomes. According to a survey of households conducted by the US Census 
Bureau, around 350,000 Ohioans are behind on rent payments, and 280,000 of those reported some loss of income. Of 
the renter households working to stabilize housing, but still coming up short on rent payments, 53% are Black or African 
American. For comparison, only 12% of the total population in Ohio is Black or African American. 160,000 respondents in 
renter households believe it is ‘very likely’ they will lose their home due to eviction in the next two months. Over 125,000 of 
those households are Black or African American.3

Some residents have opted to change their housing situation altogether, according to interviews with housing experts in 
the region, either by moving to lower cost housing or “doubling up” housing (moving in with friends or family) to reduce 
costs. These solutions are less than ideal and can create new hurdles down the road. 

Lower cost housing often comes with trade-offs in access to jobs and necessities, housing quality, housing 
appropriateness (e.g., accessibility features, number of rooms), and safety.4 Doubling up housing can lead to 
overcrowding. Experts suggest that overcrowding can have negative impacts on individuals’ well-being, especially 
outcomes for children.5 As a temporary solution, doubling up housing may create new barriers to housing access including 
saving up for security deposits, and sometimes multiple months’ rent. As an unstable housing arrangement with barriers 
to independent housing, some researchers suggest that doubled-up housing is a precursor to homelessness.6

There may be some property owners or property managers struggling to recoup losses from missed rent payments. 
Based on interviews with local housing experts, small-scale landlords may change behavior, and that could have negative 
implications for the availability of naturally occurring affordable housing in Central Ohio. 

One study from the Urban Institute looked at a survey of landlords to understand how they are faring with the rent 
moratorium. In September 2020, 35% of the landlords surveyed did not receive all rent payments, and more than three-
quarters of those missed payments were caused by the tenant’s inability to pay. Vacancy is also a concern for property 
owners. In the same survey, one out of five landlords reported increased vacancy. The financial pressure, according to the 
report, is leading more property owners to consider selling properties. Landlords are also implementing stricter tenant 
screening practices.7

Locally, city funding in the amount of $10.5 million was given to IMPACT Community Action, a nonprofit working to reduce 
poverty in parts of the Central Ohio region, and other housing partners in Central Ohio for Tenant Based Rental 
Assistance. While this was important, and saved many residents from losing their homes, many are still unemployed or 
financially burdened due to COVID-19, which means rent payments are still piling up.

Furthermore, connecting resources to the people who need them is an on-going challenge, magnified by the increased 
volume of need and the rapid expansion of supports. An Urban Institute report of a February 2021 survey of landlords and 
tenants suggests that only about half of renters are aware that rental assistance programs exist. Pointedly, even those 
renters and landlords that are aware of and eligible for rental assistance programs do not always apply (Figure 4).8 

Figure 3. Eviction Filings
Columbus MSA
2019 & 2020, Monthly

Figure 4. Rental Assistance for Tenants & 
Landlords
US National Survey, February 2021



4

Homeowner Instability
There are indications that some Central Ohio homeowners may be struggling to keep up with their mortgage and tax 
payments, but the extent and magnitude of this issue will not be clear for some time. According to the US Census Bureau 
Household Pulse Survey, there are around 390,000 Ohioans currently behind on their mortgage payments, about 145,000 
of which report some loss of income due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Of those, around 50,000 believe they are ‘very 
likely’ to lose their home due to foreclosure in the next two months.3

Like with evictions, some measures were taken at both the federal and local levels to support homeowners experiencing 
financial hardship due to COVID-19. For homeowners with federally backed mortgages, a broad program is available for 
mortgage forbearance.9 Private lenders are also taking measures to work on flexible mortgage repayment for households 
struggling with reduced income or health challenges in the pandemic.

According to a study of forbearances by the Mortgage Bankers Association, 5.54% of Americans’ mortgage loans were in 
forbearance in November 2020, up from 0.25% in March 2020.10 , 11

Forbearance allows mortgage-holders to delay payments without penalty and without classifying the loan as delinquent, 
a condition that can lead to foreclosure. After the onset of the pandemic, and the implementation of programs allowing for 
forbearance flexibility, the percentage of mortgages between 30- and 89-days delinquent, or past due, dropped sharply 
compared to the historic trend—a 120% 6-month seasonal decline, compared with an average 55% 6-month seasonal 
decline observed from 2010 - 2019.  Drops were observed both locally and nationally (Figure 5).

While forbearances seem to have prevented some 
households from falling into delinquency, there 
is inconsistency across lenders in their terms 
of repayment of missed payments during the 
forbearance period. While some lenders are 
allowing borrowers to tack on the extra payments 
at the end of the mortgage lifecycle, extending the 
loan period with no near-term financial burden, 
others are requiring lump sum repayment of the 
missed amount, while others will increase monthly 
payment amounts until the deferred amount is 
repaid.

According to the Survey of Household Economics 
and Decisionmaking conducted by the Federal 
Reserve in July 2020, American homeowners may 
not be clear about the terms of the forbearance 
options provided by their lenders. About one-quarter 
(23%) of borrowers in forbearance do not know 
what repayment terms their lenders expect when 
the forbearance period ends, and more than half 
(54%) have little or no confidence in their ability to 
pay once the forbearance ends (Figure 6).12

Figure 5. Mortgages 30-89 Days Delinquent 
Columbus MSA & Ohio
January 2010 - June 2020, Monthly

Figure 6. Forbearance 
Repayment Understanding 
& Confidence
US National Survey
July 2020

SOURCE: Federal Reserve Survey of Household 
Economics and Decisionmaking

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing



Low housing production paired with changes in residents’ preferences and behavior led to a shrinkage 
in the overall supply of homes available to potential homeowners over the last decade. At the height 
of the Great Recession, in 2008, homes were on the market for a median of 75 days. With demand 
increasing relative to supply since around 2011, that median sharply and steadily declined, and by 
2020 homes were on the market for a median of only six days. In 2020, around 5% of rental units 
were vacant and available (Figure 7).

Market-Rate Housing
The initial housing market reaction at the start of the pandemic was a significant slowdown in activity, 
mainly fueled by a reduction in inventory as the real estate business worked to adapt the home selling 
and buying process to adhere to COVID-19 health guidelines. That lull in inventory accelerated price 
increases, which did not seem to deter homebuyers’ pent-up demand when inventory picked up again 
by mid-summer.13

The booming housing market, alongside reports of job loss and threats of eviction and foreclosure, 
is an epitomical representation of the so-called “K-shaped recovery.” While some, especially low-
wage earners, are struggling more than ever, others are experiencing no loss of income paired with 
large reductions in spending from remote work and fewer options for discretionary spending. Those 
in the latter category are enjoying increased personal savings, and historically low mortgage interest 
rates. Some homebuyers may be existing homeowners, eager to increase space to conduct work and 
school from home, whereas others may be first-time homebuyers, hoping to lock in the low interest 
rates.

Demand for housing has remained strong, meanwhile pre-existing housing production challenges 
have been magnified. Housing production costs have been increased during the pandemic by 
challenges with the cost of supplies, development review, and labor shortages. The impacts of these 
exacerbated market-rate supply shortages are two-fold. 

First, price increases are accelerated (the Columbus Board of Realtors reported a 10.5% price 
increase in 2020, market wide), and ‘days on market’ are reduced (a median of 6 days in 2020), both 
of which make the housing market less accessible for homebuyers at all price points (Figure 8).13

Second, market shortages reduce the availability of affordable housing that occurs naturally in the 
market (known as Naturally Occurring Affordable Housing, or NOAH). This segment of the housing 

SHIFTING SUPPLY & DEMAND

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing 5

Figure 7. Housing Market Trends 
Columbus MSA

2000 - 2020, Annual



6Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing

Figure 8. Home Sale Prices
7-County Central Ohio Region

2019 - 2020, Annual

Figure 9. Subsidized Housing & 
Households in Poverty

Columbus MSA, 2012 - 2019, Annual

market fills an important gap for households that have limited incomes, but not low enough to qualify for subsidized 
housing, as well as those who are on waitlists for but have not yet obtained subsidized options.

The impacts of market price increases on NOAH affects the market for potential first-time homebuyers. The market 
share of homes priced below $180,000 (a benchmark for affordability based on Area Median Income, or AMI) fell 11.5% in 
2020.13 It can also reduce the availability of small-scale rental properties (single-family rentals and two- or three-unit 
properties), as these property owners may be motivated to fetch a higher price in the seller’s market. As rentals, these 
units fill an important need for low- and middle-income families who cannot afford to buy but need more space than the 
more-plentiful 1- or 2-bedroom low-cost apartment units can offer.

The National Association of Home Builders recorded lumber prices at $955 per thousand board feet in September 2020, 
which was up 62% since April. However, prices have started to lower with a November 2020 price of $567. Supply chains 
have also experienced instability. For instance, some global suppliers halted production because of COVID-19 which then 
rippled through housing production markets. 

Based on interviews with local housing experts, the pandemic is influencing the type of stock produced although 
developers are unsure what trends will last. If people continue to work from home after the pandemic, they may want an 
extra room to use as an office and may be willing to live further out from the city core. Internet bandwidth and accessibility 
will also be important. Apartment unit developers are anticipating less demand for common areas for complexes. 

Subsidized Housing
Subsidized affordable housing production is limited by costs in the same ways as market rate production, but with the 
added barrier of regulatory costs. The cost of producing an affordable housing unit “may be 20-25% more than costs to 
produce market rate homes”, shared a Central Ohio affordable housing expert. 

Some affordable housing developments qualify for incentives and tax credits that offset the cost, but gap financing for 
projects is needed even with incentives such as the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit. Projects that do not win these 
federal incentives or credits are strained to an even greater degree. Developments with land close to bus lines, in highly 
rated school districts, and near jobs make a competitive case to qualify for incentives and tax credits. However, these 
prime locations are not plentiful, and may in some cases be in direct competition with market rate projects. Other locations 
for affordable housing plans may not qualify for the incentives to make the project financially viable.

According to interviews with local affordable housing experts, the number of housing vouchers in the region remained 
consistent during the pandemic. However, even before the pandemic, there were not enough subsidized units (either 
place-based or vouchers) to meet the need (Figure 9). Families with recently reduced income who now qualify for 
assistance are on a long wait list for housing vouchers. Reviews and approvals for vouchers and other funding 
applications are also taking longer with government offices working remotely. Furthermore, the pandemic has increased 
the number of households that have reduced income and may need housing assistance, but still do not qualify for subsidy. 



THE CONTINUUM OF CARE
Before the pandemic, homelessness was a growing challenge in Central Ohio, largely centered in Franklin County, as the 
most populous county and where many homeless support resources are available. As a growing region, population growth 
alone was a major contributor to rising homelessness. According to the Community Shelter Board, the Continuum of Care 
serving much of the Central Ohio region, population growth accounts for 60% of the 1,700 additional homeless individuals 
since 2010.14

Regardless of changes in needs stemming from the pandemic, Community Shelter Board predicts 150 new people 
experiencing homelessness each year as the region continues to grow. The greatest gaps in service are for families 
experiencing homelessness, which are overrepresented by Black or African American mothers and their children.

The booming housing market in Central Ohio was already creating risk factors for homelessness. The increasing scarcity 
of low-cost housing, including subsidized housing, prices many low-income households out of the market. With demand 
outweighing supply, this creates more barriers for low-income residents as property owners can afford to be pickier with 
tenant selection. This means that the residents most likely to experience poor housing outcomes and homelessness—
those with past evictions, convictions, and poor credit histories—are at even greater risk for housing trouble.

The pandemic, which led to extensive job loss or reduction of employment, triggered federal and local policies creating 
safety nets (e.g., eviction moratorium, stimulus payments, and unemployment benefit expansion) to avoid widespread 
crisis. In their semi-annual Indicator Report for fiscal year 2021, the Community Shelter Board attributes a 51% reduction 
in families needing shelter (comparing 7/1/2020 - 12/31/2020 to the same period in 2019) to the success of these safety 
nets.15 In addition to a reduction in families needing shelter, there were reductions for single women, pregnant women, 
and veteran’s seeking emergency shelter. There was a small (2%) increase in the number of single men seeking shelter, 
and their average time spent in shelter increased (Figure 10).

According to analysis from the US Census Bureau, one out of three American households receiving unemployment 
benefits are still struggling to pay for essentials like food, rent and childcare.16 Even with safety nets in place, many 
families are struggling to make ends meet.

With an eye toward homelessness prevention, the region’s Continuum of Care is already positioned to monitor for 
potential influxes of individuals or families experiencing homelessness. Eviction, of course, is a clear warning sign for 
future homelessness, however people are inclined to exhaust all other options, such as seeking lower cost housing or 
doubling up, before seeking emergency shelter. According to one interview, family and friends are more willing to allow 
doubling up in their homes due to fears about COVID-19 in emergency shelters. As these concerns dissipate, however, 
individuals and families may have fewer opportunities to double up.

With reports in the region of residents moving into more precarious housing situations as a way to avoid eviction before 
the moratorium is lifted, there is an even greater need for tools, like housing stability screening and strengthened referral 
networks, to identify residents on the verge of homelessness early and offer services to increase housing stability.

7Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing

Figure 10. Households Served by 
Emergency Shelters 

Community Shelter Board Service Area
7/1/2019 - 12/31/2019 & 7/1/2020 - 12/31/2020



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Housing 8 

1. URBAN INSTITUTE. (2021). [GRAPH ILLUSTRATION OF LOW-INCOME JOBS LOST: FEBRUARY 10, 2021]
WHERE LOW-INCOME JOBS ARE BEING LOST TO COVID-19. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.urban.org/features/where-low-income-jobs-are-being-lost-covid-19

2. TEMPORARY HALT IN RESIDENTIAL EVICTIONS TO PREVENT THE FURTHER SPREAD OF COVID-19, UNDER
42 C.F.R. § 70.2 (2020). CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION.
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/more/pdf/CDC-Eviction-Moratorium-01292021.pdf

3. CENSUS HOUSEHOLD PULSE SURVEY. (2020). TABLE 3A. LIKELIHOOD OF HAVING TO LEAVE THIS HOUSE IN
NEXT TWO MONTHS DUE TO FORECLOSURE, BY SELECT CHARACTERISTICS, WEEK 23 [DATA SET].
RETRIEVED FROM https://www2.census.gov/programs-surveys/demo/tables/hhp/

4. MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION. (2020). REGIONAL HOUSING STRATEGY: EXISTING
CONDITIONS REPORT; ANALYSIS AND KEY FINDINGS. COLUMBUS, OH: AUTHOR. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.morpc.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/RHS_Existing_Conditions.pdf

5. SOLARI, C.D. (2019, APRIL 24). AMERICA’S HOUSING IS GETTING MORE CROWDED. HOW WILL THAT AFFECT
CHILDREN? URBAN INSTITUTE. https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/americas-housing-getting-more-crowded-how-will-
affect-children

6. ETNER WRIGHT, B.R., CASPI, A., MOFFITT, T.E., & SILVA, P.A. (1998). FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH
DOUBLED-UP HOUSING—A COMMON PRECURSOR TO HOMELESSNESS. SOCIAL SERVICE REVIEW, 72(1).
RETRIEVED FROM https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/515747

7. CHOI, J.H. & GOODMAN, L. (2020, NOVEMBER 10). MOUNTING PRESSURES ON MOM-AND-POP LANDLORDS
COULD SPELL TROUBLE FOR THE AFFORDABLE RENTAL MARKET. URBAN INSTITUTE. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/mounting-pressures-mom-and-pop-landlords-could-spell-trouble-affordable-rental-
market

8. GOODMAN, L. & CHOI, J.H. (2021, MARCH 9). LANDLORDS AND TENANTS NEED MORE INFORMATION ON
RENTAL ASSISTANCE AND EVICTION MORATORIUM POLICIES. URBAN INSTITUTE. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/landlords-and-tenants-need-more-information-rental-assistance-and-eviction-
moratorium-policies

9. LEARN ABOUT MORTGAGE RELIEF OPTIONS AND PROTECTIONS. (2021, MARCH 2). RETRIEVED MARCH 10,
2021, FROM CONSUMER FINANCIAL PROTECTION BUREAU:
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/coronavirus/mortgage-and-housing-assistance/mortgage-relief/.

10. DESANCTIS, A. (2020, APRIL 7). MBA SURVEY SHOWS SPIKE IN LOANS IN FORBEARANCE, SERVICER CALL
VOLUME. MORTGAGE BANKERS ASSOCIATION. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.mba.org/2020-press-
releases/april/mba-survey-shows-spike-in-loans-in-forbearance-servicer-call-volume

11. DESANCTIS, A. (2020, DECEMBER 1). SHARE OF MORTGAGE LOANS IN FORBEARANCE INCREASES TO 5.54
PERCENT. MORTGAGE BANKERS ASSOCIATION. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.mba.org/2021-press-
releases/december/share-of-mortgage-loans-in-forbearance-increases-to-554-percent

12. CANILANG, S., JONES, K., LARRIMORE, J., MERRY, E., & ZABEK, M. (2020, SEPTEMBER 22). UPDATE ON THE
ECONOMIC WELL-BEING OF U.S. HOUSEHOLDS: JULY 2020 RESULTS. FEDERAL RESERVE. RETRIEVED
FROM https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/2020-update-economic-well-being-of-us-households-preface.htm

13. COLUMBUS REALTORS. (2020). ANNUAL REPORT ON THE COLUMBUS REGION HOUSING MARKET: FOR
RESIDENTIAL REAL ESTATE ACTIVITY IN THE COLUMBUS REGION. COLUMBUS, OH: AUTHOR. PREPARED
FOR DELAWARE, FAYETTE, FRANKLIN, LICKING, MADISON, MORROW, PICKAWAY AND UNION COUNTIES.
RETRIEVED FROM https://www.columbusrealtors.com/clientuploads/HousingStats/EOY/2020EOY_HsgRpt-
CentralOH.pdf

14. COMMUNITY SHELTER BOARD. (2020). SNAPSHOT REPORT 2020. COLUMBUS, OH: AUTHOR. RETRIEVED
FROM https://66381bb28b9f956a91e2-e08000a6fb874088c6b1d3b8bebbb337.ssl.cf2.rackcdn.com/files-SnapShot-
Report-CY191021.pdf.

15. COMMUNITY SHELTER BOARD. (2020). SYSTEM AND PROGRAM INDICATOR REPORT FY2021. COLUMBUS,
OH: AUTHOR. RETRIEVED FROM https://66381bb28b9f956a91e2-
e08000a6fb874088c6b1d3b8bebbb337.ssl.cf2.rackcdn.com/files-FY2021-SA1-Programs-Indicator-Report.pdf.

16. MOHANITY, H. (2021, MARCH 9). 31.2% OF HOUSEHOLDS RECEIVING UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE REPORT
HAVING A VERY DIFFICULT TIME PAYING FOR FOOD, RENT, OTHER HOUSEHOLD EXPENSES. U.S. CENSUS
BUREAU. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2021/03/despite-unemployment-insurance-many-
households-struggle-to-meet-basic-
needs.html?utm_campaign=20210309msacos1ccstors&utm_medium=email&utm_source=govdelivery

Fu
nd

er
s 

REFERENCES 

Columbus City Council 
The Columbus Foundation 

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 



1Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health

PUBLIC HEALTH
Summary
Central Ohio, like the United States overall, has a long history of disparate health outcomes based on 
class, but especially on race and ethnicity. Social determinants of health include things like access to 
healthcare or adequate and nutritious food, which leads to a gap in health outcomes based on income. 
Also, research shows that Black and brown people are often treated differently for medical concerns, 
which leads to overall poorer health outcomes among people of color, regardless of income. A long history 
of structural racism has also included disinvestment in Black and brown communities, destabilizing 
neighborhoods, which has led to greater problems with mental health and substance use, and subsequent 
problems with violent crime.

The pandemic brought tragedy for all residents who lost a loved one to the virus, and in communities of 
color, where lives were already lost too early more often, the pandemic exacerbated this trauma. Lives 
were lost at a greater rate among Black and brown residents, not only due to the virus itself, but also 
because of the social and economic disruption created by the pandemic, which more severely impacted 
these communities.

Key Issues
The COVID-19 virus had disparate impacts, affecting older residents more severely, as 
well as Black and Hispanic or Latinx residents at higher rates. Inconsistencies in how 
these data are reported point to a need for clarification of messaging to better-understand 
these impacts.

Public health messaging in communities of color presented challenges. Despite great 
local efforts to reach immigrants, New Americans, and Black residents about the virus and 
vaccine, there are historical reasons why these communities continue to be difficult to 
reach.

The social and economic impacts of the pandemic have created secondary public health 
concerns like medical treatment delays, increased substance use, mental health 
problems, and a sudden increase in homicides. The greater severity of impact in Black 
and brown neighborhoods has meant a greater increase in these secondary health issues 
in those communities.

Food insecurity more than doubled in the state of Ohio, despite the volume of resources 
aimed to ensure out-of-work residents and residents with greater health risks had enough 
food and food access.



2

Poor health outcomes are understood to be 
impacted by a host of social determinants 
of health, including disparities in access 
to community resources and assets, like 
healthcare facilities. Social and environmental 
factors have particularly negative impacts for 
those in low opportunity neighborhoods, which 
result in poor health outcomes for people of color, 
and especially Black residents more than white 
residents—while Black residents make up 15% of 
the Central Ohio population, they represent 24% 
of the population in low opportunity 
neighborhoods, and 48% of the population in very 
low opportunity neighborhoods. 

In Franklin County, the most racially and ethnically 
diverse county in the region, 19% of the white 
population is 60 or older, only 12% of Black 
residents are 60 and older, and only 4% of the 
Hispanic or Latinx community is in this age group 
(Figure 1).

The reasons for these age distribution differences 
vary for different groups. Research suggests that 
Black bodies tend to age more rapidly, a 
phenomenon called "epigenetic aging", that is 
caused by chronic stress and leads to shorter 
overall life expectancies.1 This is evidenced in 
Central Ohio neighborhoods where the higher the 
percentage of Black residents, the lower the 
average life expectancy (Figure 2). Hispanic and 
Latinx families tend to be younger and larger 
overall, which makes older adults a smaller 
proportion of their age distribution. Hispanic and 
Latinx people have overall longer life expectancies 
than white or Black people.2

When COVID-19 began spreading through the 
region, it became clear that the disease was 
having disproportionately serious impacts on older 
adults. As of April 2021, Central Ohioans 60 years 
and older made up only 18% of total COVID-19 
cases, but 91% of virus deaths (Figure 3).

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 
(CDC) suggest that Black or African American
residents are not only more likely to become
infected with the COVID-19 virus, they are 2.9
times more likely to be hospitalized, and 1.9 times
more likely to die from the illness. Hispanic and
Latinx people make up 4% of the population in
Central Ohio. Nationwide, they are not only more
likely to catch the virus, they are 3.1 times more
likely to be hospitalized, and 2.3 times more likely
to be killed by serious cases of the illness.3

Figure 3. COVID-19 Cases, Hospitalizations, & Deaths by Age 
Central Ohio Counties, As of April 2021

Figure 1. Age Distribution by Race & Ethnicity 
Franklin County, Ohio, 2019

Figure 2. Average Life Expectancy by % Black Residents 
Central Ohio Census Tracts, 2018

DISPARATE IMPACT OF COVID-19 VIRUS

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health



3Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health

Figure 4. COVID-19 Deaths by Race & Ethnicity
Ohio, Provisional as of April 2021

In the State of Ohio, raw data on COVID-19 virus-related deaths seems to contradict the national trend toward 
inequitable impacts by race. COVID-19 deaths among Black residents occurred in proportion with percent of Black 
residents in the state (12%). Deaths among Hispanic and Latinx residents were less than the proportion of Hispanic and 
Latinx people living in the state (2% of deaths compared with 4% of population).4 Statewide, the data on cases overall 
and hospitalizations caused by the virus has significant gaps in race and ethnicity information so meaningful 
comparisons cannot be made.

Data from the CDC for the State of Ohio, however, offers an alternative view. They standardize the data for age (a 
common practice for reporting mortality statistics), which accounts for differences in the percent of population in different 
age ranges across racial and ethnic groups. This perspective on the severity of COVID-19 by race makes a clear case 
for the importance of age-adjustment of COVID-19 mortality data to ensure an accurate account of the impact. After 
applying an age-adjustment, which assumes the extent of deaths if all races and ethnicities had the same age 
distribution as the population as a whole, Black residents (12% of the population) would have represented 30% of all 
COVID-19 deaths. Hispanic and Latinx Ohioans (4% of the population) would have represented 6% of deaths (Figure 4).5

Local data on race and ethnicity of people who have been sick with, hospitalized by, or killed by COVID-19 are not 
comprehensive. For example, Ohio data reports comprehensive race or ethnicity among those who died from COVID-19, 
but classifies nearly 30% of cases and more than 10% of those hospitalized as either “unknown” or “other”, which makes 
it impossible to track the impact on different populations.6 While it is not conclusive how racial and ethnic groups are 
being impacted by all measures in proportion to their percent of the population, there is definitive data to support that 
Black residents are disproportionately hospitalized by the virus in the City of Columbus, even based on raw counts.7 
Were this data to be age-adjusted, this disparity would be expected to increase as it did in the CDC data.

Gaps in demographic COVID-19 data and inconsistencies in reporting on disparities signal a need for data 
communication practices to support the identification of health equity issues as a critical step to addressing them. The 
CDC’s interpretation of the data paints a clear picture of the stark disparities of COVID-19 virus impacts in Ohio. The 
CDC suggests why this is occurring, stating that, “race and ethnicity are markers for other underlying conditions that 
effect health, including socioeconomic status, access to healthcare, and exposure to the virus related to occupation, e.g., 
among frontline, essential, and critical infrastructure workers.”8 

There was already a life expectancy gap for Black residents, which can be observed locally—the higher the proportion of 
Black residents in a Central Ohio neighborhood, the lower the life expectancy. Black people die earlier than white people, 
and national research suggests the pandemic will widen the gap. For Hispanic or Latinx people who have longer life 
expectancies, COVID-19 will have a greater impact. In 2020, researchers suggest a 0.68-year life expectancy reduction 
due to COVID-19 for white Americans, compared with a 2.10-year and 3.05-year reduction for Black and Hispanic or 
Latinx Americans, respectively.9

78.40%
85.10%

61.20%

12.70% 12.20%

29.50%

4.00% 1.70%
6.30%

2.30%
0.10%

1.80% 2.50% 0.90% 0.10%

White Black Hispanic or Latinx Other Asian

Unweighted distribution of population (%)
Distribution of COVID-19 deaths - DOES NOT account for variance in race/ethnicity age distribution (%)
Distribution of COVID-19 deaths - DOES account for variance in race/ethnicity age distribution (%)

SOURCE: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Center for Health Statistics Provisional Death Counts for 
Coronavirus Desease 2019 (COVID-19)



PUBLIC HEALTH MESSAGING IN 
COMMUNITIES OF COLOR

Some local leaders have suggested barriers in access to public health information among Black and brown communities 
as another potential source of disparity. Challenges remain despite efforts to address barriers, such as language, lack of 
continuous healthcare, and medical mistrust among communities of color.

Language barriers are a more tangible challenge to address. Local organizations like US Together and the Center for 
Refugee and Immigrant Services have produced translated materials of public health guidance related to COVID-19 in 
common languages spoken in the region, like Spanish and Somali.

Providing translated public health information is one piece of the puzzle; however, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 
conducted research that suggests that immigrants are generally less connected to healthcare providers, and more likely 
to forgo needed medical treatment for reasons that seem to extend beyond language barriers alone.10 Some national 
headlines point to recent concerns, especially among undocumented immigrants, around seeking treatment or receiving 
the vaccine for COVID-19.11 

Additional research suggests that persistent discrimination in medical care for Black residents has led to widespread 
general mistrust of the healthcare system.12 Locally, leaders from the Central Ohio Area Agency on Aging (COAAA) and 
the Alcohol, Drug and Mental Health Board of Franklin County (ADAMH) noted this concern among immigrant, New 
American, and Black residents in the region. These groups are often those employed in residential facilities, and 
interviewees cited reported concerns among these workers about taking the vaccine or receiving medical treatment. 
“Vaccine fear is based on a historical lack of trust in the medical profession and on lived experience of Black people,” 
stated an interviewee.

Medical mistrust is a deep-seeded experience rooted in long-standing institutional racism—it cannot be remedied quickly 
or easily, but it is imperative that policy-makers approach this and other public health matters through this lens of 
understanding and ensure that diverse perspectives are represented in decision-making about public health messaging 
and disparities.

An article on the topic from The Commonwealth Fund captures one key perspective on the issue, “When asked if seeing 
President Obama receive the COVID-19 vaccine on camera would persuade them to get vaccinated, two Black men 
pointed out to a Washington Post reporter that should the former president experience serious side effects he’d have 
access to the best doctors and receive care that is unimaginable in their own or other low-income communities.”

National survey data suggests that Black, Hispanic or Latinx, and people identifying as two or more races are 
disproportionatly hesitant about the COVID-19 vaccine (Figure 5). Across the U.S. population, people who are hesitant 
about the vaccine cite concerns about side effects or plans to wait until they know it is safe as their main reasons for 
delaying or deciding against the vaccine (Figure 6). Local leaders are working on messaging and communication 
designed to help residents overcome vaccine safety concerns, like videos created by Columbus Public Health that 
contain clear information that debunk common vaccine myths and emphasize vaccine safety.

4Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health

Figure 6. Reasons for 
Vaccine Hesitancy 
United States, March 17 - March 21, 2021

Figure 5. Hesitance About the COVID-19 Vaccine 
by Race & Ethnicity 
United States, March 17 - March 20, 2021



SECONDARY PUBLIC 
HEALTH CONCERNS

Before the pandemic, the death rate in Central Ohio had increased from around 2,100 per 
100,000 residents in the early 2010s to around 2,400 per 100,000 residents beginning 
around 2016. This increase in lives lost was partly tied to illness affecting older adults as 
more of the population moved into the later stage of life, but it was also tied to the opioid 
epidemic – more people were dying from opioid drug overdoses than ever before.13

The COVID-19 pandemic brought even more tragedy for many Central Ohioans. In 2020 
alone, the virus took the lives of 2,006 Central Ohio residents, yet the total year over year 
increase in deaths was 3,054.14 Clearly the virus itself was not the only source of increased 
deaths. Even controlling for population growth, the death rate jumped from 2,500 per 
100,000 residents in 2019 to 3,000 per 100,000 residents in 2020.

Beyond the lives lost to COVID-19, causes of death with increases in 2020 appear, in some 
cases, related to lack of access to medical treatment for people with chronic illnesses. A 
March 2021 survey from the U.S. Census Bureau indicated that 1.5 million Ohioans delayed 
getting medical treatment because of the coronavirus pandemic.15 Increased deaths caused 
by lack of access to or intentional avoidance of medical care may be a contributing factor in 
increased deaths, especially among older residents. In 2020, there were 2,383 more deaths 
among residents 65 and older compared to 2019, but deaths attributable to COVID-19 only 
account for about 70% of the increase.

According to interviews with staff from the Central Ohio Area Agency on Aging (COAAA), 
one factor impacting health among older residents is the healthcare workforce, specifically, 
front line workers providing direct care. This workforce was reduced by people contracting 
COVID-19, the fear of becoming infected, or having to leave their employment to manage 
their own pandemic-induced personal issues (e.g., remote schooling), an interviewee 
suggested. The lack of home health aides particularly hampers access to in-home health 
supports for both seniors and people with disabilities. The interviewee suggested that multi-
generational immigrant and New American households often had successful models for 
senior care. Younger family members were even able to become home health aides and 
receive paid compensation for caring for their older relatives.  

Interviewees also suggested a need for improved infrastructure for back-up care (e.g., 
nursing homes) for people otherwise aging at home. Because of concerns about COVID-19 
spread, seniors have been reluctant to go to residential facilities when home healthcare 
is unavailable, or if they have an acute condition and need more care.

Older adults were not the only ones experiencing higher death rates for reasons other than 
the COVID-19 virus itself. Among 15 to 64-year-olds, there were 683 more deaths 
compared to 2019, of which 44% were attributable to the COVID-19 illness. Other increases 
were related to substance abuse.16 In 2020, there were 36% increases each in deaths from 
alcoholic liver disease (45 more than 2019) , and drug overdoses (300 more than 2019) .

Substance-related issues appeared in another trend – a surge in state tax revenues for 
alcohol and tobacco sales. In 2020, Ohio collected $13 million more in alcohol sales tax, 
and $100 million more in tobacco sales tax revenues than in 2019 (Figure 7) . Some 
residents seem to be coping with the anxiety of the pandemic, social isolation, financial 
worries, or secondary trauma through increased substance use.

In addition to the increase in causes for mental and emotional distress, the pandemic has 
also created new barriers to accessing supports. According to interviews with staff from the 
Alcohol, Drug and Mental Health Board of Franklin County (ADAMH), the delivery method 
for services has changed during the pandemic. In-person services were still offered when 

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health
5



6Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health

possible, but alternatives like virtual appointments and phone calls were provided as alternatives. However, communities 
with already limited access to consistent care and supports, and challenges with digital access likely suffered more from 
the mental health side-effects of the pandemic.

Interviewees from both ADAMH and COAAA mentioned concerns about social isolation amid worries around COVID-19, 
especially for people in residential facilities, “…with waves of COVID pushing through the facilities where maybe there 
are staffing shortages... you also have family members who can’t even visit their loved ones. So, you have that added 
isolation on top of all of this fear and anxiety,” one interviewee stated.

Another alarming source of increased deaths in 2020 was a 37% increase in homicides (53 more than 2019). Decades 
of academic research suggests that inequality of resources, a condition experienced by people in poverty and 
disproportionately includes Black people, causes higher homicide rates.17 As such, increasing homicides during the 
pandemic almost entirely affected the Black community. Young Black men, especially, were being killed at a rate 1.6 
times higher than the average rate over the previous 13 years in Central Ohio.18  Black residents experienced more 
severe economic impacts of the pandemic than other races or ethnicities, which magnified the inequality of resources 
that already existed.

Despite a reduction in other types of crime, national headlines have remarked on a startling trend of rising homicide 
deaths in cities across the nation.19 Bloomberg CityLab discussed possible reasons for the trend including the 
pandemic’s destabilization of neighborhoods and community services, and an increased sense of fear and instability in 
communities heavily impacted by COVID-19. Separately, experts have suggested food insecurity—which more than 
doubled in Ohio in 2020—can lead to increased aggression.20

All of the increased loss of life mentioned above impacted the Black community at higher rates (Figure 8). This will leave 
a mark on our region’s communities that will last far beyond the pandemic itself. Challenges created by sustained lack of 
access or avoidance of medical and mental health care, and the web of people and communities impacted by 
the trauma of an unimaginable increase in lost lives will have lasting public health challenges and will need 
continued resources and support. 

Figure 7. State Alcohol & Tobacco 
Sales Tax Revenues 
Ohio, 2019 - 2020

Figure 8. Death Rate 
by Race and Ethnicity 

Central Ohio Counties, 2020 - 2020



7Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health

FOOD INSECURITY
Food insecurity is a serious public health concern that research shows can have lifelong social, economic, and health 
effects on those who experience it. Lack of food contributes to diet-related chronic illness, as well as developmental 
delays and social and behavioral problems among children.21 Survey data collected from 2016 to 2018 suggests that 1.5 
million households in Ohio were food insecure, which can range from a periodic lack of resources to provide adequate, 
nutritious meals; to hunger, skipped meals, or not eating for entire days at a time.22

The pandemic shutdowns had devastating effects for many Central Ohioans, including astronomical un- or 
underemployment (discussed in the Employment & Small Business brief). As a result, more Ohio households were 
experiencing food insecurity than before the pandemic. Even as recently as March 2021, 3.6 million Ohio households 
reported food insecurity—1.4 million were households with children. 

This, more than doubling households missing meals or going without adequate and nutritious food, has happened despite 
the incredible state and local efforts to address the issue. Prior to the pandemic, many families relied on school-provided 
free meals to ensure their children had enough to eat. With school districts conducting remote education, this became 
more challenging. Efforts were made to offer school meal pickup, but still, numbers of meals provided were down from 
2019 in the state.23 Additionally, families of free or reduced lunch-eligible children who were already using the 
Supplemental and Nutritional Assistance Program (SNAP) were provided increased food assistance. Electronic Benefit 
Transfer cards (like debit cards for food assistance) were sent to families who were not enrolled in SNAP. In Central Ohio, 
19,000 more households enrolled in SNAP shortly after the start of the pandemic shutdowns (see the Social Sector brief 
for more detail) (Figure 9).

Food banks and pantries faced initial challenges with safe food distribution. The Mid-Ohio Food Collective, a collective 
organization of food banks serving Central Ohio, has taken the lead on developing protocols and guidance for operating 
safe, contactless food pick-up sites throughout the region. Their 2020 annual report states that they served nearly 
400,000 individuals and served 25,000 families who had never visited a food pantry before. They distributed over 29 
million pounds of food from March to June 2020—30% more than was distributed during the same period in 2019.24

Figure 9. Government Food Assistance
Columbus MSA

2010 - 2020, Annual



8Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health

In an interview with a representative of the Central Ohio Area Agency on Aging, unique concerns around food distribution 
to older residents were discussed. Seniors eligible for Meals-on-Wheels were given increased service, and area agencies 
on aging tapped into other resources such as volunteer or charity funds to help provide people with some additional food 
or local food box programs. Home health aides were encouraged to assist with grocery shopping for their clients to help 
manage the risk of exposure. However, it was noted that some people still experienced challenges, most notably those 
with low-incomes who may not qualify for Meals-on-Wheels, and those without home health aides.

Nationally, surveys conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau in March 2021 suggest that people of color disproportionately 
experienced food insecurity. Black or African American people make up 11% of the survey respondents but 15% of 
people who experienced food insufficiency. Similarly Hispanic or Latinx people were 17% of respondents but 25% of 
people wo experienced food insufficiency. Pre-pandemic data suggests that rural communities experience greater food 
insecurity as well. According to Feeding America, “rural communities make up 63% of counties in the United States and 
87% of counties with the highest rates of overall food insecurity.” 25

There are lasting concerns about the increase in households experiencing prolonged food insecurity—rises in diet-related 
disease rates, and more barriers to success for children in school and beyond. Whether prolonged or temporary, the U.S. 
Census Bureau survey sheds light on less tangible but not less important concerns around the mental health impacts of 
food insecurity. Nationally, people who were food insecure in a March 2021 survey reported up to twice as often than the 
overall population that they were experiencing frequent mental and emotional distress (Figure 10).

Food resources and distribution systems are strong in Central Ohio, yet the shock of the pandemic was enough to press 
those systems beyond their limits. With 2 million more households facing food insecurity in Ohio even a year after the 
shutdowns began, these limits are clear. The challenges are in part with the historical underinvestment in the social sector 
(for more detail, see the Social Sector brief), and with a pervasive challenge connecting people to resources, particularly 
people who have not found themselves needing supports before. The American Rescue Plan includes bolstered supports 
for food insecurity problems, like increased food benefits for SNAP recipients, greater administrative funds for state run 
programs to better-handle the increased volume of demand and increased or extended supports for families with children 
not in school.26 

Figure 10. Mental Health Distress by Food Insecurity
United States

Mar 17 - Mar 21, 2021



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health 10 

REFERENCES 

1. ZANNAS, A. S., ARLOTH, J., CARRILLO-ROA, T., IURATO, S., RÖH, S., RESSLER, K. J., … MEHTA, D. (2018, MAY
23). LIFETIME STRESS ACCELERATES EPIGENETIC AGING IN AN URBAN, AFRICAN AMERICAN COHORT:
RELEVANCE OF GLUCOCORTICOID SIGNALING. GENOME BIOLOGY.
https://genomebiology.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13059-015-0828-5

2. MARCUS, M. B. (2016, AUGUST 24). COULD THIS ETHNIC GROUP HOLD A KEY TO LONGER LIFE? CBS NEWS.
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/latinos-could-age-slower-hold-key-to-longer-life/

3. CENTER FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION. (2021, MARCH 12). RISK FOR COVID-19 INFECTION,
HOSPITALIZATION, AND DEATH BY RACE/ETHNICITY. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-
ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html

4. KFF. (2021). COVID-19 DEATHS BY RACE/ETHNICITY [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.kff.org/state-
category/covid-19/covid-19-disparities/

5. CENTER FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION. (2021). HEALTH DISPARITIES: RACE AND HISPANIC
ORIGIN [DATA SET. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/covid19/health_disparities.htm

6. OHIO DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. (2021). DEMOGRAPHICS COVID-19 DASHBOARD [DATA VISUALIZATION].
RETRIEVED FROM https://coronavirus.ohio.gov/wps/portal/gov/covid-19/dashboards/demographics/case-
demographics

7. COLUMBUS PUBLIC HEALTH. (2021). CITY OF COLUMBUS AND FRANKLIN COUNTY JURISDICTIONS:
CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019 (COVID-19) SUMMARY OF CASES [DATA VISUALIZATION]. CITY OF
COLUMBUS. RETRIEVED FROM https://public.tableau.com/views/COVID-
19OutbreakSummary_15918845768300/COVID19Summaryp1?:display_count=y&:origin=viz_share_link&:showVizHo
me=no

8. CENTER FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION. (2021, MARCH 12). RISK FOR COVID-19 INFECTION,
HOSPITALIZATION, AND DEATH BY RACE/ETHNICITY. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-
ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html

9. ANDRASFAY, T., &AMP; GOLDMAN, N. (2021, FEBRUARY 2). REDUCTIONS IN 2020 US LIFE EXPECTANCY DUE
TO COVID-19 AND THE DISPROPORTIONATE IMPACT ON THE BLACK AND LATINO POPULATIONS. PNAS.
https://www.pnas.org/content/118/5/e2014746118/

10. ROBERT WOOD JOHNSON FOUNDATION. (2021). IMMIGRATION, HEALTH CARE AND HEALTH. RETRIEVED
FROM https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2017/09/immigration-status-and-health.html

11. SHOICHET, C. (2020, DECEMBER 22). FEAR COULD STOP THE CORONAVIRUS VACCINE FROM REACHING
SOME OF THE PEOPLE WHO NEED IT MOST. CNN HEALTH. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.cnn.com/2020/12/22/health/undocumented-immigrants-coronavirus-vaccine/index.htmL

12. HOSTETTER, M. & KLEIN, S. (2021, JANUARY 14). UNDERSTANDING AND AMELIORATING MEDICAL
MISTRUST AMONG BLACK AMERICANS. THE COMMONWEALTH FUND. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/newsletter-article/2021/jan/medical-mistrust-among-black-americans

13. CENTER FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION. (2020, DECEMBER 17). OVERDOSE DEATHS
ACCELERATING DURING COVID-19. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2020/p1218-
overdose-deaths-covid-19.html

14. OHIO DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. (2021). COVID-19 DASHBOARD [DATA VISUALIZATION]. RETRIEVED FROM
https://coronavirus.ohio.gov/wps/portal/gov/covid-19/dashboards

15. CENSUS HOUSEHOLD PULSE SURVEY (2021, MARCH 17 – MARCH 29). TABLE 1. CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC
RELATED PROBLEMS WITH ACCESS TO MEDICAL CARE, IN LAST 4 WEEKS, BY SELECT CHARACTERISTICS
[DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2021/demo/hhp/hhp27.html

16. WOSU. (2020, DECEMBER 21). COLUMBUS WAS MAKING PROGRESS ON FIGHTING DRUG OVERDOSES.
THEN COVID-19 HIT. WOSU PUBLIC MEDIA. RETRIEVED FROM https://news.wosu.org/news/2020-12-
21/columbus-was-making-progress-on-fighting-drug-overdoses-then-covid-19-hit

17. MORGAN KELLY, “INEQUALITY AND CRIME,” REVIEW OF ECONOMICS AND STATISTICS 82, NO. 4 (2000): 530–
39.

18. OHIO DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. (N.D.). OHIO PUBLIC HEALTH INFORMATION WAREHOUSE - MORTALITY.
PUBLIC. http://publicapps.odh.ohio.gov/EDW/DataBrowser/Browse/MortalitY

19. CORLEY, C. (2021, JANUARY 6). MASSIVE 1-YEAR RISE IN HOMICIDE RATES COLLIDED WITH THE PANDEMIC
IN 2020. NPR. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.npr.org/2021/01/06/953254623/massive-1-year-rise-in-homicide-rates-
collided-with-the-pandemic-in-2020

20. GUNDERSEN, C. & ZILIAK, J. (2015, NOVEMBER 1). FOOD INSECURITY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES. HEALTH
AFFAIRS. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0645



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Public Health 10 

Fu
nd

er
s 

21. FEEDING AMERICA. (2021). IMPORTANCE OF NUTRITION ON HEALTH IN AMERICA. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.feedingamerica.org/hunger-in-america/impact-of-hunger/hunger-and-nutrition

22. U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE: ECONOMIC RESEARCH SERVICE. (2019). TRENDS IN U.S. FOOD
SECURITY [DATA VISUALIZATION]. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-
assistance/food-security-in-the-us/interactive-charts-and-highlights/#trends

23. U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE: FOOD AND NUTRITION SERVICES. (2021, FEBRUARY 12). NATIONAL
SCHOOL LUNCH PROGRAM: NUMBER OF LUNCHES SERVED. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.fns.usda.gov/pd/child-nutrition-tables

24. MID-OHIO FOOD COLLECTIVE. (2020). 2020 MID-OHIO FOOD COLLECTIVE ANNUAL REPORT. AUTHOR:
COLUMBUS, OH. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.midohiofoodbank.org/get_involved/give_funds/give-with-
confidence/

25. FEEDING AMERICA. (2021). RURAL HUNGER FACTS. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.feedingamerica.org/hunger-
in-america/rural-hunger-facts

26. U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE. (N.D.). HELP TO PUT FOOD ON THE TABLE FACTS ON NUTRITION
ASSISTANCE IN THE AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN . https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/arp-national-
factsheet.pdf

Columbus City Council 
The Columbus Foundation 

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 



1Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

SOCIAL SECTOR
Summary
The social sector is a broad ecosystem of service providers (e.g., human service nonprofits, government social 
service departments, and some faith-based organizations), funders (e.g., philanthropic organizations, corporate, and 
individual donors), and partner organizations (e.g., transit agencies, libraries, and hospitals). Together, these entities 
work to address the needs of residents, communities, and organizations that are unmet by private, federal, and state 
resources. Despite a strong recovery in Central Ohio following the Great Recession, the need for supports was still 
increasing as a function of population growth, a widening income gap, and persistent disparities for the region’s 
people of color. 

The social sector was experiencing overall growth, but not without great hurdles to keeping nonprofits running. 
Furthermore, nonprofit organizations have necessarily focused on programmatic spending over operational 
investments, which contributed to lower resiliency in emergency situations.

The COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated both the need for community-based human services and the precarity of 
supports for the nonprofit sector. This “perfect storm” of challenges punctuated the need for long-term strengthening 
of the systems that support the region’s most vulnerable residents. Many improvised solutions emerged that may 
serve as valuable seeds of change for a more equitable, resilient social sector going forward.

Key Issues

High un- or underemployment has contributed to an increased need for individual 
supports, by and large adding new financial hurdles for low-wage households.

The social sector fills a critical role in meeting community needs responsively, but with 
many small nonprofits doing this work and low investments in operations, the pandemic 
emergency catalyzed instability in the nonprofit sector.

Much needed temporary supports for nonprofits came from federal relief packages and 
increases in individual giving have supported part of the need, but these funding stream 
shifts were not enough to offset the increased operational costs and loss of funds from 
other sources.

Emergency delivery of human services presented a host of challenges, especially as 
nonprofits had to reduce capacity and respond to a rapidly changing and a sustained high 
volume of needs. The sector came together to innovate during the crisis, while unearthing 
new opportunities for more collaborative, effective service delivery in the future.



2

INCREASED NEED FOR INDIVIDUAL SUPPORTS
In the 2010s, Central Ohio experienced strong recovery from the 
Great Recession, including slow but steady declines in the number 
of residents in poverty. Even still, in 2019 there were 140,000 
households living at the poverty line or below (around $25,000 
annually for a household with two adults and two children), and 40% 
of those households earned only half of the defined income 
threshold for poverty (Figure 1). Compounding the need for 
individual supports around mental and physical healthcare, 
approximately 150,000 Central Ohioans lacked health insurance in 
2019. 

Strong economic growth in Central Ohio presents clear benefits, but 
it is also paired with challenges as the cost-of-living increases, 
raising the bar for those with lower earnings. Reflecting the widening 
gap for Central Ohioans, those in the highest earnings quintile saw 
an increase in income ten times greater than those in the lowest 
quintile from 2010 to 2019 (Figure 2). The nonprofit sector, in 
conjunction with traditional government assistance programs, play a 
key role in administering assistance to residents.

The pandemic heightened demand for basic needs, including food, 
shelter, and mental and physical healthcare. This affected people 
with low-wage jobs, hit the hardest by the pandemic shutdowns, 
either by expanding their existing needs for social supports, or in 
some cases introducing the need for supports for the first time.

Interviews with leaders from the Central Ohio social sector 
highlighted the value of direct financial assistance to individuals, 
such as federal stimulus payments and enhanced unemployment 
benefits, to efficiently meet basic needs. While the cash assistance 
was a critical support, there were still more Central Ohioans seeking 
traditional government assistance than before the pandemic. For 
example, in April 2020, Central Ohio saw a sudden increase in food 
assistance recipients (19,000 more households than March 2020). 
More children than adults were living in these households, pointing 
to a likely prevalence of single parent households among those 
seeking assistance from the state (Figure 3).

In 2019 in the Columbus MSA, a disproportionately high number of 
families with 3 or more people were receiving benefits like food 
assistance, and 55% of households below the poverty level were 
single mother households compared to just 13% of households 
overall.1

Furthermore, survey data from the U.S. Census Bureau suggests 
that one out of every three adults in Ohio are having a somewhat or 
very difficult time keeping up with usual household expenses in 
March 2021. These Ohioans are less likely to have maintained their 
pre-pandemic income, which indicates loss of employment as a 
major factor contributing to their difficulty keeping up with expenses. 
They are more likely to be using state-run assistance programs 
(e.g., Supplemental Nutritional Assistance Program), and they are 
more likely to be paying bills by borrowing money from friends and 
family, using credit cards or loans, using savings, or selling assets 
(Figure 4). 

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

Figure 2. Quintile Median Income
Columbus MSA, 2011 - 2019 (Annual)

Figure 1. Poverty
Columbus MSA, 2011 - 2019 (Annual)

Figure 3. Households Receiving 
Food Assistance
Central Ohio Counties*, 2019 - 2021(Monthly)



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

According to analysis from the Urban Institute, more Central Ohio residents in most counties are taking out payday loans, 
a form of debt that is usually short-term and high interest, than before the pandemic. Some of the more rural Central 
Ohio counties have experienced increases in the share of the population behind on car or mortgage payments, and more 
residents have subprime credit scores than before the pandemic shutdowns started.2

Ohioans who are having the greatest difficulty keeping up are disproportionately residents who are younger, Black or 
Asian, single or divorced, low-income, high school educated or less, or with children under 18 living in the household.3 
These disparities are a marker of the so-called "K-shaped" recovery. Residents who were better off than others before 
the pandemic had more resilient structures in place (e.g., remote work options and digital access) compared to those 
who were worse off before the pandemic. The structures that support low-income residents and especially people of color 
are simply less resilient. 

Interviews with Central Ohio social sector leaders echoed the Census Bureau data in the disparate effect of the pandemic 
on certain groups of the population. Black and brown residents were hit hardest both economically and by the health 
impacts of the pandemic, as were low-wage workers in essential service industry roles (e.g., restaurants and childcare). 
Low-wage jobs, which are prevalent in the service industry, are disproportionately held by people of color.4

Beyond the insights highlighted by data from the Census surveys, interviewees suggested that women were hit harder 
due to challenges with increased unpaid labor responsibilities while schools and daycares are closed. They also noted 
that older adults and residents with mobility limitations faced increased social isolation, residents with limited English 
proficiency faced expanded challenges accessing resources, and undocumented residents or those with uncertain legal 
statuses were concerned about interacting with the health and social service systems.

The uneven impact of the pandemic is certainly measured by individuals’ ability to access what are usually thought of 
as the ‘basic needs’ (e.g. shelter, food, and healthcare). The pandemic also revealed the importance of other needs as 
elemental to thriving in contemporary society. Gaps in access to broadband, technology, and digital literacy (discussed in 
greater detail in the Technology & Broadband Access brief) have contributed disparities in job loss, which were further 
compounded by the increasing reliance on access to virtual organizations for finding support and resources, reskilling for 
a changing job landscape, effective use of remote education, and maintaining social ties. 

Concurrent with the pandemic’s alarming magnification of inequities nationwide, the death of George Floyd and ensuing 
protests have ignited institutions and organizations involved in social service delivery to take a more overt stance on 
tackling racism in their communities. Adding to the increased need for nonprofit and state-run human services from the 
pandemic, the developing racial justice movement created new needs for support from social sector organizations, like 
legal defense and bail funds; diversity, equity, and inclusion training; and community organizing.

3

Figure 4. 
Funds Used to 

Meet Recent 
Spending 

Needs
Ohio

Mar 3 - Mar 15, 2021

SOURCE: U.S. Census 
Bureau Household 

Pulse Survey



INSTABILITY IN THE 
NONPROFIT SECTOR

In 2017, 1,700 nonprofit organizations in the Columbus metro employed 95,000 people, 
making up 11% of total employment in the region. 1,000 of those nonprofits, employing 
63,000 people, were in health and social services. The nonprofit sector experienced strong 
growth and recovery in Central Ohio during the 2010s following the Great Recession, 
expanding both assets and revenues for human services, education, and the arts.5 
Growth was strong during this period, but so too were challenges for nonprofits working 
to maintain funding to meet their service delivery objectives. Additionally, nonprofits have 
historically struggled to invest in operational improvements as they often prioritize funds to 
programming.

Not only do nonprofits play a key role in the region’s economy, they are an essential vehicle 
for programmatic delivery of social support services. Nationwide, nonprofits play a critical 
role in community-based human services delivery. Locally, nearly all jobs in social advocacy, 
civic, and social organizations are in the nonprofit sector. Nonprofits also represent most 
jobs in key human service industries like education, individual, and family services, and in 
work supporting residents with developmental disabilities, mental health, and addiction.6

A smaller, but not insignificant share of the arts, entertainment, and recreation industry (19%) 
is represented by nonprofits in Central Ohio. Nationally, this industry within the nonprofit 
sector was hit harder than any other, facing a 37% employment reduction over the course 
of 2020. In interviews, representatives from the arts community highlighted the need for 
operational supports for arts organizations, ranging from sustaining basic operations to 
having performance and recording space during and after the pandemic for artists to create 
content. Arts and culture nonprofits were faced with technological hurdles, looking for ways 
to engage the community in a virtual setting. These issues are discussed in greater detail in 
the Technology and Broadband Access brief.

In times of crisis and economic hardship, there is an inevitable double-edged sword—more 
people need services and resources, while the stability of nonprofit organizations tasked 
with delivering those services is threatened. Nationwide, nonprofits have been severely 
impacted by the pandemic—by December 2020, the sector had lost nearly one million jobs, 
a 7% decline from February 2020, according to the Johns Hopkins Center for Civil Society 
Studies.7

In a recent survey of Ohio nonprofits, 14% of respondent organizations remained unable to 
provide any programs or services, and 61% reported either moderate (28%) or severe (33%) 
reduction in services. Furthermore, diminished funding and operational challenges have 
initiated contraction and consolidation of the nonprofit sector. An estimated 18% of Ohio 
nonprofits, mostly smaller organizations, have either already (8%) or plan to 
(10%) shut down operations indefinitely, and 7% have already or plan to merge with another 
organization.8

In many ways, nonprofits are like small businesses, but with additional restrictions on how 
to spend resources (e.g., grants with tight caps on operational expenses and onerous 
reporting requirements). Funders in Central Ohio have taken measures to introduce flexible 
grantmaking in response to the surging and rapidly shifting needs of both nonprofits and the 
communities they serve. They have also worked to intentionally enhance the accessibility of 
grant dollars, removing hurdles that would otherwise deter some small, lesser-known 
nonprofits from applying. Offering grant agreements that allow nonprofits greater flexibility 
or unrestricted use of funding, extending grant timelines, and offering opportunities to roll 
programmatic funds into operational budgets are some strategies that have been employed, 
and that may present a solution for sustained recovery of the sector, especially small 
nonprofits. Simplified and shared expectations for reporting and data collection among 
funders will also create efficiency and remove a burden for non-profits without sacrificing 
accountability. 
Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector 4



5Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

Locally, these flexible grantmaking efforts have been successful in eliminating some barriers for small nonprofits receiving 
grants from emergency relief funds. United Way of Central Ohio (UWCO), for instance, awarded nearly $400,000 in grants 
to small nonprofits with no previously established relationship to UWCO by allowing organizations to apply for smaller 
amounts of funding that fit the scale of their organizations’ capacities, and waiving requirements in the application process 
for new nonprofits that might otherwise deter them from applying.

The Columbus Foundation introduced application process adjustments as well. These include reduced  application length, 
simplified application questions,  significantly faster turnaround from application to receipt of grant payment (to as little as 
2 weeks), and minimal reporting requirements.

Interviews with social sector leaders suggest that although most nonprofits saw a reduction in resources, some service 
providers, such as food banks and pantries, saw a large influx of resources to help meet needs. In these cases, 
the challenges were less centered on a lack of resources, but more so on the unpredictable fluctuations created by 
changing closures and safety guidelines (e.g., after-school programs and recreation centers). Funding and supports for 
organizations to adapt to the changing environment are critical. 

A challenge throughout 2020 was figuring out how to leverage the variety of federal, state, local, and philanthropic 
resources that became available at different times throughout the year, with different levels of flexibility and deadlines 
for expenditure. As federal resources continue to flow in 2021, the challenge of taking advantage of all possible funding 
streams will become even greater.

Central Ohio leaders understood the importance of bolstering the social sector when the pandemic crisis hit. While none 
of the dollars from the CARES Act were specifically earmarked for nonprofits, local governments like the City of Columbus 
and Franklin County, and even the State of Ohio, channeled those dollars to nonprofits throughout the region. The 
government response paired with a surge of generosity from philanthropic entities, businesses, and individual donors was 
so successful, in fact, that Mackenzie Scott passed up Columbus when deciding how to spend billions in COVID-19 relief 
donations.9

Social sector leaders are hopeful that funders will permanently adopt more proactive and less reactive investments and 
see the value and return on investment of a well-funded and well-resourced social sector in our community. 2021 federal 
funds from the American Relief Plan (ARP) will be significantly greater than CARES Act dollars with fewer restrictions and 
have the potential to serve as a resource to enhance the Central Ohio social sector, injecting much needed and long-
awaited funds into the organizations that fill the gaps in federal and state-run social service programs.



FUNDING STREAM SHIFTS

6Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

According to the National Council of Nonprofits, sector-wide, more than 80% of charitable nonprofit revenues come from 
private fees for services, or government contracts. While each individual nonprofit has its own funding profile, about 
14% of nonprofit revenues come from charitable giving and philanthropy across the sector (Figure 5).10 Arts 
organizations differ from this norm, relying more heavily on giving (about 50% of revenues) than on programmatic funds.

In Ohio, a survey of nonprofits suggests that these organizations are feeling revenue impacts of the pandemic, with 80% 
of respondents reporting reductions in revenues of greater than 10%, and just under half expecting revenue reductions 
of about 50%. Cuts appear across the board for organizations’ revenue profiles—from major funding sources like fees for 
services and government contracts and grants, to smaller sources like individual and corporate giving (Figure 6). 
According to interviews with local social sector leaders, Central Ohio nonprofits are uncertain about their 2021 revenue 
streams. Many have used their contingency funds for 2020 and are trying to operate as efficiently as possible to work 
with their budgets and meet their missions in 2021 and beyond. In January and February 2021, Central Ohio health 
and human service nonprofits reported $74 million in unrealized revenues and $25 million in incurred expenses due to 
COVID-19.

While fund reductions are an issue across organizations, some strategies have bolstered nonprofit budgets. Some 
CARES Act dollars were channeled to nonprofits by local governments (as will funding from the American Rescue 
Plan Act), and The Columbus Foundation and United Way of Central Ohio each established emergency relief funds 
(ERF).The region’s local governments and philanthropic organizations have an opportunity to learn from the successes 
and challenges of the 2020 federal funding distribution process to simplify application for funds and get dollars awarded 
quickly. 

Some nonprofits applied for and received money from the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). About 4% of PPP loans 
($40 million) protected nonprofit jobs (7,000), whereas about 96% of Central Ohio PPP dollars ($1 billion) sheltered 
185,000 jobs in the private sector (Figure 7).11 While a relatively small share of the PPP loan program was utilized by 
nonprofits, they had enormous value for the organizations that used the funds, and interviews with social sector leaders 
suggest that many human service nonprofits applied for and received these supports. A survey of local health and human 
services organizations suggested that 80% of the 76 respondents applied for and received PPP loans.12

Figure 6. Nonprofit COVID-19 Funding Impacts 
Ohio, 2020

Figure 5. Sources of Nonprofit Funding 
United States, 2019



7Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

Typically, non-emergency funds for human services are channeled through state and municipal-run programs, as well as 
human service nonprofits. However, the economic impacts of COVID-19 have the potential to stifle these revenues in the 
long run, in the absence of continued relief. Nationally, the impact of revenues that would translate to funds distributed to 
state, local, tribal and territorial governments is projected at $555 billion over state fiscal years 2020 – 2022.13 This 
projection has drawn national interest toward assistance specifically targeting stability of vital services these funds 
typically support, which include funds for critical human services.

Philanthropic giving generally makes up a small but vital share of overall nonprofit funding streams, but it can offer more 
flexibility and responsiveness to immediate or changing community needs. These sources have experienced some 
encouraging increases as the pandemic continued. The Columbus Foundation 2020 ERF grant distribution was over $7.2 
million and represented a combination of drastic reallocation of grant funding and increased corporate and individual 
giving.14 The Big Give raised $32.5 million for nonprofits in 2020, an increase of 81% from the previous Big Give in 2017.15 
UWCO ERF grant distribution was $2.4 million as of August 2020 (Figure 8).16

Nationally, there was an increase in contributions to donor-advised funds and #GivingTuesday contributions (both up 
more than 20% over 2019), which show the commitment of individual donors to addressing the COVID-19 economic 
fallout.17 Emergency response giving is an important piece of the nonprofit funding puzzle, but is not necessarily enough 
to keep struggling nonprofits afloat on its own—other interventions will still be necessary in what promises to be a long, 
slow recovery.

The COVID-19 pandemic provides a rallying point for giving and philanthropy in the community, and community members 
have been generous to specific causes. Yet, the community leaders interviewed anticipate that tax revenue will be down, 
and philanthropic giving may not be enough to meet all the need. In the City of Columbus, municipal income tax 
is the primary revenue stream for the general fund (76%) which is expected to take a hit if there are long-term shifts to 
remote work (read more on this in the Economic and Community Development brief) or sustained employment reductions 
in at-risk industries (more on this in the Employment and Small Business brief).18 One person mentioned the possibility of 
levies to help meet social service demands on systems. Another suggested redistribution of local government budgets. 
The region will have to prioritize needs, communicate effectively, and coordinate efficiently to come close to meeting 
social needs as the community and individual residents work to recover from the pandemic.

Figure 7. Paycheck Protection Program 
(PPP) Loans

Columbus MSA, As of March 2021

Figure 8. Emergency Relief Funds 
Distribution of Dollars Awarded by Category 

2020



Delivery of human and social services by community-based nonprofits presents an opportunity to meet the nuanced 
needs in communities. Community foundations and social service institutions are positioned at the heart of this work, 
looking across the ecosystem of service needs to coordinate and prioritize the distribution of philanthropic funds. With the 
region’s strong growth comes an increasing demand for services and resources.

The pandemic catalyzed steep declines in human service delivery. In July 2020, 70% of nonprofit programs were either 
halted or operating with limited capacity (Figure 9). Service delivery reductions paired with increased service demand 
sparked an “all-hands-on-deck” response from the health and human services community. Especially where critical needs 
emerged (e.g., food pantries, behavioral health, homelessness and housing supports), nonprofits adjusted quickly and 
effectively either through implementing safer in-person service delivery, or by embracing technological approaches like 
telemedicine. All of this illuminated opportunities for improvement around strategic coordination of resource delivery to 
increase operational agility and enhance the efficacy of the sector.

Central Ohio social sector leaders say they hope that novel adaptations will become permanent operational 
improvements. These improvements did not come without growing pains, however, and there are still nonprofits in need 
of supports. Early in the pandemic in May 2020, 70% of nonprofits reported a need for assistance, especially with 
technology, strategic planning, and human resources (Figure 10). Many of these needs persist.

The pandemic magnified the need for intentional local braiding of resources, and interviewees want to continue to build on 
local coordination post-pandemic. “We need to be cognizant of who’s doing what, and how quickly,” one staff member of a 
grantmaking organization stated. “Too often, when our community comes together, we’re omitting a really key group from 
that, not necessarily intentionally, but because things are moving fast.” Key groups include, but are not limited to, cities 
and townships, counties, federal funding stream representatives, non-profits, health systems, education institutions, 
neighborhood-based organizations, and other community leaders. 

There is also an opportunity to build greater intentionality into racial equity in the distribution of funds. Taking care up-front 
to ensure funds are elevating the work of effective nonprofits with leaders of color, serving the needs of communities they 
represent. One example is the Equity Now Coalition—a group of elected officials and nonprofit leaders working on 
“facilitating the design and implementation of a collective impact strategy to achieve equitable outcomes for the Black 
Columbus.”19 Furthermore, organizations delivering supports to residents impacted by racism are rethinking how they 
prioritize and operationalize funds to ensure an explicit understanding of who is being served, and whether social service 
programs are effective in helping residents overcome structural hurdles. 

Nonprofits are a small but critically important part of a complex ecosystem that supports human service delivery. While 
these organizations can (and often do) serve important roles in serving residents who have been impacted by structural 
racism, removing those structures will take far broader change and greater strides in realizing diverse leadership in the 
private, public and nonprofit sectors, not only within administrations and C-suites, but within councils and boards.

 “[In a year I want to see] Tangible ways that everyone has the opportunity to participate fully in the recovery,” an 
interviewee stated. “[We need to] have equity as the lens that we’re looking through in terms of serving low-income 
people and people of color… we’ll see more minority businesses and job growth among minority businesses; greater 
participation from larger entities and corporations to provide not only financial support, but technical support to help the 
smaller organizations where most of the job growth takes place. So a year from now, I’d like for us to truly live up to the 
motto of One Columbus—prosperity for all.”

8Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

EMERGENCY DELIVERY OF HUMAN SERVICES

A year from now, I’d like for us to 
truly live up to the motto of One 
Columbus— prosperity for all.



9Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

In part, improvements to operational agility were realized through targeted technical assistance for nonprofits and 
leveraged partnerships with larger organizations. For instance, the Human Service Chamber of Franklin County (HSC) 
discussed its shared services for its members. HSC has served as a central resource for acquiring personal protective 
equipment and general legal guidance to ease the burden on its nonprofit members. Another example, IMPACT 
Community Action created memorandums of understanding and partnership agreements with 20 smaller nonprofits to 
share revenue to help process rental assistance for the soaring demand. 

Other adaptations are technology-driven, improving the discoverability of the ever-changing landscape of resources 
and services to improve efficiency for providers and clients. IMPACT Community Action is creating a centralized client 
relationship management system so that the organization and its partners can coordinate and collaborate to serve 
families. Discussed in more detail in the Technology and Broadband Access brief, the civic technology community, like the 
Can’t Stop Columbus initiative, was an important player in developing resources for enhanced virtual service delivery for 
under-resourced service organizations.

The stress on nonprofit frontline workers at places like food banks, homeless shelters, and behavioral health facilities was 
also noted. While social services professionals have risen to the occasion, they have also been mentally and emotionally 
challenged by the pandemic and the volume of demand. These secondary impacts are discussed further 
in the Public Health brief. Additionally, nonprofit workers have struggled with absences due to COVID-19 illness and 
quarantine as a result of being on the front lines of service delivery, which hamper operational capacity on top of the 
health impact to workers and their families. 

Figure 9. Nonprofit Service Delivery  Impact
Central Ohio, July 2020

Figure 10. Nonprofit Needs 
Central Ohio, May 2020



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector 10 

Fu
nd

er
s 

REFERENCES 
1. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU: 1 YEAR AMERICAN COMMUNITY SURVEY. (2019). [DATA SET]. FAMILY SIZE BY CASH

PUBLIC ASSISTANCE INCOME OR HOUSEHOLDS RECEIVING FOOD STAMPS/SNAP BENEFITS IN THE PAST
12 MONTHS. RETRIEVED FROM https://data.census.gov

2. BRAGA, B. ET AL., (2021, FEBRUARY 25). CREDIT HEALTH DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC. URBAN
INSTITUTE. RETRIEVED FROM https://apps.urban.org/features/credit-health-during-pandemic/index.html.

3. CENSUS HOUSEHOLD PULSE SURVEY. (2021). TABLE 1. DIFFICULTY PAYING USUAL HOUSEHOLD
EXPENSES IN THE LAST 7 DAYS, BY SELECT CHARACTERISTICS, WEEK 27 [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2021/demo/hhp/hhp26.html.

4. U.S. CENSUS. (2020). LEHD ORIGIN-DESTINATION EMPLOYMENT STATISTICS DATA. (2002-2018) [DATA SET].
WASHINGTON, DC: U.S. CENSUS BUREAU, LONGITUDINAL-EMPLOYER HOUSEHOLD DYNAMICS PROGRAM.
RETRIEVED FROM https://lehd.ces.census.gov/data/

5. THOUGHTWELL. (2019). NONPROFIT IMPACT: A REPORT ON THE NONPROFIT SECTOR IN FRANKLIN
COUNTY. PREPARED FOR THE COLUMBUS FOUNDATION AND UNITED WAY. RETRIEVED FROM
https://columbusfoundation.org/umbraco-media/5548/nonprof- it-sector-report_feb2019p.pdf.

6. BUREAU OF LABOR STATISTICS. RESEARCH DATA ON THE NONPROFIT SECTOR. (2017). [DATA SET].
https://www.bls.gov/bdm/nonprofits/nonprofits.htm.

7. JOHN HOPKINS UNIVERSITY CENTER FOR CIVIL SOCIETY STUDIES. (2021, JANUARY 19). NONPROFITS LOST
OVER 50,000 JOBS IN DECEMBER, REVERSING A SLOW RECOVERY [PRESS RELEASE]. RETRIEVED FROM
http://ccss.jhu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/NEWS-RELEASE-Dec-Jobs-Report_1-19-2021.pdf

8. BEATON, E. E, COLCHIN, E., & MA, Y. (2020). OHIO NONPROFIT COVID-19 SURVEY: A REPORT OF WAVE 2
RESULTS. COLUMBUS, OH: THE OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OFFICE, PHILANTHROPY OHIO, & OANO.
RETRIEVED FROM https://charitable.ohioago.gov/getattachment/9bd8f2e7-18b6-44c3-93ee-7c52fb5799a8/Ohio-
Nonprofit-COVID-19-Survey-Wave-2-Report

9. SCOTT, M. (2020, DECEMBER 15). 384 WAYS TO HELP. MAKENZIE SCOTT - MEDIUM. RETRIEVED FROM https://
mackenzie-scott.medium.com/384-ways-to-help-45d0b9ac6ad8

10. NATIONAL COUNCIL OF NONPROFITS. (2019). NONPROFIT IMPACT MATTERS: HOW AMERICA’S CHARITABLE
NONPROFITS STRENGTHEN COMMUNITIES AND IMPROVE LIVES [INFOGRAPHIC]. RETRIEVED FROM https://
www.nonprofitimpactmatters.org/site/assets/files/1/nonprofit-impact-matters-sept-2019-1.pdf

11. BEATON, E. E, COLCHIN, E., & MA, Y. (2020). OHIO NONPROFIT COVID-19 SURVEY: A REPORT OF WAVE 2
RESULTS. COLUM- BUS, OH: THE OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OFFICE, PHILANTHROPY OHIO, & OANO.
RETRIEVED FROM https://www.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/Files/Briefing-Room/News-Releases/Charitable-Law/Ohio-
Nonprofit-COVID-19-Survey-Report.aspx

12. HUMAN SERVICE CHAMBER OF FRANKLIN COUNTY. (2020, JULY 29). SURVEY: $40 MILLION LOST IN
REVENUE SINCE MARCH • HUMAN SERVICE CHAMBER OF FRANKLIN COUNTY.
https://humanservicechamber.org/survey-40-million-lost-in-revenue-since-march/.

13. THE U.S. FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY. (2020). COVID-19’S IMPACT ON THE HUMAN AND
SOCIAL SERVICES SECTOR. WASHINGTON, D.C.: FEMA. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/2020-11/fema_covid-19-impact- human-social-services-sector_best-
practice_11-16-20.pdf

14. THE COLUMBUS FOUNDATION. (2021, MARCH 30). SUPPORTING OUR COMMUNITY: RESPONDING TO
CORONAVIRUS. RETRIEVED  FROM https://columbusfoundation.org/emergency-response-fund-impact

15. THE COLUMBUS FOUNDATION. (2020). THE BIG GIVE RESULTS SUMMARY. COLUMBUS, OH: AUTHOR.
RETRIEVED FROM https://columbusfoundation.org/umbraco-media/6656/tbg2020-results_07_01_2020.pdf

16. UNITED WAY OF CENTRAL OHIO. (2020). COMMUNITY RESPONSE FUND. RETRIEVED FROM
https://liveunitedcentralohio.org/responsefund/

17. CANDID AND THE CENTER FOR DISASTER PHILANTHROPY. (2021). PHILANTHROPY AND COVID-19
MEASURING ONE YEAR OF GIVING. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.issuelab.org/resources/38039/38039.pdf

18. PAGANO, M. & MCFARLAND, C. (2020, MARCH 31). WHEN WILL YOUR CITY FEEL THE FISCAL IMPACT OF
COVID-19? BROOKINGS. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.brookings.edu/blog/the-avenue/2020/03/31/when-will-your-
city-feel-the-fiscal-impact-of- covid-19/

19. EQUITY NOW COALITION. (N.D.). COLLECTIVE ACTION INITIATIVE FOCUSED ON SOCIAL JUSTICE IN
COLUMBUS. http://equitynowcoalition.org/.

Columbus City Council 
The Columbus Foundation 

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 



1Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access

TECHNOLOGY & BROADBAND ACCESS
Summary
Just two decades in, the twenty-first century has been a time of remarkable technological advancements 
that impact nearly every aspect of life. The ways in which people use technology to engage in real-time 
for work, socialization, civic action, or completing day-to-day tasks like shopping, entertainment, or 
banking were previously a matter of convenience in many cases. In Central Ohio, there has been a 
growing interest across sectors in the ways that technology could enhance the region, with local leaders 
exploring ideas around building Smart Cities through things like digital infrastructure and connected 
vehicles.1 Furthermore, leaders are setting agendas for building data capacity and partnerships to 
improve data-informed decision-making, and especially to support more equitable outcomes in planning 
and policy decisions.2

Virtual life went from convenience to necessity when the pandemic shutdowns began in March 2020. 
Some people, businesses, and institutions were ready for the abrupt change to a predominantly remote 
world, but still others were less prepared.

Key Issues

A symptom of a long-developing digital divide, many Central Ohioans experienced a 
rocky transition to virtual life due to lack of access to affordable high-speed internet or 
adequate devices to support intensive technology use for things like remote work and 
school.

Even with measures to arm residents with technology tools, many in the region still fell 
behind due to low or limited digital literacy and a lack of services and resources to 
support residents who were less confident navigating virtual resources independently.

Many institutions were underprepared to make the leap from in-person to virtual 
operations and service delivery. The public and social sectors, small businesses and the 
arts had challenges and successes in the rapid transition to virtual institutions.

The reduction of physical community and civic engagement spurred the use of real-time 
technological interaction as a growing mode for building community connectivity.



Whether the issue is lack of infrastructure or affordability, 
limited options and lack of competition too often result in poor 
performance and high costs for consumers. Many areas are 
served by a single Internet Service Provider (ISP). In some 
cases, apartment tenants are restricted to a single ISP as 
property owners sign exclusivity options with one company. 
Standard broadband internet service has an estimated cost 
between $45 and $100 per month, not including costs for 
equipment, taxes, and other fees.

The pandemic led to a widespread shift to remote learning 
and work—initially, nearly all K-12 and college students were 
engaged in remote learning, and many employers required staff 
to work from home. By April 2021, all Central Ohio public school 
districts were either open five days a week, or in a hybrid 
model. However, many students and families were still opting 
for remote options. Statewide, estimates from the Census 
Household Pulse Survey suggest that 800,000 (41%) K-12 
students in Ohio were still engaged in remote learning at least 3 
days a week even in March 2021.9 The pandemic made clear 
the importance of digital connectivity for students to access key 
educational resources and excel outside of the classroom, even 
after in-school classes have fully resumed. In addition to the 
surge in students learning remotely, the same survey suggests 
that 3.3 million (37%) Ohio households had at least one adult 
engaged in telework as a result of the pandemic.10

2Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access

DIGITAL DIVIDE
For decades, the “digital divide”, or the gap in access to digital resources, has been a growing topic of research and 
policy concern driven by three elemental components—devices, broadband access and adoption, and digital literacy. It is 
necessary to address all three together to close the digital divide.

Broadband access is a challenge for households throughout Central Ohio for several reasons. Rural areas still face 
significant infrastructure gaps, and in urban and suburban communities where broadband infrastructure is nearly 
ubiquitous, affordability and adoption hurdles exist for some residents. In 2019 in some of the region’s most rural counties, 
nearly one in five households lacked home internet. In Franklin County, one in ten had no home internet. Among 
households that have home internet, there are disparities in connection speed and in access to appropriate devices. An 
analysis of Columbus broadband challenges produced by AECOM suggests that there are geographical disparities in 
internet speed, which can be a limiting factor in how effectively home internet can be used for things like remote school, 
telework, or telehealth (Figure 1).3

The quality or appropriateness of devices also makes a difference in how effectively a person can use technology for 
school, work, or healthcare. According to the Franklin County Digital Equity Framework, “low-income residents are much 
more likely to rely upon a mobile phone as their only computing device.4 While mobile devices offer convenience and are 
useful for intermittent internet access, they generally do not meet the needs of remote work or school, and relying on them 
as the sole source of access can significantly limit a person’s ability to engage with digital resources.”5

More than 206,000 households (25%) in the Columbus MSA lack a cable, fiber, or DSL internet account. Of those, 84,000 
have internet only through a cellular data plan, and another 79,000 have no home internet subscription of any kind. Lack 
of broadband disproportionately impacts low-income households. Households with an annual income less than $35,000 
make up 24% of households in the MSA, but account for 64% of those without broadband (Figure 2). Lack of home 
internet is also prevalent in older adult households (51,000, or more than one-third, lack a computer or home broadband). 
Digital equity disparities also exist among households of color - Black or African American and Hispanic or Latinx residents 

make up 20% of the population but represent 30% of residents
without a computer or home broadband (Figure 3).6,7,8Figure 1. Households with No Internet Access  

Central Ohio Counties, 2019



The need for devices and home internet access became imperative, especially for districts that were not already 
providing devices to students on loan. With libraries also closed for a period, then later reopened with limited capacity, the 
alternatives for students without home internet or adequate devices were limited at best. Throughout 2020, school 
districts, local governments, and other organizations worked to secure funds from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act to improve access to technology and internet as part of their remote learning plans. 
Some districts purchased computers for students to use on loan from the districts or refurbished computers to give to 
families indefinitely. Many ISPs offered temporarily free or reduced-cost internet service to qualifying families, opened 
community hot spots as a free Wi-Fi access option, or provided Wi-Fi hotspots for families to use in their homes.11

With each subsequent federal relief funding package, there has been an abundance of funding to address the digital 
divide. CARES Act funds were not specifically earmarked for digital equity, but many state and local governments 
used funds for these purposes. The Consolidated Appropriations Act funds in late 2020 included a provision for direct 
subsidies for residents through the Emergency Broadband Benefits, as well as funds designed to fill gaps in broadband 
infrastructure. The American Rescue Plan (ARP) Act includes multiple broadband-specific programs, targeting 
investments in libraries, school districts, states, and others. The funding is abundant, but complicated, and presents both 
an opportunity and an added burden, on already taxed organizations, to spend those dollars in a coordinated way, 
collaborating to make strides toward digital equity as efficiently and effectively as possible. 

The pandemic has cast a light on the already-present disparities in access to suitable internet and technology for high-
efficacy engagement in virtual environments. Some of the shifts to virtual school, work, institutions, and even community 
life that were accelerated by the pandemic will be permanent. Because of the digital divide that persists in Central Ohio, 
access to these virtual pathways and opportunities remains exclusive. 

Local leaders rallied around digital equity challenges with greater energy beginning in 2020, as the issue was magnified 
by the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2020, a new group formed that developed into the Franklin County Digital Equity Coalition, 
consisting of more than 30 local organizations working collaboratively to address digital equity needs for Franklin County. 
The group published a framework report in March 2021 that outlines these issues in greater detail.

3

Figure 2. Home Internet 
Access by Household 

Income 
Columbus MSA, 2019

SOURCE: U.S. Census 
Bureau American Community 

Figure 3. Households Without 
Broadband or Own Computer 
by Race & Ethnicity 
Columbus MSA, 2019

SOURCE: U.S. Census Bureau 
American Community Survey

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access



DIGITAL LITERACY
Alongside broadband access and devices, the third pillar of the digital divide is digital literacy. 
Low digital literacy is, in and of itself, a deterrent to broadband adoption. The skills needed to 
work effectively in virtual environments are not universally understood, let alone the skills to 
troubleshoot confidently when there are problems with equipment or the resources a person 
is trying to use. 

A 2015 Pew Research Center survey found that more than half of adult Americans lacked 
what they call “digital readiness” (Figure 4), a set of skills that would allow them to use 
internet and technology for more complex tasks like online learning. Americans who 
possessed digital readiness were more highly educated, younger, and had higher incomes 
than those who lacked this skillset. These people were not only more comfortable using and 
troubleshooting the technology itself, they were also more confident in their ability to discern 
and seek trustworthy information.12 That same study suggests that only 17% of adults are 
“highly prepared” to use technology for online learning. A 2019 Pew Research Center survey 
found that many American adults were unsure about or incorrectly identified important 
internet security and privacy topics, like how to make sure a website they are using is secure 
and identifying phishing scams.13

In Central Ohio, numerous organizations provide digital literacy and technical support 
services, but it is a disjointed and patchwork system, with many organizations serving certain 
clientele or meeting specific needs. There is not a universal and easily navigable resource to 
direct those in need to the appropriate digital literacy supports. The digital literacy and skill-
building resources that do exist in Central Ohio seem to be disproportionately targeted 
toward training people for technology-based careers, and thus require users to begin from a 
higher base level. These resources are important workforce development tools, but there 
remains a critical gap in basic skills training resources that would support residents starting 
from a lower level. 

As a catalyst for widespread transition to virtual learning, work, institutions, and communities, 
the pandemic made it immediately clear that internet and devices alone were insufficient 
to address the digital divide. With national research suggesting that as few as one in five 
adults are highly proficient technology users, it is unsurprising that this became such 
a pronounced issue for Central Ohio households. As a legal requirement that districts and 
households must fulfill, K-12 remote education presents a clear case study for the critical 
importance of digital literacy in overcoming the digital divide. 

In remote K-12 education, even with efforts to get families connected and keep them 
engaged in remote learning during the transition, many students remained difficult to 
reach. Statewide, chronic absenteeism increased 16% for elementary students, and 11% 
each for middle and high school students. The extent to which digital literacy contributed 
to this increase in the 2020 – 2021 school year is uncertain, but it is a likely factor for many 
households. The increase was greatest in urban districts compared to rural districts and was 
far greater among Black students than other races and ethnicities.14 

Digital literacy uniquely impacts some groups of the population. Layering onto the 
complexities of navigating technology for advanced tasks like remote learning, some 
students like pre-readers, young children, students with limited English proficiency, students 
with learning differences, and students with disabilities were all engaged in remote learning. 

National research reports that while 36% of the native English-speaking population had ‘high 
proficiency’ navigating internet and technology problem solving, only 12% of non-native 
English speakers had the same proficiency level.16 The Columbus City School District alone 
served around 7,800 students who qualified for supports due to limited English proficiency, 
and around 8,000 required special education due to cognitive or physical disabilities.15 In 
these households, students’ success was largely dependent on the presence of caregivers in 

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access 4



5Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access

the home able to dedicate time to navigate remote learning with their students, and with the digital literacy skills and 
confidence to provide that support. 

Disparities in work opportunities are another clear example of the impact of the digital divide. Many Central Ohioans lost 
work or were unable to work in the pandemic due to health concerns or family care responsibilities. Limited digital literacy 
was a prohibitive factor in finding remote work options for many, and even finding work that does not require high digital 
literacy was more difficult in the pandemic, as many job search tools and applications are conducted completely online. 
Access to human services and programs, civic engagement, community engagement, and basic needs (e.g. groceries 
and banking) were also shifted near-exclusively online in many instances. 

In many cases, the pandemic amplified a troubling paradox. The people who most needed support (e.g. housing 
assistance, supports for students, and job help) were also the most likely to struggle with effectively interacting with those 
resources online. 

The National Digital Inclusion Alliance offers a proposed model for addressing this paradox. The pandemic shunted many 
resources, civic engagement, and supports online, while also closing or limiting capacity of anchor institutions like 
libraries. Libraries have filled an important role in community access to computers and internet, and special supports for 
K-12 students and job seekers. However, these were already inconvenient options for some. NDIA suggests the
pandemic could open a door to more stable, convenient options for residents. The “digital navigator model” pairs
individuals with trained navigators to connect them to digital literacy training, devices, internet, and support navigating
online resources while they are in the process of building skills and confidence.17 Funding available through the federal
ARP presents an opportunity to consider novel approaches to making meaningful and lasting strides in bolstering digital
literacy as a means to narrow the digital divide.

52%

14%

48%

The Unprepared
•Relatively lower levels of tech adoption
•Do not use the internet for learning
•Need help setting up new tech devices
•Not familiar with “ed tech” terms
•Lack confidence in computer skills and find
online information untrustworthy

5% Traditional Learners
•Active learns who have technology
•Not as likely to use the internet for learning
•Have concerns about trusting online information

31% Cautious Clickers
•High levels of tech ownership
•Confidence in online skills and ability to find
trustworthy information
•Less familiar with online learning terms
•Less apt than Digitally Ready to use online
tools for learning

17% Digitally Ready
•Ardent learners for personal enrichment
•Have technology and are confident about their
digital skills and abilities to find trustworthy
online information
•Know the most about online learning resources

33% The Reluctant
•Higher levels of digital skills
•Low levels of awareness of new education
technology concepts
•Low use of internet for learning

Figure 4. Digital 
readiness: The five 
groups along a 
spectrum from least 
ready to most ready
% of U.S. adults in each group

Source: Survey conducted Oct. 13 
- Nov. 15 2015. “Digital Readiness
Gaps”
Pew Research Center



6Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Social Sector

TRANSITION TO VIRTUAL INSTITUTIONS
Despite the incredible social transformation spurred by the internet and technology in recent decades, some sectors have 
been slower than others to create virtual analogs for in-person experiences or processes. The public and social sectors, 
small businesses and the arts have generally lagged private sector companies in developing strong, user-friendly virtual 
tools and engagement with customers and constituents. In part, these sectors are limited by the populations they serve—
equitable delivery of services and resources is less attainable so long as there is a digital divide. They are also limited by 
the types of services they deliver, many of which have historically centered around face-to-face interaction. These sectors 
can also be stunted in their technological acceleration by things like bureaucratic red tape, low investment in operational 
enhancements, limited connectivity of data across departments or organizations, and limited resources and skillsets for 
investment in user-centered design of websites and applications.   

In the early weeks of the pandemic, a survey of local governments conducted by the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning 
Commission showed that the immediate operational changes spurred technology solutions in some instances. In the first 
week of April 2020, most local government survey respondents had closed to the public and limited staff access. 
Following brief pauses, most quickly pivoted to hosting public meetings remotely, and providing online, drop-box, or mail 
options for resident services (Figure 5).18 For many local governments, a lag in technological advancements meant this 
was a sudden and jarring shift to remote operations. In some cases, adoption of virtual alternatives worked well, while in 
other cases there were persistent concerns. 

On the one hand, the COVID-19 pandemic dissolved some of the previous barriers to technological acceleration. 
The need to create safe, contactless processes for service delivery led to some enhancements. Interviews with local 
government staff indicated that services like remote property and buildinginspections were adopted as a result of the 
pandemic, as was the removal of some steps in building and zoning processes like in-person hand-off of building plans. 
According to interviewees, process changes like this would have been slowed down by bureaucratic approval 
requirements in a pre-pandemic world. 

Figure 5. Local Government Changes to Operations
Central Ohio Local Governments

Apr 2 - Apr 6, 2020



Other enhancements were noted by interviewees. While many residents have fallen further behind in the digital divide, 
others have become more comfortable operating in virtual environments. Public meetings, some of which were previously 
conducted in person as a statutory requirement, were permitted to be conducted online as a result of the pandemic.19 
Virtual community engagement and public meetings have been well adopted by some community members. For those 
with access, the online version of these modes of civic engagement could encourage more public participation as time 
and logistical barriers are removed when people can log on from anywhere. 

Beyond government-led public meetings, interviewees suggested that other less formal engagement in civic- and service- 
oriented organizations (e.g., My Brothers Keeper, New American Leadership Academy) was bolstered by the convenience 
of remote meetings or the ability to engage after the fact by watching pre-recorded content on their own schedule.
While interviewees were supportive of permanent virtual civic engagement pathways like continued remote public 
meetings, they also suggested a need for enhancements to ensure effective meetings such as two-way communication 
with participants, and cited the need to be aware of limitations around trust-building in these settings. In fact, several 
interviewees mentioned building empathy and connection with community members as a prerequisite to technology-
based engagement, both within public and human services.  

The social sector was also challenged by the abrupt shift to contactless and, in some cases, technology-enhanced service 
delivery. Surveys of Central Ohio nonprofits suggested a persistent need for support with technology within the sector, 
whether for remote work, coordination of services and resources, or tools for resource discovery among those they serve 
(see more about the impacts on nonprofits in the Social Sector brief). As the pandemic accelerates technology innovation 
in both the public and social sectors, the need to build connectivity of data and information behind the scenes, and to 
develop intuitive, user-friendly tools to access resources, services and information becomes greater. 

Can’t Stop Columbus is a group of civic technology volunteers that emerged as an important resource to support 
the growing technology needs of the public and social sectors, small businesses, and the arts. While the volunteer 
organization could not fill every technological need for delivering public and human services, they made significant 
contributions to things like acquiring and delivering Personal Protective Equipment, collecting food donations and getting 
meals to residents, and bolstering small businesses. This emerging volunteer civic technology community could serve 
as a long-term opportunity to partner those with technical skills to the sectors that have limitations in technology solution 
development.20

Can’t Stop Columbus also provided support to the small business community (see more in the Employment and Small 
Business Brief), as well as technology-based supports for local artists. The Columbus Arts Hub was developed as a 
resource to support local artists with establishing an online presence through virtual concerts, online art classes, and 
online artist profiles.21 There were some efforts to have online events and marathons of artists, many driven and led by 
artists rather than arts organizations, and artists grew in their use of technology to create art not just to share art. An 
interviewee from The Greater Columbus Arts Council acknowledged that this was a scramble, initially, as many artists 
independently found technology and venues to create an online presence before shared technology investments were 
established. 

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access 7



BUILDING COMMUNITY CONNECTIVITY

8Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access

Nationwide, there was an increase of 11 million (3.7%) internet users and 10 million (4.3%) active social media users from 
January 2020 to January 2021, many of whom were new adopters - the population overall grew by only 1.9 million or 
0.6% during the same period (Figure 6).22

This increase in internet and social media users is indicative of the pandemic’s disruption of many facets of life, from work, 
to school, to business. It also points to a fundamental disruption of community life. Social gatherings, neighborhood block 
parties, and community events were largely arrested by the safety concerns around COVID-19. With many aspects of life 
shifting to a virtual environment, so too did community engagement and informal political and civic action.

One prime example of civic action through volunteerism is the Can’t Stop Columbus initiative. Can’t Stop Columbus 
developed rapidly in Central Ohio at the onset of the pandemic, leveraging existing technology-focused groups (e.g., 
Smart Columbus, Tech Life Columbus, and Give Back Hack). The overwhelming volunteerism germinated in response to 
the growing needs in the region’s communities, and the limitations on the public and social sectors in filling those needs or 
connecting residents to resources. The organization grew to over 1,700 volunteers, operating almost exclusively online, 
with the mission statement, “Can’t Stop Columbus is a community-wide movement that addresses problems that have 
arisen due to the COVID-19 crisis. Activating our city’s talents and passions, we’re putting bold ideas into action to deliver 
real solutions that unite our community.”20

Informal civic engagement increased on social media during the pandemic, some national research suggests. Some of 
the increase was observed among young people, especially centered around national political issues, like the presidential 
election, and the swelling racial justice movement.23 While political organizing and activism still happened face-to-face, 
whether through canvassing to “get out the vote”, or Black Lives Matter protests in downtown Columbus, the organizing 
and coordination of these efforts took place largely online. Arguably, access to real-time virtual interaction supported the 
extra layers of planning and communication needed to ensure these in-person activities could be conducted safely, during 
the still-raging pandemic.

Other research highlights the value of “online neighborhood social networks” in sharing resources, trading goods and 
services, and supporting local businesses and artists during the pandemic.24 These virtual communities burgeoned in the 
pandemic as tools for swapping information among virtual (or sometimes literal) neighbors about help available for 
housing, food, unemployment, or information about COVID-19 testing and vaccinations. These platforms also became 
peer networks for people dealing with similar types of challenges during the pandemic, like parents of remote learners. 
Whether volunteerism, political organizing and activism, sharing information about the ever-changing landscape of 
resources and supports, or simply navigating uncharted territory during COVID-19, the level of engagement that occurred 
would not have been possible without the technology to support real-time virtual interaction.

While the acceleration of virtual communities presents great opportunities for continued civic and community engagement, 
there are concerns about inclusive access to these virtual civic spaces and the risk of social isolation for those not 
connected given the still-wide digital divide. Furthermore, the spread of misinformation will remain a persistent concern in 
virtual civic and political dialogue and in the exchange of information about community resources. 

Total 
Population

Mobile
Connections

Internet
Users

Active Social
Media Users

JAN 2021 vs. JAN 2020
+1.9 MILLION

JAN 2021 vs. JAN 2020
+5.2 MILLION

JAN 2021 vs. JAN 2020
+11 MILLION

JAN 2021 vs. JAN 2020
+10 MILLION

+0.6% +1.5% +3.7% +4.3%

SOURCES: The UN; Local Government Bodies; GSMA Intelligence ITU; Eurostat; CNNIC; APJR; OCDH;Social Media Platforms’ Self-Service 
Advertising Tools; Company Earnings Reports; Mediascope; Cafebazaar

Figure 6. Annual Digital Growth 
Year-on-year change in key 

indicators of digital adoption
United States



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access   9 

REFERENCES 

1. SMART COLUMBUS. RETRIEVED FROM https://smart.columbus.gov/

2. MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION. (2021). REGIONAL DATA AGENDA 2021-2022. AUTHOR:
COLUMBUS, OH. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.morpc.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/2021-2022-
REGIONAL-DATA-AGENDA.pdf.

3. OVERSTREET, S.B. (2020). BROADBAND ACCESS IN CITY OF COLUMBUS, OHIO. AECOM. PREPARED FOR
THE COLUMBUS FOUNDATION: COLUMBUS, OH. RETRIEVED FROM https://columbusfoundation.org/umbraco-
media/6661/broadband-access-in-city-of-columbus-2020-06-30.pdf

4. ANDERSON, M. (2019, JUNE 13). MOBILE TECHNOLOGY AND HOME BROADBAND 2019. PEW RESEARCH
CENTER . RETRIEVED FROM https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2019/06/13/mobile-technology-and-home-
broadband-2019/.

5. FRANKLIN COUNTY DIGITAL EQUITY COALITION. (2021). FRANKLIN COUNTY DIGITAL EQUITY COALITION
FRAMEWORK. COLUMBUS, OH. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.columbuslibrary.org/sites/default/files/uploads/docs/Franklin%20County%20Digital%20Equity%20Framewo
rk.pdf.

6. 1-YEAR AMERICAN COMMUNITY SURVEY. (2019). PRESENCE AND TYPES OF INTERNET SUBSCRIPTIONS IN
HOUSEHOLD [DATA SET]. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU. RETRIEVED FROM https://data.census.gov.

7. 1-YEAR AMERICAN COMMUNITY SURVEY. (2019). HOUSEHOLD INCOME IN THE LAST 12 MONTHS (IN 2019
INFLATION-ADJUSTED DOLLARS) BY PRESENCE AND TYPE OF INTERNET SUBSCRIPTION IN HOUSEHOLD
[DATA SET]. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU. RETRIEVED FROM https://data.census.gov.

8. 1-YEAR AMERICAN COMMUNITY SURVEY. (2019). AGE BY PRESENCE OF A COMPUTER AND TYPES OF
INTERNET SUBSCRIPTION IN HOUSEHOLD [DATA SET]. U.S. CENSUS BUREAU. RETRIEVED FROM
https://data.census.gov.

9. CENSUS HOUSEHOLD PULSE SURVEY. (2021). TABLE 1B. DAYS SPENT IN LIVE CONTACT WITH TEACHERS,
IN THE LAST 7 DAYS, RELATIVE TO BEFORE THE CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC, BY SELECT
CHARACTERISTICS, WEEK 27 [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2021/demo/hhp/hhp26.html.

10. CENSUS HOUSEHOLD PULSE SURVEY. (2021). TABLE 1. TELEWORKING DURING THE CORONAVIRUS
PANDEMIC, BY SELECT CHARACTERISTICS, WEEK 27 [DATA SET]. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2021/demo/hhp/hhp26.html.

11. NDIA. (2021). FREE AND LOW-COST INTERNET PLANS. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.digitalinclusion.org/free-
low-cost-internet-plans/

12. HORRIGAN, J. (2016, SEPTEMBER 20). DIGITAL READINESS GAPS. PEW RESEARCH CENTER. RETRIEVED
FROM https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2016/09/20/digital-readiness-gaps/

13. VOGELS, E. & ANDERSON, M. (2019, OCTOBER 9). AMERICANS AND DIGITAL KNOWLEDGE. PEW RESEARCH
CENTER. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2019/10/09/americans-and-digital-knowledge/

14. OHIO DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION. (2021). DATA INSIGHTS: HOW THE PANDEMIC IS AFFECTING THE 2020-
2021 SCHOOL YEAR. RETRIEVED FROM http://education.ohio.gov/Topics/Reset-and-Restart/Data-Insights-on-the-
2020-2021-School-Year

15. COLUMBUS CITY SCHOOLS. (2021). COLUMBUS CITY SCHOOLS DIGITAL DASHBOARD [DATA
VISUALIZATION]. RETRIEVED FROM http://ccsdashboard.eastus.cloudapp.azure.com/viewer/content/dashboard.html

16. CHEREWKA, A. (2020, SEPTEMBER 3). THE DIGITAL DIVIDE HITS U.S. IMMIGRANT HOUSEHOLDS
DISPROPORTIONATELY DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC. MIGRATION POLICY INSTITUTE. RETRIEVED
FROM https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/digital-divide-hits-us-immigrant-households-during-covid-19.

17. NDIA. (2021). THE DIGITAL NAVIGATOR MODEL. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.digitalinclusion.org/digital-
navigator-model/.



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Technology & Broadband Access  10 

18. MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION. (2021). COVID-19 LOCAL GOVERNMENT IMPACTS SURVEY.
RETRIEVED FROM https://www.morpc.org/covid19-survey/

19. MAKE TECHNICAL AND CORRECTIVE CHANGES TO TAX LAW, H.B. 197, 2019-2020 REG. SESS. (OHIO, 2020)
(ENACTED) RETRIEVED FROM https://www.legislature.ohio.gov/legislation/legislation-summary?id=GA133-HB-197

20. CAN’T STOP COLUMBUS. (2020). 2020 IMPACT REPORT. AUTHOR: COLUMBUS, OH. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.dropbox.com/s/clu781cae9qa575/CSC%202020%20Impact%20Report.pdf

21. CAN’T STOP COLUMBUS. (2021) CBUS ARTS HUB. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.cbusartshub.com/

22. WE ARE. SOCIAL. (2021). DIGITAL 2021 UNITED STATES. AUTHOR: NEW YORK, NY. RETRIEVED FROM
https://wearesocial.com/us/digital-2021-us

23. BOOTHE, R.B., TOMBAUGH, E., KIESA, A., LUNDBERG, K., & COHEN, A. (2020, OCTOBER 20). YOUNG PEOPLE
TURN TO ONLINE POLITICAL ENGAGEMENT DURING COVID-19. CENTER FOR INFORMATION AND RESEARCH
ON CIVIC LEARNING AND ENGAGEMENT, TUFTS UNIVERSITY. RETRIEVED FROM https://circle.tufts.edu/latest-
research/young-people-turn-online-political-engagement-during-covid-19

24. VOGEL, P., KURTZ, C., GROTHERR, C., & BOHMANN, T. (2021). FOSTERING SOCIAL RESILIENCE VIA ONLINE
NEIGHBORHOOD SOCIAL NETWORKS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC AND BEYOND: STATUS QUO,
DESIGN DILEMMAS AND RESEARCH OPPORTUNITIES. 54TH HAWAII INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON
SYSTEM SCIENCES. RETRIEVED FROM https://scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu/bitstream/10125/70984/0297.pdf.

Fu
nd

er
s Columbus City Council 

The Columbus Foundation 
The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 



1Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation

TRANSPORTATION
Summary
Central Ohio has been experiencing a trend of growth and urbanization, fueled by strong economic 
diversity, expanding resources for efficient logistics and transportation, and public-private partnerships 
driving investments in amenities to enhance quality of life for workforce attraction and retention. The 
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC), along with partners in transportation (e.g., transit, 
aviation, and active transportation) play a key role in monitoring how the growing region leverages 
transportation resources and infrastructure, balancing goals around congestion reduction, reduced climate 
impact, expanded opportunities to bike and walk for work or leisure, and encouraging focused growth to 
support enhanced transit options.

The pandemic agitated transportation dynamics across modes and has left an indelible mark on the 
balance of the transportation system of the future. Shutdowns of businesses and services, as well as 
individuals’ personal health concerns provoked changes in transportation behavior across the board – 
residents, students, workers, businesses, and institutions. Many of these behavior shifts may stick, at least 
to a degree. In some cases, these lasting shifts may relieve pressure on the transportation system and in 
other cases they may create new challenges; either way presents an opportunity to explore innovations 
and reconsider priorities for investment.

Key Issues
Central Ohio experienced a dramatic pause in traffic congestion as communities shut down to slow the 
spread of COVID-19. While traffic will inevitably return as the pandemic is managed, some behavior shifts 
– how people work, attend school, and where they choose to live – may have lasting effects on traffic
patterns and infrastructure demands.

Public transit experienced large reductions in ridership. While permanent shifts to remote work and health 
precautions may have changed behavior for some, others will rely on transit now more than ever as an 
economical transportation option as more residents experience financial hardship.

Bike and pedestrian activity increased as more residents turned to outdoor recreation and residents 
sought alternatives to transit during the pandemic. Overall, fewer crashes involving people bicycling or 
walking points to improved safety; however, these crashes in majority Black or brown neighborhoods have 
persisted, punctuating the need for infrastructure safety improvements in historically disinvested 
communities.

Widespread consumer behavior changes altered freight and last-mile logistics in the region. To the 
extent that these changes endure, there will be lasting pressure created by the increase in direct-to-
consumer delivery of goods.

Intercity travel and tourism came to a standstill with the onset of the pandemic. While vaccination and 
continued health and safety protocols will restore leisure travel and conferences, there will be some 
permanent shifts to remote meetings which will reduce revenue from business travel.



2

Figure 1. Average Commute Time 
Comparable MSAs

2019

Figure 2. Commute Time Change 
Comparable MSAs

2010 - 2019 Change

TRAFFIC CONGESTION
Central Ohio has enjoyed relatively short commute times 
compared to other, similarly sized metros in the United 
States (Figure 1). The region has, however, experienced 
high population growth over about the last decade, which 
led to an increase in commute times on par with other fast-
growing metros like Charlotte and Nashville (Figure 2). This 
has resulted in increased roadway congestion, and 
uncertainty for commuters’ trip times especially during peak 
commute hours.

When the first Ohio stay-at-home order was issued on 
March 24, 2020, traffic congestion decreased significantly. 
Slowdowns in traffic speed, an indicator of traffic 
congestion, remained less frequent through late summer 
2020 when compared to early March levels. By autumn 
2020, severe slowdowns (speed reductions of 25 mph or 
more) remained rare on Central Ohio freeways, but 
moderate slowdowns (speed reductions between 10 and 24 
mph) became more frequent as some returned to school 
and offices, and some businesses reopened (Figure 3).

As a catalyst for widespread shifts to remote alternatives 
to work and school, the pandemic presents an opportunity 
for sustained congestion reduction. Whether this benefit 
translates to overall reduction in the number of trips and 
distance traveled will depend on the degree to which land 
use patterns are altered by resident behavior. 

The pandemic brought a large and sudden shift to remote 
education. Throughout the 2020 – 2021 school year, most 
school districts and universities in Central Ohio 
implemented health and safety protocols to allow for a 
“hybrid” (mix of some remote and some in-person school 
days) approach. The persistence of hybrid learning is largely 
dependent upon vaccine distribution and effectiveness. 
Even as many districts and universities may formally return 
to in-person learning, they have also made large initial 
investments in technology to support remote learning, which 
they are likely to find ways to utilize.

Figure 3. Traffic Congestion 
7-County Central Ohio Region

March 2, 2020 - December 18, 2020, Weekly

SOURCE: INRIX (via MORPC)

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation



3Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation

When shutdowns began, employees who could work remotely began working from home. Some employees later returned 
to some or all in-person work as employers implemented health and safety protocols and stay-at-home orders lifted. By 
early 2021, however, over 250,000 workers in Central Ohio continued to work from home (up from just 60,000 in 2019). 
There will be some permanent shifts to remote work and school (discussed in greater detail in the Economic & Community 
Development brief), which would translate to a reduction of work trips paired with greater flexibility for non-work trips 
within workers’ residential communities.

Shifts to remote work led to changing needs or preferences about where people live and in what type of housing. Spurred 
by low interest rates, increased personal savings, a need for more space to conduct remote work and school, and shifting 
lifestyle priorities, some Central Ohioans were purchasing homes in less dense areas of the region (discussed in greater 
detail in the Housing brief), creating an increase in non-work trips not only in number but in trip length. If residents choose 
to live farther from the urban core, this would be a shift of the trend toward more dense, urban growth in the 2010s. 
Insight2050 was an effort that built regional consensus around focused growth and compact development, rooted in an 
increased understanding of the impacts of past development trends, along with shifting demographics and housing 
preferences. 

Traffic is tied directly to funding that supports roadway infrastructure maintenance, development, and safety through the 
motor fuel tax. Comparing gallons of gasoline and diesel fuel sold in 2020 to 2019, there was an estimated $300 million 
reduction to Ohio fuel tax revenues in 2020 – about 10% less than expected. Nearly two-thirds of this revenue loss 
impacts the State transportation budget, while about one-third of the dollars would go directly to counties and 
municipalities. Based on prior year local distribution of tax revenues, Central Ohio will see a $20 million reduction from 
expected fuel tax revenue for local roadway infrastructure spending. 

Diesel fuel use reductions made up 14% of that revenue loss, and gasoline made up the other 86%. The greatest impact 
occurred in April and May during the initial stay-at-home orders. Diesel fuel, used primarily by freight vehicles, restored to 
2019 levels by July 2020, and even surpassed 2019 levels by the end of year holiday season – likely a sign of increased 
parcel delivery driven by the surge in e-commerce. However, gasoline, used primarily by passenger vehicles did not 
recover to 2019 levels at any point during 2020 after the pandemic onset (Figure 4). This raises further questions about 
the long-term stability of fuel tax revenues, adding to other impacts on this source of funding like increases in electric 
vehicles and improved fuel efficiency.

Road safety is also impacted by traffic volume. On interstates, the number of crashes is known to correlate positively with 
traffic volume—more vehicles on the road means more opportunities for congestion-related crashes like fender-benders. 
Attributed to increased speeds, other roadways (arterials, collectors, and local roads) have more crashes as volume 
decreases.1 

Overall, the decrease in traffic during the pandemic brought about sustained reductions of about 40% in the total number 
of crashes on the roadways (Figure 5). The bulk of this decline stemmed from decreased traffic volumes on interstates 
and freeways. Declines also occurred on arterials, collectors, and local roads, but with a few exceptions. Possibly related 
to increased speeds, there was a notable increase in the number of fatal crashes on arterials, particularly fatalities 
involving people walking. Related to more local traffic and possibly increased speeds, there was also an increase in the 
number of serious injury crashes on collectors and local roads. Finally, there was an increase in the number of alcohol-
related crashes on collectors and local roads.

Figure 4. Motor Fuel Tax Revenue
Ohio

2020 compared to 2019, Monthly

Figure 5. Traffic-Related Crashes
Franklin County

2018-2020, Monthly



TRANSIT RIDERSHIP

Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation 4

Central Ohio saw more public transit use in the 2010s, despite nationwide declines 
in bus passengers.2 Growth in transit ridership was attributable to technology-driven 
system enhancements introduced by the Central Ohio Transit Authority (COTA) to 
improve customer experiences and provide greater access to mobility options.3 Among 
the many new and enhanced services were a comprehensive redesign of COTA’s fixed 
service routes for improved speed and frequency of service (Transit System Redesign), 
release of the COTA Connector mobile application allowing for cashless fares, and 
technology-enhanced on-demand services for residents with mobility limitations and for 
first-mile/last-mile connections. Additional planned enhancements are centered around 
high-capacity transit corridors as COTA works in partnership with the City of Columbus, 
other local communities and MORPC on the LinkUS initiative.

The pandemic brought about obvious health concerns related to public transit, leading 
to 70% declines in fixed route ridership. Health and safety protocols were implemented 
on public busses (e.g., limited capacity for social distancing, rear door entry). Bus 
fares were also temporarily waived for all bus riders. Even with these strategies in 
place, fixed route ridership declines persisted throughout 2020 (50% lower from March 
to December compared to the previous year, on average) as the health emergency 
continued (Figure 6). According to interviews with COTA staff, the decline was not 
consistent. On some fixed routes serving low income neighborhoods, busses were 
filled to capacity (significantly reduced for safety). Some riders had to be turned away, 
and in some cases additional busses were added to these routes.

Despite fixed route service declines, there were opportunities to push technology-
driven innovations as the change of circumstances catalyzed the adoption of new 
modes and ways of interacting with the public transit system. Cashless fare systems 
have been accelerated as a result of the pandemic, and so has adoption of on-demand 
services. Most notably, service tripled in the first five months of the pandemic for 
the Uber-style on-demand system for ordering paratransit service, Mainstream On-
Demand (Figure 7). Even with the increase in passengers using this new service 
option, the number of passengers using Mainstream was down 10,000 by August 2020, 
which likely signals broader challenges accessing key goods and services for residents 
eligible for paratransit service. Other on-demand service offered through COTA’s new 
COTA Plus program may see greater uptake, especially as employment rebounds.

Figure 6. COTA Fixed Route Passengers
COTA Service Area
2019-2020, Monthly



5Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation

While health concerns will diminish as the pandemic is managed, some previous transit riders may permanently shift 
modes. Persistent remote work will have clear impacts on the number of transit commuters. Additionally, national data 
shows a surge in used car sales, which research suggests is in part attributable to transit users opting for personal 
vehicles as a safer mode of travel (Figure 8).4 People converting from transit to personal vehicles are not likely to switch 
back immediately, even when health concerns dissipate. Local data on used car sales are not available, so the extent of 
this mode shift in Central Ohio remains unclear but is something to consider as other data (e.g., ridership and car travel) 
are monitored going forward.

While there are questions about public transit use reductions, nationwide, it is imperative to consider that there have also 
been residents who experienced loss or reduction of employment. The need for reliable, efficient, and economical transit 
options may reach a new pinnacle of importance, as many Central Ohioans recover their personal finances.

Figure 7. Paratransit Passengers 
COTA Service Area
2019-2020, Monthly

Figure 8. Net Purchases of Used Autos 
United States

1990-2020, Quarterly



BIKE & PEDESTRIAN ACTIVITY
Central Ohio has long invested in infrastructure for people walking and bicycling, and, as of 2020, the region’s 
metropolitan transportation planning area had over 700 miles of dedicated multi-use trails and on-street bike facilities 
connecting neighborhoods, parks, and employment centers. The Central Ohio Greenways (COG) trail network is the 
backbone of this system, offering extensive options for recreation or active transportation for residents throughout the 
region. However, the existing infrastructure is not enough to encourage biking and walking for all residents. Based on a 
recent study of the COG trail network in Franklin County, only about 14% of the County’s population can walk to a trail 
access point within a half-mile of their home using a pedestrian network, and only about 27% can bike to a trail access 
point within one mile of their home using a low-stress bike facility, such as a multi-use path or a neighborhood street.5 

The pandemic brought along increased interest in outdoor activities, illustrating the overlooked value of open space 
like parks and trails in the region’s communities. While most destinations, activities, and services were closed, parks, 
trails, and neighborhood streets provided needed opportunities for recreation and safe, physically distanced socializing. 
Columbus and Franklin County Metro Parks saw a 33% increase in park visitors in 2020 compared to 2019, and in some 
months during the pandemic, the region’s trails experienced a 70% increase in average daily trail use year over year 
(Figure 9). Some experts are suggesting that the surge in interest in outdoor recreation included new users of open 
space, and that this will spur lasting increases in park and trail use.6

However, the benefits of increased opportunities to access community amenities like open space are not equally enjoyed. 
Lower income neighborhoods (particularly those with high concentrations of Black and brown residents) have experienced 
historic lack of investment in high-quality amenities like parks and trails. Only about 40% of neighborhoods in Franklin 
County experiencing disproportionately high rates of low-income populations are connected to a COG trail. 
The safety of people walking and bicycling in Central Ohio was becoming an increasing priority for local policymakers 
even before the pandemic. In Franklin County, crash data illustrates the vulnerability of people walking and bicycling. 
While they are involved in only about 3% of all crashes, they represent 29% of traffic deaths, and 18% of traffic-related 
serious injuries (Figure 10). The City of Columbus, with support from local and regional partners, launched a Vision Zero 
initiative in 2020 as an important step toward increasing mobility equity through safety improvements.7 

The pandemic brought about steep declines in vehicle traffic, which correlated with a reduced number of crashes involving 
people walking and bicycling in Franklin County. From May through December 2020, these crashes were down by about 
30% compared with previous years. Overall declines in crashes involving people bicycling and walking points to traffic 
reduction, at least in some neighborhoods, as an important contributor to improved safety for the most vulnerable roadway 
users.

While overall crashes were down, the number of fatalities resulting from crashes involving people walking in Franklin 
County was higher (33 in 2020, compared with 24 in 2019). It is not entirely clear whether this tragic increase in lost lives 
is related to the pandemic or other factors. However, it is notable that half of these fatal incidents occurred in majority 
Black and brown neighborhoods (only 30% of Census Block Groups are home to more than 50% people of color). 
Structural racism contributes to this disproportionate effect—these tend to be neighborhoods with higher speed roads, 
poorer infrastructure, and more people reliant on transit, biking, and walking, a condition created by a history of wealth 
deprivation.

6Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation

Figure 9. Change in Average Daily Trail Use 
Central Ohio Trail System

2020 compared to 2018-19 average, Monthly

Figure 10. Bike & Pedestrian Crash Locations
Franklin County, 2020

SOURCE: Ohio Department of Transportation, Preliminary Crash Data



7Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation

FREIGHT & LAST-MILE LOGISTICS
For decades, Central Ohio worked to establish a competitive advantage for economic development through investments 
in freight transportation and logistics, resulting in sustained growth of those industries, and positioning the region to 
capitalize on the growing e-commerce share of the retail market. Nationwide and regionally, freight transportation has 
been increasing since the Great Recession, driven by a combination of business supply chain delivery, and direct-to-
consumer e-commerce. 

Overall, freight traffic volumes were reduced by the pandemic. Supply chains were stalled as many international markets 
shut down their borders temporarily. Furthermore, production declined for some industries in response to abrupt shifts in 
consumer product demand. Even before widespread concern about COVID-19 became a reality in the U.S., freight activity 
(including trucks, rail, and air cargo) was slowing in response to international spread of the virus as early as December 
2019. From November 2019 to April 2020 freight activity fell 12% (Figure 11). In Central Ohio, freight traffic volumes on 
the road network were down about 10% in 2020, compared with the same month in 2019 (Figure 12).

Supply chains eventually stabilized as markets re-opened for production and shipment, and while some industries 
remained stunted by demand reductions, others surged. E-commerce spending was quickly accelerated as many 
consumers opted to avoid shopping in brick and mortar stores—increasing 30% in a single quarter. This new source of 
demand helped to offset reduced freight activity, returning closer to pre-pandemic levels by the holidays.

One advantage for roadway freight was the reduction of passenger vehicle traffic volume in cities. City congestion creates 
bottlenecks for freight, and in Central Ohio, peak hour travel time uncertainty (a measure of the likelihood of travel delays 
during commute times) had been steadily increasing in the region as the population steadily grew. These delays increase 
direct-to-consumer transport of goods, or “last-mile logistics”, meaning increased costs for businesses shipping goods for 
production, and pressure added to the transportation network. 

If the surge in consumer demand for e-commerce and other delivery services persists, then there will be a concurrent 
persistence in higher volumes of last-mile logistics trips within the local road network. As previously noted, continuing 
remote work has the potential to reduce commuting trips, but those reductions may be offset in-part by increased 
neighborhood delivery activity. These various increases in traffic on local roads may create new challenges around 
infrastructure, safety, parking, and mode equity.

This trend is putting new pressure on cities nationwide. Research by McKinsey and Company suggests that without 
intervention, e-commerce demand will increase delivery vehicles by 36%, increase emissions by 6 Million-tons of carbon 
dioxide, and increase average commute times 21%.8 The acceleration of e-commerce will likely mean an acceleration of 
local policy interventions to offset the impacts on climate, congestion, and neighborhood traffic safety for all modes.

Figure 11. Freight Index (Truck, Rail, & Air) 
United States

2000-2021, Monthly

Figure 12. Truck Traffic Volume 
15-County Central Ohio Region

2019-2020, Monthly



8Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation

INTERCITY TRAVEL & TOURISM
At the end of 2019, the Greater Columbus area had 42 million visitors, according to Experience Columbus, the city’s 
tourism advocacy organization. Tourism is an important driver of the region’s economy. Visitors spent $7 billion annually, 
supported 78,000 jobs in Franklin County, and paid $1.25 billion in taxes each year. Columbus was gaining attention as a 
destination city for domestic travelers, making headlines in major newspapers and travel magazines.9 

Passenger air travel directly supports the tourism industry in Central Ohio, whether for business or leisure. Commercial 
passenger traffic in Columbus predominantly occurs at John Glenn International Airport (CMH), operated by the Columbus 
Regional Airport Authority (CRAA). 7.5 million passengers passed through CMH in 2017.10 Based on interviews with CRAA 
staff, those passengers were evenly split between business and leisure.

With the onset of the pandemic, passenger travel disappeared almost entirely. In mid-April 2020, passenger travel hit 
its lowest point in Columbus falling from 10,000 passengers per day to fewer than 500 passengers per day. Early 2021 
has seen some recovery, but trips are still only at one-third of the volume seen before the pandemic. In early 2021, most 
passenger travel was for leisure, as many companies were not yet authorizing business travel at 2019 levels.

While leisure travel is expected to experience a surge of pent up demand as the pandemic is managed through 
vaccinations and established health protocols, sustained shifts toward remote meetings will have continued negative 
impacts on local revenues from business traveler spending for the foreseeable future. Some types of business, such as 
large meetings and conventions, are more difficult to replicate virtually and will likely return once it is safe to do so. 
According to interviews with CRAA staff, business travel has a higher economic impact than leisure travel. Smaller 
meetings and travel for individuals, such as employees attending meetings at a corporate headquarters, are the types of 
travel most likely to see permanent reductions due to remote work options.

Figure 13. Air Travel Passengers
John Glenn International Airport

2019-2020, Weekly



Central Ohio COVID19 Policy Briefs | Transportation 9 

Fu
nd

er
s 

REFERENCES 

1. CHANG, G. & XIANG, H. (2003). THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CONGESTION LEVELS AND ACCIDENTS (MD-03-SP
208B46). COLLEGE PARK, MD: UNIVERSITY OF MARYLAND. REPORT PREPARED FOR MARYLAND STATE
HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION. RETRIEVED FROM https://roads.maryland.gov/OPR_Research/MD-03-SP308B46-Congestion-Vs-
Accidents-Report.pdf.

2. AMERICAN PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION ASSOCIATION. (2020). PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION RIDERSHIP REPORT:
FOURTH QUARTER 2020. WASHINGTON, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.apta.com/research-
technical-resources/transit-statistics/ridership-report/.

3. CENTRAL OHIO TRANSIT AUTHORITY. (2019). MOVING EVERY LIFE FORWARD: STRATEGIC PLAN 2019-2024.
RETRIEVED FROM https://www.cota.com/who-we-are/strategic-plan/.

4. ROSENBAUM, E. (2020, OCTOBER 15). THE USED CAR BOOM IS ONE OF THE HOTTEST, AND TRICKIEST,
CORONAVIRUS MARKETS FOR CONSUMERS. CNBC. RETRIEVED FROM https://www.cnbc.com/2020/10/15/used-car-
boom-is-one-of-hottest-coronavirus-markets-for-consumers.html.

5. MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION. (2021, JANUARY 20). CENTRAL OHIO GREENWAYS; REGIONAL
TRAIL VISION PRIORITIZATION. RETRIEVED FROM https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/2511b9e96c30435b9a272ec986de3f4d.

6. GOLDBAUM, C. (2020, MAY 18). THINKING OF BUYING A BIKE? GET READY FOR A VERY LONG WAIT. THE NEW
YORK TIMES. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/18/nyregion/bike-shortage-coronavirus.html.

7. VISION ZERO COLUMBUS. (2020). [GRAPH ILLUSTRATION OF FATAL, SERIOUS INJURY, AND VULNERABLE USER
CRASH DATA: APRIL 1: 2021] VISION ZERO COLUMBUS – CRASH DATA. RETRIEVED FROM https://vision-zero-
columbus.hub.arcgis.com/.

8. HANNON, E., HEID, B., HUBER, A., & KLINK, C. (2020, JUNE 9). RETHINKING LAST-MILE LOGISTICS, POST-COVID-
19: FACING THE ‘NEXT NORMAL’. AUTOMOTIVE WORLD. RETRIEVED FROM
https://www.automotiveworld.com/articles/rethinking-last-mile-logistics-post-covid-19-facing-the-next-normal/

9. EXPERIENCE COLUMBUS. (2019). OUR CITY. OUR TIME; 2019 ANNUAL REPORT.
https://assets.simpleviewinc.com/simpleview/image/upload/v1/clients/columbus/19_Annual_Report_200305_1__bf22ddda-d61f-42ca-
a818-bbfbf9fa39ef.pdf

10. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH GROUP. (2019). ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF THE COLUMBUS REGIONAL
AIRPORT AUTHORITY IN 2017; EXECUTIVE SUMMARY. COLUMBUS, OH. PREPARED FOR COLUMBUS REGIONAL
AIRPORT AUTHORITY. RETRIEVED FROM https://columbusairports.com/storage/production/20190304094250-craa-economic-
impact-study-executive-summary.pdf

Columbus City Council 
The Columbus Foundation 

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation 



 
 

Page 31 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 
One Columbus Strategic Plan (2019) 

 



ONE COLUMBUS
Partners for Regional Growth & Prosperity



SMART      BUSINESS 
ORIENTEDOPEN

THE COLUMBUS REGION 
The Columbus Region is a dynamic 11-county metropolitan area in the midst of 
unprecedented economic growth. The Region is home to today’s leaders and is at 
the forefront of the industries of tomorrow, from advanced manufacturing to smart 
mobility research and development.

Delaware

Fairfield

Franklin

Knox

Licking

Logan

Madison

Marion

Morrow

Pickaway

Union



1

The One Columbus mission is to lead a comprehensive regional 

growth strategy that develops and attracts the world’s most 

competitive companies, grows a highly adaptive workforce, 

prepares our communities for the future, and inspires corporate, 

academic and public innovation throughout the 11-county 

Columbus Region.



2

TABLE OF  
CONTENTS

+ The Beginning  .............................  03

+ The Process  ............................ 08

+ The Vision  ........................... 16

+ Our Mission  ................. 20

+ The Plan  .................  22



3

THE BEGINNING
The Columbus 2020 Story Started With You



4

As summer turned to fall in 2007, Central Ohio was 
in the midst of a decade of stagnant job growth, 
diminishing per capita income figures and an 
undistinguished economic development profile.  
Columbus was considered just another metro area 
succumbing to the headwinds of the decline of 
the Midwest. In December of that year, the housing 
crisis and the global recession hit, washing away 
any gains that had been made in that decade.  

Leaders around the country gathered to consider 
their economic future, including in Central Ohio.  
What would our future be and how would we  
claim it?  How could we leverage the great 
companies that had been built here, the ambition  
of local entrepreneurs and the power of our  
world-renowned institutions?  

A new path was created based on the dire 
need for economic activity and job growth, and 
became more important as each day passed. A 
new platform was needed to bring focus to these 
efforts to go to market as the Columbus Region, 
and to stake our claim as one of the most powerful 
metropolitan economies in the United States.  
Audacious, measurable goals were set to define the 
mission of the work, and the stakes were high.  

The journey of the next decade included 
transformational project announcements, notable 
entrepreneurial achievements and the greatest 
expansion of the Columbus Region economy in its 
history. A decade later, the Columbus Region has 

Columbus 2020 
Begins Operations

Columbus 2020 
Incorporated

Regional Growth 
Strategy Launch

2011 2012 2013 2014

50,000 Net  
New Jobs

IBM Opens Advanced 
Analytics Center

SK Food Group 
Announces $13 Million 
Food Manufacturing 
Facility

Zulily Announces 
Plans for New 
Fulfillment Center

A REGIONAL REVIVAL 

2010



5

2015 2017 2018 2019

100,000 Net  
New Jobs

Dollar Shave Club 
Announces Plans for 
Grove City Facility, 185 
New Jobs
_____

Columbus Wins $50 
Million Smart Cities 
Challenge

CoverMyMeds Sold for  
$1.1 Billion
_____

Facebook to Build 
$750 Million Data 
Center in Licking 
County

Root Insurance Valued 
at $1 Billion
_____

Google Announces 
Plans for New Albany 
Data Center
_____

Amazon to Add West 
Jefferson Fulfillment 
Center, 1,500 New Jobs

Sofidel Chooses 
Circleville for New 
Manufacturing Facility
_____

Amazon and Amazon 
Web Services 
Announce Multiple 
Projects Totaling 
$1.3 Billion in Capital 
Investment and 2,000 
New Jobs 

not only achieved the job, investment and income 
goals it set, but has also earned distinction as a metro 
area with boundless ambition and economic potential.  

For those reasons and more, we can and should 
celebrate, but we cannot pause. 2020 is a mile marker, 
not a destination. So, we redouble our efforts and 
attack the next 10 years with the same enthusiasm and 
ambition that fueled our work in 2010.

When used on a white, color, or photographic background

Colors:
Process Black + White + PMS 1795

When used on a background field of black

Colors:
White + PMS 1795

2016

150,000  Net  
New Jobs



6

The Columbus Region has emerged as a beacon of economic competitiveness and 

population growth equal to any in the country. As this decade ends, the Columbus Region 

is surging beyond its goals, and is considered a national model of economic development 

success and collaboration. With each company expansion, each investment announcement 

from a new company and each company formed in the Region, our communities prosper 

and our lives are changed for the better.

RESULTS

created over

150,000 
net new jobs

secured over

$8 billion 
in capital investment

      sparked a

30%  
per capita income

Total Payroll:  

$2.0B
No. of Projects: 

500+

Columbus is the #1 rising 
city for startups and the 
top emerging city for 
venture capital.”

FORBES

Columbus isn’t the next 
business destination;  
it’s already happening.”

INC.

“

Capital Investment:  

$8.5B

In less than 10 years, the Columbus 2020 Regional Growth Strategy ...  

increase in 
personal 

“



7

      sparked a

30%  
per capita income $23.8 BILLION 

economic impact

“The Columbus Region is experiencing the strongest 
decade of economic growth in its history, surging past 
what we once thought was possible. The broad-based 
growth we are seeing across the 11 counties and in core 
industries has lifted many businesses, communities  
and individuals.”

PABLO VEGAS,  
Chairman of the Board of Directors, Columbus 2020

“



8

THE PROCESS
Your Input Defined the Path Forward



9

The past year has included hundreds of meetings, conversations and forums to discuss the future 

of our region. What are we anxious about?  What is our new ambition? What does the future 

hold for this great region? Business leaders, public officials and civic advocates were engaged to 

discuss these concerns and what success looks like for the 11-county Columbus Region.  

WE LISTENED

LEADERSHIP  
ASSESSMENT

STAKEHOLDER & CIVIC  
GROUP DISCUSSIONS

We met with

200+

Representing 

50+ 

Summer 2018

business & civic leaders  
and board members

local economic 
development 
partners

60 
business leaders

From 

45  
organizations

Representing  

22  
industry sectors

Spring 2018

THE PROCESS

This research and the conversations it sparked have exposed common interests and  

priorities that have helped to identify our path forward.



10

ANALYSIS  
AND INSIGHTS
As in years past, the Columbus Region focused on the hard facts. Objective, comparative 
research revealed where we are strong, where we need to improve and where we are lagging 
behind. Analysis was conducted to address how prepared the Region is to meet the 
challenges of the future. Rapidly changing technology, global competition and demographic 
shifts are sure to have an impact on the Columbus Region, and the strategies and tactics that 
have worked in the past will not yield the same results going forward.  

CONNECTED

PRODUCTIVEINCLUSIVE

TALENTED

REGIONAL
ECONOMIC

MOMENTUM 

INNOVATIVE

PROSPEROUS

COMPARATIVE 
RESEARCH

As we build upon the successes 
achieved during the past decade, 
Avalanche Consulting, a national 
economic development consultancy, 
identified six areas critical to the 
economic vibrancy of  
a region — connectivity, productivity, 
prosperity, innovation, talent and 
inclusivity. While an economically 
vibrant region may not rate especially 
high in each and every measure, 
rare is the region that can succeed 
in the face of consistently poor 
performance across any one element. 
To succeed going forward, we must 
focus on these areas.



11

Sustain Our 
Economic 
Momentum 
by continuing to make 
economic growth and 
prosperity a top priority.

Develop, Inspire and 
Attract a Talented, 
Adaptive and 
Diverse Workforce  
to compete for investment. 

Enable the 
Innovation Capacity  
of business, academic  
and government sectors  
to grow dynamically.

Increase Global 
Identity and 
Connectivity  
to attract investment  
and talent from  
around the world.

1 WE MUST 2 WE MUST

3 WE MUST 4 WE MUST

Consistent themes emerged from the stakeholder meetings and research. It became 
clear that in order to achieve a new ambition and meet both existing and emerging 
challenges, Columbus Region communities, leadership and institutions will need to 
focus on four imperatives to achieve success. 



12

SUSTAIN OUR ECONOMIC MOMENTUM   
by continuing to make economic growth  
and prosperity a top priority.

Success breeds confidence, and  
confidence fuels momentum — a  
necessary component to the next 
phase of the Region’s growth.  
To compete for talented people  
and strategic investment, there  
must be a strong case that we are 
getting stronger, more innovative  
and more diverse. 

The challenge: Over the last decade,  
the Region accomplished its  
economic development goals and 
outperformed other Midwest metros 
across many metrics. To continue this 
remarkable level of momentum, we 
must amplify our successes, apply 
resources and redouble our efforts.

The Region must consistently invest in  
and execute a comprehensive economic 
development strategy in order to compete  
and to be ready for opportunities that emerge. 

1

THROUGHOUT THE MIDWEST

Population Growth

THROUGHOUT THE MIDWEST

GDP/GRP

THROUGHOUT THE MIDWEST

Millennial Migration

THROUGHOUT THE MIDWEST

Job Growth
U.S. Bureau of Economic AnalysisU.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Brookings InstitutionU.S. Census Bureau



13

2 DEVELOP, INSPIRE AND ATTRACT A TALENTED, 
ADAPTIVE AND DIVERSE WORKFORCE  
to compete for investment.

The Columbus Region is younger 
and more educated than the 
national average, leading Ohio  
and the Midwest in both 
population and millennial 
growth. We boast one of the 
highest concentrations of higher 
education institutions and an  
in-demand, tech savvy workforce.

The challenge: There are stubborn 
disconnects between demographics  
and outcomes, and we must work 
to eliminate these disparities. 
There is an insatiable appetite 
for skilled workers, and we must 
meet the challenges presented by 
automation. It will be necessary to 
become far more diverse, engaging 

across rural and urban areas  
and minority communities,  
while also attracting talent  
from across the world.

A talented workforce is the most critical 
location factor for our existing companies 
and for those who seek to locate here.

#1 city for college 
graduates 
SmartAsset

35.9% of the population 
25+ holds a bachelor’s 

degree or higher

#12 in the United States 
and #1 in the Midwest  
for net migration of  

ages 25-34



14

3 ENABLE THE INNOVATION CAPACITY  
of business, academic and government sectors  
to grow dynamically.

The Columbus Region is home 
to 15 Fortune 1000 companies, 
billion-dollar startups, and a strong 
education ecosystem. Corporate, 
academic, government, medical 
centers and R&D operations in 
our region are at the forefront of 
research and innovation. Research 
expenditures at The Ohio State 
University totaled more than $850 

million in 2017, ranking it among 
the top 25 universities in the 
United States. 

The challenge: As technology  
advances and automation increases, 
threats to the existing ecosystem 
have emerged. Fortune 1000  
companies in the Region must 
adapt as innovative competitors 

become a threat. The higher  
education system is being  
challenged to not only deliver  
a talented workforce, but  
also comprehensive research.  
Government entities are undergoing 
a massive shift in technologies to 
serve citizens and to achieve  
status as smart cities. 

To grow dynamically and to diversify 
our economy, we must create, use 
and leverage technology.

#1 city for  
tech workers 

SmartAsset

Home to the 
Transportation  

Research Center, the 
largest independent 
proving grounds in  

the Americas

$484.68 million of 
venture capital invested 

in Columbus in 2018 
across 61 companies



15

4 INCREASE GLOBAL IDENTITY  
AND CONNECTIVITY   
to attract investment and talent from around the world.

The Columbus Region has worked 
hard to establish its identity 
and increase brand awareness, 
regionally, nationally and 
internationally. This has helped  
to attract both investment and  
talent, including hundreds 
of foreign-owned firms. 
Opportunities abound for 

companies to accelerate export 
and foreign direct investment 
(FDI) growth.

The challenge: It’s critical that 
we connect our communities  
and companies to both each 
other and the rest of the world 
via infrastructure, including 
broadband.

While we connect the Columbus 
Region economy with others, we 
must also grow and elevate our 
brand. Expanding our reach to be 
globally known will help ensure 
continued economic growth. 

The Columbus Region must be connected physically, 
digitally and intellectually with the rest of the world.

300+ foreign-owned 
organizations, including 
115 Japanese businesses

Home to Rickenbacker 
International Airport,  

one of the world’s only 
cargo-dedicated airports

Columbus has been 
recognized as the 
standard-bearer  
for collaborative  
visual identity



16

THE VISION
We Will Boldly Pursue a Shared Ambition



17

We emerged from the last decade in a new, better 
place, but those changes did not happen in a vacuum. 
The world changed around us, and the economic 
development landscape is far different and far more 
competitive than 10 years ago. 

Building on the success of the past decade requires 
something more than an economic development 
plan. This will be a community-wide effort requiring  
a shared vision for a Columbus Region economy  
that enables prosperity for all. It will test our courage  
to change our approach even as we near the end of  
a decade of unprecedented economic growth.

To be the most 
prosperous  
region in the  
United States

PROSPERITY DEFINED: 

The process by which 
more and more people 
in a region improve their 
economic and social 
well-being.

THE VISION
We Will Boldly Pursue a Shared Ambition



18

GROWTH

PROSPERITY

INNOVATION



19

Economic and infrastructure gains:
It is imperative that the Columbus Region continue to grow and diversify its 
economy. There are a variety of measures that include net new jobs, gross 
regional product and relative gains in the tax base. Economic base growth that 
brings new money into the Region is the primary driver of our ability to innovate 
and to build the needed civic infrastructure to improve the quality of life of our 
citizens and to build social safeguards for those with short- and long-term needs.

Health, wealth and education gains:
An expanding economy is a necessary prerequisite to increase the well-being 
of people and the health of our communities. However, if disparities in income, 
wealth, education and health are to improve, our region must take action above 
and beyond what we’ve traditionally done. Indicators include measures such 
as median wages, racial employment and labor participation, and community 
measures of housing opportunity, educational attainment, healthcare disparities, 
and the physical and economic mobility of the workforce.

Tech, innovation and investment gains:
The economy is driven by technology. The Columbus Region must leverage its 
unique position as a leading center of higher education, corporate investment 
and government operations to expand its economy and reduce both costs and 
disparities. Measures of government, business and academic innovation such as 
venture capital invested in our region, patent development, STEAM education and 
other indicators signal our capacity to meet the challenges of a disruptive economy.



20

OUR MISSION
A Singular Focus on Jobs and Economic Development



21

OUR MISSION
As we work together to realize our new vision, the One Columbus team is focused on 
providing the leadership and strategy needed to sustain and grow a vibrant region. 
Success over the next 10 years will be defined by accomplishing the following goals:

$3.3 billion
payroll
We will add $3.3 billion of payroll in  
communities within the Columbus Region.

60k   
jobs
We will secure 60,000 jobs  
in the Columbus Region.  
Full-time jobs with benefits 
remain a powerful way to  
change lives and build 
sustainable communities. $10 billion

investment
We will attract $10 billion of capital investment to the 
Columbus Region from our economic base projects.

The One Columbus mission is to lead a comprehensive 
regional growth strategy that develops and attracts 
the world’s most competitive companies, grows  
a highly adaptive workforce, prepares our  
communities for the future, and inspires  
corporate, academic and public  
innovation throughout the  
11-county Columbus Region.



22

Support Entrepreneurship  
And Accelerate  
High-Growth Firms

To create the most 
competitive economic  
base in the United States 

To create the most diverse 
employment and tax base  
in the United States

To create a seamless 
continuum of services for 
venture-backed startups and 
high-growth firms to scale 
within the Columbus Region

Serve Existing  
Businesses

Attract New  
Businesses  

Objective Objective

THE PLAN

FOUNDATIONAL STRATEGIES 
The fundamental principles for growing the Region’s economy are consistent:  
Retain, attract and create jobs that drive economic growth.

Objective



23

Prepare Communities  
For The Future

Increase  
Global Trade  
And Investment

Market And Promote The 
Columbus Region Globally 

To become the most  
prepared area in the  
United States for growth  
and investment 

To become known as the most 
prosperous economy  
in the United States

To lead our peer regions  
in foreign investment and 
export growth

Objective Objective Objective

GROWTH ACCELERATORS 
To amplify and accelerate our growth, we must look outside the  
Region and beyond the horizon.



24

ECONOMIC SECTORS

OBJECTIVE

To increase employment and overall payroll in each economic  
sector over the next decade, we will focus on these key industries.  

Retail Brands  
& Technologies

E-Commerce Finance  
& Insurance 

To maintain our role as a 
retail headquarters, services 
and technology leader 

To increase our position as a 
leading logistics location by 
building global capabilities  
and diversifying our employment 
and facilities profile

To increase our aggregate 
wages and diversify  
our finance and  
insurance industries

Objective Objective Objective

MANUFACTURING
RESEARCH & 

DEVELOPMENT



25

Automotive  
& Mobility 

Bio-Medical  
& Health Services

Advanced Computing  
Services

To diversify our portfolio 
of automotive and mobility 
suppliers and increase research 
and development services 

To build a sustainable  
bio-medical and health 
services industry

Objective Objective

To become one of the 
most significant advanced 
computing centers in the 
United States

Objective

LOGISTICS
HQ & BUSINESS  

SERVICES



26

We will continue to aggressively pursue 

economic growth across the Region  

and focus on diversifying our economy  

while increasing and expanding our 

international relationships. 

We will build and enhance the 

entrepreneurial infrastructure across  

the Region and nurture new businesses 

to continually refresh our economy  

and business leadership. 

We will apply energy and resources  

to community development to 

ensure we are prepared, competitive 

and welcoming to new and existing 

businesses, and that our workforce  

is well trained. 

We will succeed if we work together.

WE ARE ONE COLUMBUS.



27



28

THANK 
YOU
     TO OUR PARTNERS,  
     LEADERS AND INVESTORS

State & Regional Partners 
Columbus Chamber
JobsOhio
Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
Ohio Development Services Agency
Rev1 Ventures
Smart Columbus
The Columbus Partnership

Local Partners
Area Development Foundation of Knox County
City of Canal Winchester
City of Columbus
City of Delaware
City of Dublin
City of Gahanna
City of Grandview Heights
City of Grove City
City of Groveport
City of Hilliard
City of London
City of New Albany
City of Pataskala
City of Pickerington
City of Upper Arlington
City of Westerville
City of Whitehall

City of Worthington
Delaware County
Fairfield 33 Development Alliance
Franklin County
Licking County Chamber/Grow Licking County CIC
Logan County Chamber of Commerce
Madison County Future Inc. 
Marion CAN DO!
Mid-Ohio Development Exchange (MODE) 
Morrow County
Pickaway Progress Partnership
Union County-Marysville Economic Development
Village of Obetz
Violet Township

Leadership Circle 
Alliance Data Systems, Inc.
American Electric Power Company, Inc.
AT&T Ohio
Bank of America, National Association
Battelle Memorial Institute
Big Lots, Inc.
Bricker & Eckler LLP
Cardinal Health, Inc.
CBRE
Champion Companies
Chemical Abstracts Service
Columbia Gas of Ohio, Inc.

Columbus REALTORS
Columbus Regional Airport Authority
Columbus State Community College
Continental Office
Corna Kokosing Construction Company
CoverMyMeds LLC
Dawson Resources
Deloitte
Diamond Hill Capital Management, Inc.
Dispatch Media Group
Dispatch Printing Company
Encova Insurance 
Ernst & Young
Fahlgren Mortine
Fifth Third Bank
Grange Insurance Company
Greif
Hollywood Casino Columbus
Honda Marysville
Honda of America Manufacturing, Inc.
Huntington Bank
Ice Miller, LLP
IGS Energy
JPMorgan Chase Bank
Lancaster Colony Corporation
L Brands, Inc.
M/I Homes, Inc.
Mount Carmel Health System

Board of Directors
Pablo A. Vegas, Columbia Gas Group
Eric Phillips, Union County Economic  
Development Partnership
Gregory R. Overmyer, Overmyer Hall  
Associates
Mark Berven, Nationwide
Marilyn Brown, Franklin County Board  
of Commissioners

Corrine Burger, JPMorgan Chase & Co.
Alex R. Fischer, The Columbus Partnership
Andrew J. Ginther, Mayor, City of Columbus
Michael W. Louge, OhioHealth
Robert H. Schottenstein, M/I Homes
Tom Shoupe, Honda of America, Mfg., Inc.
Aaron Pitts, JobsOhio
Mark Smolik, DHL Supply Chain

Raja Sundararajan, AEP Ohio
Dr. David Williams, Ph.D., Sc.D., The Ohio 
State University

Sue Zazon, Huntington National Bank

Matthew Bailey, Squire Patton Boggs

Kenny McDonald, CEcD, One Columbus

Sean Grant, One Columbus



29

Leadership Circle (cont.) 
Nationwide Children’s Hospital
Nationwide Mutual Insurance 
Company
OhioHealth
PNC Bank
Porter Wright Morris & Arthur LLP
Ruscilli Construction Co., Inc.
SOLUTIONS Staffing
Squire Patton Boggs (US) LLP
The Scotts Miracle-Gro Company LLC
The Columbus Foundation
The Ohio State University
The Ohio State University Wexner 
Medical Center 
Turner Construction Company
US Bank
VERTIV
Vorys, Sater, Seymour and Pease LLP
Worthington Industries, Inc.

Investors 
3 Pillar Homes, LLC
Abercrombie & Fitch Co.
Accenture plc
AC Hotel Dublin
Adena Corporation
Advanced Civil Design, Inc.
Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc.
AECOM
Alterra Real Estate Advisors
American Structurepoint Inc.
Anderson Aluminum Corporation
Anderson Concrete Corporation
Anheuser-Busch InBev
Anthem, Inc.
Artina Promotional Products
Ascena Retail Group 
Associated Insurance Agencies, Inc.
Assurex Global Corp.
Atlas Butler
Bailey Cavalieri LLC
BakerHostetler LLP
Barnes & Thornburg LLP
BDO USA LLP
BMO Harris Bank
Brexton LLC
Buckeye Power, Inc.
Bruner Corporation
Builders Exchange of Central Ohio
Building Industry Association of 
Central Ohio
Burgess & Niple, Inc.
Burns McDonnell
Byers, Minton & Associates, LLC
Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP
Cameron Mitchell Restaurants
Capital University
Carlile Patchen & Murphy LLP
Casto
Central Ohio Technical College
Centric Consulting 
Champion City Media
Chemcote Roofing Company
Chemcote, Inc.
Clark, Schaefer, Hackett & Co.
Clear Channel
ClearPath Benefit Advisors LLC

Coldwell Banker King Thompson
Colliers International
Columbus Airport Marriott
Columbus Business First 
Columbus Building Trades Council
Columbus Coach, Ltd.
Columbus Coal & Lime Company 
Columbus College of Art & Design
Columbus Zoo & Aquarium 
Compass Homes, Inc.
Construction One
Crabbe, Brown & James LLP
Crane Group Co.
Crawford Hoying
CTL Engineering, Inc.
Cushman & Wakefield
Danis Building Construction Company
Dave Gill Chevrolet
Dayton Power & Light
Delaware Area Chamber of Commerce
Denier Electric Co., Inc.
Denison University
DesignGroup
DHL Express (USA), Inc.
Dickinson Wright PLLC
DLZ Corporation
Donatos Pizzeria, LLC
DRK and Company
Dublin Building Systems
Dugan & Meyers
Dupler Office
EclipseCorp, LLC
EDGE
Elford, Inc.
EMH&T
Express Employment Professionals
EXXCEL Project Management, LLC
Ferguson Construction Company
First Commonwealth Bank
First Financial Bank
First Merchants Bank
FirstEnergy Corp.
Franklin University
Frost Brown Todd LLC
FST Logistics
G & J Pepsi-Cola Bottlers, Inc.
GBQ Partners LLC
George J. Igel & Co., Inc.
Geotechnical Consultants Inc.
Germain Motor Company
Gilbane Building Company
Hahn Loeser & Parks LLP
Hamilton Capital Management, Inc.
Hamilton Parker Company, LLC
Haughn & Associates 
Heartland Bank
Heath-Newark-Licking County 
Port Authority
Heidelberg Distributing Company
Hilton Columbus Downtown
Hoffmann & Associates  
Insurance Services, Inc.
Holbrook & Manter
Homewood Homes, Inc.
Humble Construction Co.
Hyatt Regency 
Indus Hotels

Information Control Company LLC
InnoSource, Inc.
Interior Supply Inc.
JDS Companies
Jeni’s Splendid Ice Cream
Jezerinac, Geers & Associates, Inc.
Jim Frey Real Estate Advisor
John Gerlach & Company 
Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated
Kabil Associates, Inc.
Kaufman Development
Kegler, Brown, Hill & Ritter Co., L.P.A.
KEMBA Financial Credit Union, Inc.
Kenyon College
KeyBank
Kimball Midwest
Kirk Williams Company
KLH Engineers
Kohr Royer Griffith, Inc.
Kohrman Jackson & Krantz
KPMG LLP
LeadingEDJE
Leftchannel
Lehman Daman Construction 
Services, Inc.
Lifestyle Communities
Limbach
Lindsay Honda/Acura 
LIVE! Technologies
Loeb Electric and Loeb Lighting 
Services
LOTH, Inc.
M&A Architects
Matrix PDM Engineering, Inc.
McGohan Brabender LLC
Mead & Hunt
Medical Mutual of Ohio
Mid-City Electric 
Miles McClellan Construction 
Company
Mills James 
Mindstream Interactive
Montrose Group
Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC
ms consultants
NAI Ohio Equity
Navigator Management Partners, LLC
NBBJ, LLC
NCT Ventures
Norfolk Southern Corporation
ODW Logistics, Inc.
Ohio Dominican University
Ohio University
Ohio Wesleyan University
Oswald Companies
Otterbein University
Overmyer Hall Associates
Park National Bank
Paul J. Ford & Company
PEDCO E&A Services
Peoples Bank
Perez & Morris LLC
Pillar Technology Group, LLC
Plante Moran
POLARIS Centers of Commerce 
Portfolio Creative
Power Connect

Prater Engineering Associates, Inc.
Preferred Living
ProLogis
Pulte Group, Inc.
RED Capital Markets, LLC
Redwood Acquisitions
Renaissance Columbus Downtown 
Resource Development Group
RevLocal, Inc.
Robin Enterprises Company
Rockford Homes
Roetzel & Andress, LPA
Ryan’s Landscaping
Rumpke
S&ME
Safelite Group, Inc.
Sands Decker CPS, LLC.
Schneider Downs & Co., Inc.
Shumaker, Loop & Kendrick, LLP
Sinclair Broadcast Group
Solid Waste Authority of Central Ohio
Solutions Staffing
Sophisticated Systems, Inc.
Spectrum
State Auto Insurance Companies
State Farm Insurance Company
Steiner & Associates
Stewart Title Company
Stonehenge Partners, Inc.
Suburban Steel Supply Company LLC
Superior Beverage Group
Taft Stettinius & Hollister, LLP
Tanaka & Company
Team Fishel Surveying and 
Engineering
Telhio Credit Union
Terracon
The Daimler Group, Inc.
The Energy Cooperative
The Kleingers Group, Inc.
The Kroger Co.
The Memorial Tournament 
The New Albany Company
The Painting Company
The Pizzuti Companies
The Refectory Restaurant & Bistro
The Robert Weiler Company
The Superior Group
The Whiting-Turner Contracting 
Company
thinkCSC
Thomas & Marker Construction
Trillium Staffing
Valley Interior Systems
VanTrust Real Estate LLC
Vermont Energy Investment 
Corporation
Vertiv Corporation
Village Communities
Vista Industrial Packaging
Voya 
Wagenbrenner Development
Wells Fargo Bank
Whiting-Turner Contracting
Wolfe Enterprises 
Woolpert
Zipline Logistics

As of August 2019



columbusregion.com



 

 
 

Memorandum 
 
TO: Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 

Executive Committee 
Officers and Board members 
 

FROM: Kerstin Carr, Ph.D. 
Director, Planning & Sustainability  
 

DATE: October 8, 2021 
 

SUBJECT: Proposed Resolution 12-21: “Authorizing the executive director to enter into 
an agreement for consulting services to develop a regional trail town 
framework” 

 
MORPC, together with its Central Ohio Greenways (COG) partners, has proposed a Trail Town 
Framework project. The purpose of this project is to develop a framework for communities along the 
COG Trail network to identify and/or augment opportunities associated with trail tourism as well as 
general active transportation benefits. 
 
To date, MORPC has secured $35,500 from local communities, trail advocacy groups, and The 
Columbus Foundation to hire a consultant to lead the project. The goal is to select a consultant by the 
end of October to assist with the project for approximately eight months.  
 
Guided by the project steering committee, MORPC staff, and stakeholder input, the consultant will be 
responsible for producing three major components that collectively result in the Central Ohio Trail 
Towns Framework. Part 1 will include a summary of localized case studies and focus on the 
development of local community engagement, visioning, and asset inventory. Part 2 will lay the 
groundwork for a long-term, regionally recognized Trail Town Program. Part 3 will identify short-term 
local community implementation proposals.  
 

This framework will lay the groundwork for the development of a multi-year trail town implementation 
guide. The final deliverable of this framework will be a detailed scope of work that lays out the different 
tasks and partnerships that need to be established to support a long-term trail town program that is 
regionally recognized and fits into the statewide context. This scope of work is expected to be 
completed in years two and three by both regional and local partners, and include topics, such as 
infrastructure, cohesive regional trail town branding, or wayfinding and art installations.  
 
In the short-term, the consultant will outline low-cost implementation strategies for each local 
sponsoring community.  
 
Attachment 12-21 



RESOLUTION 12-21 
 

“Authorizing the executive director to enter into an agreement for consulting services to 
develop a regional trail town framework”  
 
WHEREAS, MORPC and its Central Ohio Greenways partners adopted a regional trail vision in 
2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, the regional trail vision lays forth the goals to further expand and better connect our 
regional trail system to other destinations and communities; and  
 
WHEREAS, The Columbus Foundation, Rails to Trails Conservancy, the Ohio to Erie Trail 
board, and several MORPC communities and partners have raised over $35,000 for this 
initiative to date; and  
 
WHEREAS, a regional trail town framework will provide guidance for all Central Ohio 
communities on economic development around trail tourism, infrastructure amenities, regional 
branding opportunities, and more; and  
 
WHEREAS, MORPC will serve as the project administrator and contract with the consultant(s) 
to oversee and perform this process; now therefore  
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION:  
 
Section 1. That the executive director is hereby authorized to accept funding for and enter 

into an agreement with a qualified consultant or consultants for up to $100,000 to 

conduct the trail town framework and any related outreach and communications. 

Section 2. That the executive director is authorized to approve one or more extensions for 
performance of services under the foregoing agreements and change orders for 
amounts up to the financial authorization levels in the MORPC bylaws without 
further authorization from this Commission.   

 
Section 3. That the executive director is authorized to take such other action and execute 

and deliver such other documents as, acting with the advice of legal counsel, he 
shall deem necessary and appropriate to carry out the intent of this resolution. 

 
Section 4.  That this Commission finds and determines that all formal deliberations and 

actions of this Commission concerning and relating to the adoption of this 
resolution were taken in open meetings of this Commission. 

 
 
 

                                                                                
Karen Angelou, Chair 

      MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
Effective date: October 14, 2021 
Submitted by: Kerstin Carr, Ph.D., Director, Planning & Sustainability 
Prepared by: Kerstin Carr, Ph.D., Director, Planning & Sustainability 
Authority:  Ohio Revised Code Section 713.21 
For action date: October 14, 2021 



 

 
 

Memorandum 
 
TO: Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 

Executive Committee 
Officers and Board Members 
 

FROM: Robert Williams, Director 
Residential Services 
 

DATE: October 8, 2021 
 

SUBJECT: Proposed Resolution 13-21: “To authorize the executive director to enter into 
agreements with Franklin County Public Health for up to $2,000,000 to 
perform lead test and remediation measures to be leveraged with MORPC’s 
Franklin County Home Repair Program.” 

 
MORPC has been providing free residential home repairs and energy efficiency services in Franklin 
County to eligible residents for over 30 years through public-private partnerships utilizing public and 
private funds. 
 
Franklin County Public Health (FCPH) has applied for a lead safe housing fund grant. FCPH serves 
over 475,000 residents within Franklin County, excluding the Cities of Columbus and Worthington. 
Franklin County is the second largest county in the state of Ohio. Within the agency, there are four 
divisions whose work is focused on improving and protecting the health of the community. At over 100 
years old, FCPH has a breadth of experience in community engagement. FCHP would have the Mid-
Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) administer all production elements of the lead safe 
housing fund grant. 
 
This program has provided lead inspection services to FCPH jurisdictions and to the City of Columbus 
Development Department’s Lead Safe Columbus program for over 20 years. The program has also 
provided lead inspection services to a variety of agencies and organizations working to prevent lead 
poisoning in high-risk areas of the county. Over the last 5 years, FCPH staff have conducted over 400 
lead-based paint inspections, risk assessments, and clearances for the Lead Safe Columbus program 
alone. FCPH partnerships with Community Housing Network, Columbus-Franklin County Land Bank, 
Columbus Metropolitan Housing Authority, and Nationwide Children’s Hospital have led to lead safe 
renovation efforts in thousands of housing units throughout the county. 
 
MORPC will identify and serve homeowners, as well as follow up on the identified projects referred 
from FCPH for Lead Safe Renovation production. MORPC staff will review the recommendations from 
FCPH staff for Lead Safe Renovation, and if qualified for the Franklin County Urgent Needs program 
(FCUN), they will also complete an inspection for other health and safety issues and structural issues 



 
 

 
 

 

Proposed Resolution 13-21 
Memo 
Page 2 

that can be addressed with FCUN funding. They will leverage the funding of both programs to 
maximize the use of funding sources 
 
Attachment: Resolution 13-21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 13-21 
 

“To authorize the executive director to enter into agreements with Franklin County Public 
Health for up to $2,000,000 to perform lead test and remediation measures to be lever-
aged with MORPC’s Franklin County Home Repair Program” 
 
WHEREAS, Franklin County Public Health (FCPH) has applied for a lead safe housing fund 
grant; and 
 
WHEREAS, FCPH serves over 475,000 residents within Franklin County, excluding the Cities of 
Columbus and Worthington, with four divisions whose work is focused on improving and protect-
ing the health of the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, FCHP would have the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission (MORPC) admin-
ister all production elements of the lead safe housing fund grant; and 
 
WHEREAS, MORPC has been providing free residential home repairs and energy efficiency 
services in Franklin County to eligible residents for over 30 years through public-private partner-
ships utilizing public and private funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, this program has provided lead inspection services to FCPH jurisdictions and to the 
City of Columbus Development Department’s Lead Safe Columbus program for over 20 years 
and to a variety of agencies and organizations working to prevent lead poisoning in high-risk ar-
eas of the county; and 
 
WHEREAS, over the last five years, FCPH staff have conducted over 400 lead-based paint in-
spections, risk assessments and clearances for the Lead Safe Columbus program alone and 
has partnered with Community Housing Network, Columbus-Franklin County Land Bank, Co-
lumbus Metropolitan Housing Authority, and Nationwide Children’s Hospital for lead safe reno-
vation efforts in thousands of housing units throughout the county; and 
 
WHEREAS, MORPC will identify and serve homeowners, as well as follow up on the identified 
projects referred from FCPH for Lead Safe Renovation production and when practical also com-
plete an inspection for other health and safety issues and structural issues that can be ad-
dressed with Franklin County Urgent Needs (FCUN) program funding to leverage the funding of 
both programs to maximize the use of funding sources; and 
 
WHEREAS, the services performed pursuant to properties identified as part of the FCPH appli-
cation will be under the oversight of MORPC and be implemented through a combination of 
MORPC staff and local businesses that are subcontracted in MORPC’s service area; now there-
fore 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION: 
 
Section 1. That the executive director is hereby authorized to enter into agreements with 

Franklin County Public Health for work described in the forthcoming contracts to 
be awarded for lead risk assessment and remediation repairs in the amount up to 
$2,000,000 and enter into related subcontracts. 

 
Section 2. That the executive director is hereby authorized to approve one or more exten-

sions of time not to exceed 180 days in the aggregate for performance of ser-
vices under the foregoing agreements and contract changes not to exceed 20 



Resolution 13-21 

Page 2 

percent of the total agreement price without further authorization from this Com-
mission. 

 
Section 3. That the executive director is authorized to take such other action and execute 

and deliver such other documents as, acting with the advice of legal counsel, he 
shall deem necessary and appropriate to carry out the intent of this resolution. 

 
Section 4.  That this Commission finds and determines that all formal deliberations and ac-

tions of this Commission concerning and relating to the adoption of this resolu-
tion were taken in open meetings of this Commission. 

 
 
 

                                                                                
Karen Angelou, Chair 

      MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 
Effective date: October 14, 2021 
Submitted by: Robert Williams, Director, Residential Services 
Prepared by: Robert Williams, Director, Residential Services 
Authority:  Ohio Revised Code Section 713.21 
For action date: October 14, 2021 


	Columbus Region CEDS Final Draft 20211014.pdf
	appendices.pdf
	1-Brief_ECD_FINAL.pdf
	Brief_ECD_v2
	Brief_ECD_references

	2-Brief_EmpSmallBiz_FINAL.pdf
	Brief_EmpSmallBiz_v1
	Brief_EmpSmallBiz_References

	3-Brief_Housing_FINAL.pdf
	Brief_Housing_v1
	Brief_Housing_References

	4-Brief_Health_FINAL.pdf
	Brief_Health_FINAL
	Brief_Health_FINAL
	Brief_Health_v1


	Brief_Health_References

	5-Brief_SocialSector_FINAL.pdf
	Brief_SocialSector_FINAL
	Brief_SocialSector_v1

	Brief_SocialSector_References

	6-Brief_Tech_Final.pdf
	Brief_Tech_Final
	Brief_Tech_v1

	Brief_Tech_References

	7-Brief_Transportation_FINAL.pdf
	Brief_Transportation_v1
	Brief_Transportation_References






